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Company Profi le

CNOOC Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”), incorporated 

in Hong Kong Special Administration Region (“Hong Kong”) in August 1999, was listed on the New 

York Stock Exchange (code: CEO) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (code: 00883) 

on 27 and 28 February 2001, respectively. The Company was admitted as a constituent stock of the 

Hang Seng Index in July 2001.

The Group is China’s largest producer of offshore crude oil and natural gas and one of the largest 

independent oil and gas exploration and production companies in the world. The Group mainly 

engages in exploration, development, production and sales of oil and natural gas.

The Group’s core operation areas are Bohai, Western South China Sea, Eastern South China Sea 

and East China Sea in offshore China. In overseas, the Group has oil and gas assets in Asia, Africa, 

North America, South America and Oceania.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group owned net proved reserves of approximately 3.19 billion BOE, 

and its average daily net production was 909,000 BOE (except as otherwise stated, all amounts of 

reserve and production in this report include our interests in equity method investees). The Group 

had 5,377 employees and total assets of approximately RMB384.26 billion.
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Financial Summary*
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Audited)

Year ended 31 December

 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total revenues 90,724 125,977 105,195 180,036 240,944

Total expenses (49,525) (72,112) (64,870) (108,891) (150,337)

(Finance costs)/interest income, net (1,359) 676 103 (504) (511)

Exchange gains, net 1,856 2,551 54 995 637

Share of profi ts of associates 

 and a joint venture 719 374 173 398 567

Investment income 902 476 200 427 1,828

Non-operating (expense)/

 income, net (7) (62) (34) 142 (563)

Profi t before tax 43,310 57,880 40,821 72,603 92,565

Income tax expense (12,052) (13,505) (11,335) (18,193) (22,310)

Profi t for the year 31,258 44,375 29,486 54,410 70,255

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Audited)

As at 31 December

 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Current assets 54,645 63,770 70,871 99,384 131,923

Property, plant and equipment 118,880 138,358 165,320 186,678 220,567

Investments in associates 

 and a joint venture 2,031 1,785 1,727 22,604 22,997

Intangible assets 1,331 1,206 1,230 1,148 1,033

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 1,819 1,550 3,120 8,616 7,365

Other non-current assets 1,087 — — — 379

Total assets 179,793 206,669 242,268 318,430 384,264

Current liabilities (21,401) (18,799) (31,041) (68,423) (70,216)

Non-current liabilities (24,077) (27,632) (37,291) (34,241) (51,192)

Total liabilities (45,478) (46,431) (68,332) (102,664) (121,408)

Equity 134,315 160,238 173,936 215,766 262,856

* After the early adoption of IFRS 10-Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11-Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12-Disclosure of Interest in Other 

Entities, IAS 27 (Revised)-Separated Financial Statements, and IAS 28 (Revised)-Investments in Associate and Joint Venture from January 1, 

2011, certain comparative fi gures have been adjusted to conform with the current period’s presentation.
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 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Production
Net production of crude and liquids (barrels/day)
Bohai 206,748 218,478 253,884 408,946 405,682
Western South China Sea 34,163 56,761 72,605 84,116 72,006
Eastern South China Sea 103,715 122,813 118,395 121,454 120,563
East China Sea 72 85 63 53 339
Overseas 25,735 23,931 64,749 90,419 83,993

Total 370,433 422,068 509,696 704,988 682,583

Net production of natural gas (mmcf/day)
Bohai 70.2 74.5 79.2 120.4 123.0
Western South China Sea 237.3 284.7 275.4 354.0 390.4
Eastern South China Sea 27.4 28.1 50.2 139.5 157.8
East China Sea 8.7 6.8 6.0 5.5 18.7
Overseas 200.7 227 242.7 332.2 345.3

Total 544.3 621.1 653.5 951.6 1,035.2

Total net production (BOE/day)
Bohai 218,447 230,896 267,079 429,008 426,190
Western South China Sea 75,573 106,764 120,745 145,274 138,712
Eastern South China Sea 108,279 127,490 126,765 144,712 146,864
East China Sea 1,518 1,225 1,057 972 3,453
Overseas 61,646 64,353 108,250 148,956 144,511

Total 465,463 530,728 623,896 868,922 859,730

Net production in equity method 
 investees (BOE/day) 3,944 3,142 2,656 34,010 49,270

Total with equity method 
 investees 469,407 533,870 626,552 902,932 909,000

Reserves at year end**
Net proved crude and liquids reserves (million barrels)
Bohai 951.3 933.6 1,028.2 997.7 1,000.4
Western South China Sea 208.9 245.8 258.9 260.0 250.5
Eastern South China Sea 226.6 202.4 190.9 225.0 316.1
East China Sea 17.7 17.8 17.5 18.9 17.7
Overseas 156.7 178.7 172.2 217.5 384.6***

Total 1,561.2 1,578.3 1,667.7 1,719.1 1,969.3

Net proved natural gas reserves (bcf)
Bohai 761.5 789.2 785.4 728.3 596.2
Western South China Sea 2,539.2 2,211.7 2,198.6 2,034.1 2,017.2
Eastern South China Sea 779.4 873.3 843.6 1,254.3 1,222.4
East China Sea 347.1 342.2 338.9 370.6 303.7
Overseas 1,768.9 1,406.9 1,777.5 1,557.6 1,487.9

Total 6,196.1 5,623.3 5,944.0 5,944.9 5,627.4

Total net proved reserves (million BOE)
Bohai 1,078.2 1,065.1 1,159.1 1,119.1 1,099.8
Western South China Sea 632.1 614.4 625.4 599.0 586.7
Eastern South China Sea 356.5 347.9 331.5 434.1 519.9
East China Sea 75.5 74.8 74.0 80.7 68.4
Overseas 451.6 413.2 468.5 477.1 646.3

Total** 2,593.9 2,515.4 2,658.5 2,710.0 2,921.1

Net proved reserves in equity 
 method investees (million BOE) 7.3 5.9 4.4 288.3 269.0

Total with equity method      
 investees 2,601 2,521 2,663 2,998 3,190

Others
Reserve life (years) 15.3 13.0 11.7 8.5 9.3
Reserve life (years, including 
 equity method investees) 15.2 12.9 11.6 9.1 9.6
Reserve replacement ratio (%) 143 60 163 116 167
Reserve replacement ratio (%, 
 including equity method investees) 142 59 162 202 158

Average realized price
Crude oil (US$/barrel) 66.26 89.39 60.61 77.93 109.75
Natural gas (US$/mcf) 3.30 3.83 4.01 4.49 5.15

* After the early adoption of IFRS10 – Consolidated and Financial Statements, IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities, IAS 27 
27 (Revised) – Separated Financial Statements, and IAS 28 (Revised) – Investments in Associate and Joint Venture from January 1, 2011, certain comparative fi gures 
have been adjusted to conform with the current period’s presentation.

** The net proved reserve estimates from 2007 to 2009 contained in this table were made by the independent consultants. Approximately 11% and 25%, respectively, 
of our net proved reserve estimates (excluding the equity method investees) in 2010 and 2011 were made by the Company independently and the remaining were 
made by the independent consultants.

*** Includes 87.4 million barrels of synthetic oil and 8.6 million barrels of bitumen .
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DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCTION

23 March Released the commencement of production of Jinzhou 25-1 oilfi eld.

13 July Announced that ConocoPhillips China Inc. (“COPC”), the operator of Penglai 19-3 

oilfi eld, a PSC oilfi eld in Bohai (“Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld”) informed the Company that the 

production of Platforms B and C had been suspended.

25 July Released that the Bozhong 28-2S oilfi eld group which suspended production due to failure of the 

“Haiyangshiyou 102” single-point mooring system has fully resumed production.

2 September The State Oceanic Administration of the People’s Republic of China (the “SOA”) ordered COPC 

to suspend water injection, drilling and oil and gas production operations at the entire Penglai 

19-3 oilfi eld, recompose the Oceanic Environmental Impact Assessment (the “EIA”) for the 

development of Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld and revise the Overall Development Plan (the “ODP”).

31 December Released the commencement of production of the Lufeng 13-2 adjustment project.

OVERSEAS DEVELOPMENT

31 January Released the acquisition of a 33.3% interest in Chesapeake’s Niobrara shale oil and gas 

project.

30 March Released the acquisition of one-third interests in each of Exploration Areas 1, 2 and 3A 

in Uganda from Tullow Oil plc.

20 July Announced the acquisition of OPTI Canada Inc., an oil sands producer in Canada.

6 November Announced the termination of the acquisition of 60% interest in Pan American Energy LLC held 

by BP by joint venture Bridas Corporation.

22 December Released the completion of the sales of the ONWJ PSC interest in Indonesia to EMPI.
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OTHERS

January Announced the issuance of guaranteed notes in aggregate principal amount of US$2 

billion with maturity terms of 10 and 30 years.

January Awarded the “Most Outstanding Oil and Energy Company in Asia” for the second year 

in a row by Euromoney Magazine.

April Announced that Mr. WANG Yilin was appointed as the Chairman and Non-executive Director 

of the Company; Mr. FU Chengyu resigned as Chairman and Non-executive Director of the 

Company.

June Awarded the “Best Chinese Company” in the “Corporate Governance Asia Recognition Awards” 

by “Corporate Governance Asia” magazine for the third consecutive year.

November Announced that Mr. LI Fanrong was appointed as new CEO of the Company; Mr. YANG Hua 

resigned as CEO and was re-designated from Executive Director to Non-executive Director of the 

Company and remained as the Vice Chairman of the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

CNOOC Limited had already gone through a decade 

of rapid growth and elevated to a new platform when I 

assumed the position of chairman for the Company in April 

2011. The Company’s daily production had surpassed 

900 thousand barrels-of-oil-equivalent (BOE); net proved 

reserve had reached almost 3 billion BOE, with over 80 oil 

and gas fi elds in offshore China and overseas businesses 

spreading over 10 countries. The Company’s market value 

had exceeded US$100 billion. The Company’s corporate 

governance became widely recognized and was crowned 

with “Energy Company of the Year” by Platts Global Energy 

Awards.

During 2011, not only did we strive to accomplish all our 

targets established for the year under the new platform, we 

also drew from our experience in the last decade to devise 

more detailed plans for the Company’s future, mapping out 

a blueprint to realize a “New Era of Excellence”.

I would like to share with you here the key paths of how we 

could arrive at this “New Era of Excellence”.

First, we will continue to establish a foothold for exploration 

and development in offshore China where is the home 

for the Company. In 2011, we have further identified the 

exploration potential in this area and elevated the level 

of importance and our support for exploration work. 

Focusing on breakthroughs for resource replacement, the 

Company has strengthened its regional research activities 

and breakthoughs in the new regions and new exploration 

targets and achieved major progress in the area of the 

lithological traps in Bohai and high-temperature and high-

pressure natural gas in Yinggehai.

With respect to development and production, during the 

year 2011, we overcame various difficulties and reached 

a net oil and gas production of 331.8 million BOE, thus 

sustaining the steady growing trend of our Company’s 

production over years. At the same time, the strategies 

on regional development and comprehensive adjustments 

have been further clarifi ed. This would effectively lower the 

development threshold for oil and gas fi eld in offshore China 

and fully tap the potential for underground reservoir.

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 20116



Chairman’s Statement

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 2011 7

In the future, we will continue to increase our momentum in 

exploration and development; primarily focus on exploration 

in mature areas while expanding exploration in new areas 

and new targets; insist on integrating exploration and 

development and maintain the Company’s oil and gas 

reserve and production growth.

Second, we will promote deepwater exploration and 

development. Oil and gas resources are rich in the 

deepwater South China Sea and will be an important source 

for our Company’s medium and long term development. In 

recent years, our partners have already made a number of 

important discoveries in the area, including Liwan 3-1. We 

have also accumulated rich seismic data, deepened our 

understanding of the geological structure of the area, and 

identifi ed a number of exploration targets.

At present, the Company is already well prepared in 

technical expertise as well as operational and managerial 

capability and will begin deepwater exploration in 2012. The 

Company has also taken part in a number of deepwater 

explorations overseas. In the years to come, deepwater 

will become the important battlefield of the Company’s 

exploration activities, as well as one of the important 

sources for reserve and production growth.

Third, we will continue to develop our overseas business. 

In order to maintain our sustainable growth, we will 

seek development opportunities globally apart from 

establishing a foothold at home, offshore China. In 

2011, we achieved major breakthroughs in our overseas 

business development. On one hand, we have successfully 

established a presence in the resource rich Lake Albert 

Basin in East Africa. On the other hand, we have further 

expanded unconventional oil and gas resources such as 

shale oil and gas and oil sands.

The Company wil l continue to pursue value-driven 

acquisition strategies in order to create more room for 

reserve and production development. While rapidly 

developing our business overseas, we will enhance asset 

management and perfect business management system 

overseas, especially to control the risk on overseas 

business.

Fourth, we will lead our future development through 

technology innovation. World leading technology such as 

offshore heavy oil extraction invented by the Company 

has made significant contribution to the rapid growth of 

the Company. In the future, while pursuing the goal of 

“expanding reserves and increasing production”, we will 

focus on the development of heavy oil and low permeability 

oil and gas fi elds. The Company will develop different types 

of key technologies that are crucial in leading our future 

growth through independent research and absorbing 

innovative ideas.

Fifth, we will advocate on building our corporate culture. 

Health, safety and environmental protection are important 

components of our corporate culture. The Company is 

dedicated to pursuing the harmonious evolution between 

corporation and society and between humans and nature. 

In 2011, the oil spill accidents of Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld drew 

wide attention from the media and the public. As a non-

operating partner, we have actively assisted the operator on 

the follow-up work relating to the accidents in an effort to 

minimize the impact on the oceanic environment. We have 

also taken the opportunity to once again carry on a thorough 

inspection on offshore operation safety so as to protect 

against future similar incidents.

As a responsible company, we will continue to maintain our 

transparency and standard corporate governance with the 

intention to make a timely disclosure and to accept public 

scrutiny in a humble manner.

In 2011, the Company achieved a net profi t of approximately 

RMB70.26 billion, basic earnings per share reached 

RMB1.57, a signifi cant increase of 29.1% year over year. In 

view of the Company’s stable and healthy fi nancial position, 

the Board of Directors (the Board) has recommended a 

year-end dividend of HK$0.28 (tax inclusive) per share for 

the year 2011.

In 2011, Mr. Fu Chengyu resigned as Chairman for the 

Company. Mr. Yang Hua resigned as Chief Executive Offi cer 

and was taken over by Mr. Li Fanrong. I wish to take this 

opportunity to thank Mr. Fu Chengyu as well as the Board 

led by Mr. Fu for the contributions made to the development 

of the Company. I believe that Mr. Yang Hua, as a non-

executive director, will continue to contribute his wisdom 

and experience to the major issues such as strategic 

development of the Company. I also wish to congratulate 

Mr. Li Fanrong.

Currently, the fragile and imbalanced phenomenon of the 

world economic recovery has further surfaced while the 

economy of China has been able to maintain stable and 

relatively rapid growth. On the other hand, international 

oil prices are expected to maintain at a high level in view 

of increasing demand for energy resources. Under such 

circumstances, there is still plenty of room for growth for 

the oil and gas exploration and production industry. The 

blueprint for the Company’s “New Era of Excellence” 

has already been laid out. We will take the opportunity 

to continue to excel and will spare no effort to complete 

all our development targets, and pave the way to a more 

prosperous future for the Company.

WANG Yilin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2012
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Dear shareholders,

In November 2011, I took over the position of Chief 
Executive Offi cer for the Company following the resignation 
of Mr. Yang Hua. Under his leadership, Mr. Yang has built 
up a solid foundation for the future development of the 
Company through the hard work of the management and 
staff which he has successfully mobilized during his tenure. 
I wish to take this opportunity here to express my heartfelt 
respect and gratitude to Mr. Yang.

I have approximately 30 years of experience in the 
development of offshore oi l ,  witnessing the rapid 
development of the Company and have a strong passion for 
the offshore oil industry. It is an honor for me to assume this 
important task as Chief Executive Offi cer for the Company. 
Here, I would like to share with you the Company’s 
performance during the past year as well as our thoughts for 
the development of the Company in future.

STRIVING FOR OUR ANNUAL TARGETS

In 2011, the Company’s development generally went 
smoothly but was confronted by difficulties that were 
unprecedented in the past. Under the circumstances, we 
continued to strive forward with meticulous planning and 
strengthened management, and achieved a number of 
breakthroughs in exploration, development and overseas 
expansion. During this period, I have been deeply impressed 
by the dedicated performance of the entire staff of the 
Company, for which I am very proud of.

In concrete terms, the Company has achieved satisfactory 
results on many fronts through our unreserved efforts in 
spearheading the Company from a strong foundation.

First, exploration results: the Company continued to 
broaden its thoughts and increase its investment on 
exploration activities, and achieved record levels of 
exploration work including wildcats drilling and seismic data 
collection. There were 16 new discoveries and the reserve 
replacement ratio reached 158%. Kenli 9-1 is a mid-sized 
discovery made in the mature area. The discoveries of 
lithologic traps in Qinhuangdao 33-2 and Qinghuangdao 
33-3, has led to a change in the direction of exploration 
in the Bohai area which was predominated by the search 
of structural traps, and has broadened the scope of our 
exploration territory. The successful appraisal of Dongfang 
13-1 in Western South China Seas is also expected to open 
a new chapter for natural gas exploration in the area.

Deepwater exploration has also progressed in an orderly 
manner. We have strengthened our seismic data collection 
in the deepwater South China Sea, paving the way for 
deepwater exploration in 2012. We will strive to make 
the deepwater exploration a smooth operation and lay 
a foundation for the long term growth of the Company. 
In overseas, we have taken part in the drilling of several 
deepwater exploration wells in the Gulf of Mexico of the 
United States.

Second, development and production: In 2011, the 
Company proactively dealt with various challenges. Through 
thorough researching on reservoirs, refi ning water fl ooding, 
and enhancing the hourly production rate from oil and gas 
fields, the Company has been able to maintain a steady 
growth of oil and gas production from the producing 
fields. Realizing a net production of 331.8 million BOE, 
the Company accomplished its post-adjustment annual 
production target for the year.

In the Company’s 2010 annual report, we shared with 
our shareholders the two “new development policies,” the 
comprehensive adjustments and the regional development. 
For the comprehensive adjustments, we have focused on 
moving ahead with the Lufeng 13-2 adjustment project. 
The project commenced production at the end of 2011 
with a daily peak production volume of 33 thousand BOE. 
We are very pleased with the results of this project as it 
represents a solid proof of the Company’s success on this 
new mechanism. We are also working with full steam on 
the regional development model, with Weizhou 6-9/6-10 oil 
fi elds expected to begin production in 2012.

Third, overseas development: in 2011, it was a good sign 
that the Company’s conventional and unconventional 
resources were moving ahead side by side in the course of 
its overseas development. On one hand, the Company has 
successfully extended to the core yet to be developed basin 
in East Africa, the Lake Albert Basin, through the acquisition 
of Tullow’s one-third interest in the exploration areas 1, 2 
and 3A in Uganda. On the other hand, the Company has 
further expanded its business in the shale oil and gas sector 
in the United States, and expanded its investment in the oil 
sands business in Canada through the acquisition of OPTI 
Canada Inc. to bolster the development of the Company’s 
unconventional resource allocation.

Li Fanrong 

Chief Executive Offi cer
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In the future, the Company will maintain a foothold in 
offshore China, and will continue to develop its overseas 
assets and expand the scope for long term development 
on the basis of meeting its targets on resources, risk and 
return on investment. At the same time, the Company will 
actively manage its overseas business and streamline its 
overseas asset portfolio in order to create better value for its 
shareholders.

Fourth, financial performance: Benefiting from higher 
realized oil and gas prices, the Company achieved a net 
profit of approximately RMB70.26 billion in 2011, with 
a basic earnings per share of RMB1.57, representing a 
signifi cant increase of 29.1% year over year.

STRENGTHENING THE FOUNDATION FOR 
GROWTH

Health, safety and environmental protection have always 
been the foundation for the Company’s operation, 
underlying the Company’s management philosophy. Over 
the years, we have maintained a good track record in the 
areas of safety and environmental protection. The oil spill 
accidents of Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld and malfunction of several 
other facilities have rung alarms for us. While raising the 
awareness of safety and environment protection among our 
staff, we will continue to emphasize the following areas:

1. To further improve the system for production 
safety management and raise the level of safety 
management;

2. To strengthen the comprehensive facility management 
system and raise the level of intrinsic safety;

3.  To specify the system to detect and eliminate risk and 
enhance the risk management ability;

4. To further improve oil spill prevention and response 
capability.

PLANNING FOR OUR MEDIUM TO LONG TERM 
DEVELOPMENT

In early 2011, the Company established its production target 
for the years 2011 to 2015 with a compound annual growth 
rate of 6-10%. To achieve this, we will continue to establish 
a foothold in offshore China and develop our overseas 
business in order to protect the medium and long term 
sustainable growth of the Company.

First,  cont inue to strengthen our explorat ion and 
development work in offshore China, where oil and natural 
gas resources are relatively rich and the level of exploration 
is comparably low. We will strengthen our research of the 
geological structure, and will move on with core areas, new 
areas and new exploration targets as well as deep water 
exploration to provide resource base for the Company’s 
development. We will follow the thoughts along regional 
development and comprehensive adjustments, carefully 
organize our operation resources and plan our development 
of new oil and gas fields. Weizhou 6-9/6-10, which is 
planned to commence production in 2012, represents 
one of the successful results of our regional development 
approach. In 2012 and the years to come, a number of 
comprehensive adjustments projects, including Panyu 
4-2/5-1 adjustment, Suizhong 36-1 adjustment Phase II, 
Jinzhou 9-3 adjustment and Qinhuangdao 32-6 adjustment 

will gradually commence production, and will become one of 
the important sources for the Company’s future production 
growth.

Apart from this, we will follow the guideline of “integration of 
exploration and development” to organize our thoughts, and 
proceed with rolling exploration and rolling development to 
fully utilize the benefi ts of the asset allocation along offshore 
China to fully utilize the resource potential.

Second, to control the risk of overseas operation: over the 
past few years, the rapid development of the Company’s 
overseas business has brought along a few challenges. On 
one hand, we will enhance the control and reliability of our 
overseas business through the selection of experienced 
local partners while on the other hand, we will continue 
to build up our overseas professional team as well as the 
management system. At the same time, we will move ahead 
carefully and retreat at appropriate times in an effort to 
continue to streamline our overseas assets.

Third, to strengthen our cost control: in recent years, the 
increasingly stringent fiscal policies together with rising 
infl ation have led to a high cost for the industry. In 2011, 
the Company’s all-in cost reached US$30.58 per BOE, 
an increase of 25.0% year over year. We will continue to 
consider economic efficiency as our primary goal in the 
evaluation of our investment projects, to streamline our 
management in order to increase productivity, and to 
encourage savings in order to control cost.

Fourth, to maintain and strengthen corporate governance: 
both the size and the asset allocation of the Company 
have experienced substantial changes following a decade 
of rapid development. We will insist on and strengthen 
corporate governance, as well as our internal control 
system and risk management on the basis of safety and 
environmental protection, in order to maintain control of our 
operational risk.

Looking forward to 2012, we will continue to strengthen 
our exploration work, to enhance our efforts to achieve 
breakthroughs in oil and gas exploration, to carefully 
organize the development and production of oil and gas 
fields, and to maintain a stable oil and gas production 
growth. At the same time, we will strive to control the cost 
under the cost rising environment.

The Company has excel led to a new plat form of 
development. We are facing new challenges and at the 
same time ample room for development. We will follow 
the guidelines of the Company’s blueprint for “New Era of 
Excellence” to strive forward in order to create better values 
for our shareholders and to make a greater contribution to 
the community.

Li Fanrong
Chief Executive Offi cer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2012
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OVERVIEW

CNOOC Limited is an upstream company specializing in 
the exploration, development and production of oil and 
natural gas. It is the dominant oil and natural gas producer 
in offshore China and, in terms of reserves and production, 
it is also one of the largest independent oil and natural gas 
exploration and production companies in the world. As of 
the end of 2011, the Company had net proved reserves of 

3.19 billion BOE, including approximately 0.27 billion BOE 
under our equity method investees. In 2011, the Company 
had a total net oil and gas production of 909,000 BOE per 
day, including 49,270 BOE per day under our equity method 
investees.

The following table sets forth the Company’s net production, 
net proved reserves and major exploration areas acreage as 
of 31 December 2011.

 2011 Net Production Net Proved Reserves as of 31 December 2011 Major 
   Exploration 
 Subtotal Oil Gas Subtotal Oil Gas Areas Acreage 
 (BOE/day) (Bbls/day) (Mmcf/day) (Mmboe) (Mmbbls) (bcf) (Net) (km2)

Offshore China

Bohai 426,190 405,682 123.0 1,099.8 1,000.4 596.2 42,062

Western South China Sea 138,712 72,006 390.4 586.7 250.5 2,017.2 73,388
       
Eastern South China Sea 146,864 120,563 157.8 519.9 316.1 1,222.4 55,424
       
East China Sea 3,453 339 18.7 68.4 17.7 303.7 85,413
       
Subtotal 715,219 598,590 689.9 2,274.8 1,584.7 4,139.5 256,287

       
Overseas       

       
Asia 53,872 17,427 218.7 223.2 81.8 848.7 55,500
       
Oceania 25,195 5,382 101.1 110.7 19.0 467.8 —
       
Africa 56,348 56,348 — 133.7 133.7 — 2,947
       
North America 9,096 4,836 25.6 178.7 150.1* 171.4 3,429
       
Subtotal 144,511 83,993 345.3 646.3 384.6 1,487.9 61,876

       
Total 859,730 682,582 1,035.2 2,921.1 1,969.3 5,627.4 318,163

       
Equity method        

 investees 49,270 25,704 136.5 269.0 196.3 422.0 —

       
Total 909,000 708,286 1,171.7 3,190.1 2,165.6 6,049.4 —

* Includes 87.4 million barrels of synthetic oil and 8.6 million barrels of bitumen.

EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND 
PRODUCTION

Summary
In offshore China, the Company engages in oil and 
natural gas exploration, development and production in 
Bohai, Western South China Sea, Eastern South China 
Sea and East China Sea, either independently or through 
cooperation with foreign partners by production sharing 
contracts (“PSCs”). As of the end of 2011, approximately 
71.4% of the Company’s net proved reserves and 
approximately 78.9% of its production were located in 
offshore China.

For independent operations, in recent years, the Company 
has been adding more reserves and production mainly 
through independent exploration and development in 
offshore China. As of the end of 2011, approximately 77.7% 
of the Company’s net proved reserves and approximately 

71.8% of its production in offshore China were derived from 
the independent projects.

For PSC operat ions, China Nat ional  Offshore Oi l 
Corporation (“CNOOC”), the Company’s controll ing 
shareholder, has the exclusive right to explore and develop 
oil and natural gas in offshore China with foreign partners 
through PSCs. CNOOC has transferred to the Company all 
its rights and obligations under all the PSCs (except those 
relating to its administrative functions), including new PSCs 
that will be signed in the future. As of the end of 2011, the 
Company had 24 PSCs with 22 partners in force.

Overseas, the Company holds interests in oil and natural 
gas blocks in Indonesia, Iraq, Australia, Nigeria, Uganda, 
Argentina, the U.S., Canada and various other countries. As 
of December 31, 2011, the Company’s overseas net proved 
reserves and net production accounted for approximately 
28.6% and 21.1%, respectively, of the Company’s total net 
proved reserves and total net production.
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Exploration
As the Company’s leading business, the Company has 
considered exploration work as top priority over the years. 
In 2011, the Company continued its efforts in exploration 
and achieved a high record in the amount of investments in 
exploration, drilling and 3D seismic data collection work. The 
Company’s exploration work has produced fruitful results 
as we did in recent years, with a reserve replacement ratio 
reaching 158%.

In 2011, the Company’s independent exploration made an 
aggregate of 13 new discoveries and successfully appraised 
18 oil and gas structures in offshore China, achieving a 
success rate of 51-71%. The Company’s PSC partners’ 
exploration efforts resulted in one successfully appraised 
oil and gas structure, Liuhua 29-1. Overseas, the Company 
also achieved remarkable results of 3 new discoveries and 2 
successfully appraised oil and gas structures.

To ensure resource replacement, the Company conducted 
exploration in core areas while continuing to explore new 
areas and new exploration targets. Rich in oil and gas 
resources, the core areas are the major fi elds for exploration 
work. Benefi ting from in-depth knowledge in the geological 
conditions and reservoir formation mechanism, the 
Company has recorded a higher success rate in exploration 
in these areas which are the major sources for its new 
reserves. During the year of 2011, the new discoveries 
made in core areas mainly included Kenli 9-1, Bozhong 34-3 
and Bozhong 34-4 in Bohai as well as Weizhou 12-1S and 
Weizhou 11-7N in Western South China Sea.

Regarding exploration activities in new areas and new 
exploration targets, the Company strengthened regional 
research and basic research activities during the year 
of 2011. We focused on certain key technologies, and 
achieved major breakthroughs in new areas such as shallow 
lithologic traps with large coverage and high-temperature 
and high-pressure natural gas.

First, drilling works were carried out in Bohai around 
the Shijiutuo uplift area and lithologic trap structures 
with successful appraisals for Qinhuangdao 33-2 and 
Qinhuangdao 33-3, further expanded the scale of 
this type of oil and gas reservoirs. Through regional 
development, the area is expected to grow into a large 
oilfi eld group and become an important source of the 
Company’s future production growth.

This is where the Company achieved a major 
breakthrough in the exploration of lithologic traps, 
which changed the direction of the exploration work in 
Bohai, which used to emphasize on structural traps, 
and expanded the scope of the exploration area in 
Bohai.

Secondly, the drilling works of Panyu 10-4W oil and 
gas structures in Eastern South China Sea revealed 
signifi cant potential from the shallow formation of the 
Pearl River Basin. Previous exploration works in the 
Pearl River Mouth Basin were primarily concentrated 
on deep formation. Since shallow oil reservoir 
requires lower drilling costs and has higher economic 
effi ciency, it may become a new breakthrough in the 
development of the Pearl River Mouth Basin.

Thirdly, the Dongfang 13-1 middle formation of 
Yinggehai Basin in Western South China Sea was 
successfully appraised and resulted in higher trial 
production. The breakthrough in high-temperature 
and high-pressure natural gas, in particular, is 
expected to bring a new chapter of exploration of 
natural gas to the area.

Fourthly, fracturing tests were conducted successfully 
in the gas reservoir which has low porosity and 
permeability in East China Sea, creating opportunities 
for oil and gas reservoirs with low porosity and 
permeability by bringing a new age of exploration to 
the area.

These achievements have demonstrated the potentials in 
offshore China and serve as examples for future exploration 
work in the area. After getting a better understanding of 
the geological structure in offshore China, the Company 
expects the area to continue to be a major source for the 
Company’s sustainable growth in the future.

In addition, the Company made its first commercial 
discovery, Wushi 17-2 of Wushi sag, in Western South 
China Sea, and the area may be developed into a new oil 
zone. The Company’s successful discovery and appraisal 
of the oil and gas structures of Enping 23-1 resulted in 
expansion of Enping sag in Eastern South China Sea. In the 
deepwater area of the Qiongdongnan Basin, the Company’s 
partner BG, carried out further appraisals and researches in 
the area subsequent to the Lingshui 22-1-1 well in 2010.

In 2011, the Company’s major exploratory activities are shown in the table below:

 Exploration Wells New Discoveries Successful Appraisal Wells Seismic Data
 Independent PSC 2D 3D

            

 Wildcat Appraisal Wildcat Appraisal Independent PSC Independent PSC Independent PSC Independent PSC

Offshore China
Bohai 19 20 — — 4 — 16 — — — 6,595 —

Eastern South China Sea 11 3 6 2 2 — 2 2 6,887 3,284 3,431 1,548

Western South China Sea 4 20 3 — 3 — 10 — 5,318 — 4,689 6,092

East China Sea 4 1 — — 4 — 1 — 6,709 — 1,107 —

Subtotal 38 44 9 2 13 — 29 2 18,914 3,284 15,822 7,640

Overseas — — 11 3 — 3 — 2 — 1,362 — 1,128

Total 38 44 20 5 13 3 29 4 18,914 4,646 15,822 8,768
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Engineering Construction, Development and 
Production
The Company had a heavy-loaded engineering construction 
program with over 10 new projects under construction in 
2011. The Company has carefully allocated its operational 
resources and created synergy among various parties to 
ensure smooth progress of the projects.

Currently, the Company’s major projects expected to 
commence production in 2012 include Panyu 4-2/5-
1 adjustment project, Weizhou 6-9/6-10, Yacheng 13-4 
and Liuhua 4-1. The Company’s other new projects under 
construction, including Suizhong 36-1 phase II adjustment 
and Kenli 3-2 regional development, are expected to 
commence production after 2012 and would support the 
Company’s medium to long term production growth.

In 2011, the Company faced unprecedented challenges in 
development and production. Unfavourable factors, such 
as the suspension of Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld, the failure of the 
“Haiyangshiyou 102” single-point mooring system and the 
impact of typhoons, which occurred more frequently in 2011 
than in the previous years, have created signifi cant pressure 
on the Company’s production. Under such circumstances, 
the Company has been focusing on the following areas to 
offset the production shortfall and accomplished its adjusted 
annual production target:

First, fully maximizing the production capacity of 
producing oil and gas fi elds mainly through: keeping 
the decline rate of matured oilfi elds at a low level by 
tracking and conducting research on oil reservoirs 
as well as applying measures such as infill drilling 
and stratifi ed water injection accordingly; appointing 
dai ly management and oi l wel ls management 
and increasing production time efficiency; and 
strengthening communication to secure the gas 
demand of downstream users and the normal 
production of gas fi elds;

Secondly, managing the production of new projects. 
The Company had two new projects in offshore China 
that successfully commenced production in 2011, 
namely Jinzhou 25-1 and Lufeng 13-2 adjustment 
project. Overseas, the Company’s newly acquired 
Eagle Ford shale oil and gas project in the U.S. has 
contributed to the Company’s production output;

Thirdly, actively responding to emergencies and 
col laborat ing with var ious part ies to resume 
production as soon as possible. Given the failure of 
the “Haiyangshiyou 102” single-point mooring system, 
the Company overcame difficulties in technology, 
resources and construction through detai led 
rectifi cation programs to promptly resume production 
of the oilfi eld; and

Fourthly, minimizing the impact of typhoons. Although 
the oil and gas fi elds of the Company were repeatedly 
impacted by typhoons, the Company’s proactive 
warning systems and proper deployment of resources 
ensured the safety of the Company’s oil and gas fi elds 
and prevented the typhoons from causing severe 
harms to the oil and gas fi elds affected.

In 2011, the Company’s net oil and gas production 
amounted to 331.8 million BOE. The Company’s growth in 
production has remained steady in recent years.

In 2011, the Company further identified its strategies for 
future development and planned to focus on the following 
key tasks in the next few years:

First, integrating resources so that oil and gas fi elds 
can commence production on schedule. From 
2012 to 2015, over 30 new oil and gas fields of 
the Company in offshore China are expected to 
commence production successfully. To ensure timely 
commencement of the new projects, the Company 
strives to coordinate its resources more effectively and 
to formulate plans for procuring equipment in advance 
in order to ensure steady progress of the projects;

Secondly, continuing the comprehensive adjustment 
works on large-scale development of producing oil 
and gas fi elds based on oil reservoir research results. 
Over the next few years, with the commencement of 
production of the Suizhong 36-1 adjustment phase 
II, Jinzhou 9-3 adjustment and Qinhuangdao 32-6 
adjustment projects, comprehensive adjustment 
projects are expected to become a major driving force 
for the Company’s future production growth;

Thirdly, capitalizing on the Company’s concentrated 
distribution of oil and gas fields in offshore China 
to promote development in the area so as to share 
production facilities and enhance economic effi ciency. 
In 2012, the Weizhou 6-9/6-10 project is expected 
to commence production and become an example 
to illustrate the success of the Company’s regional 
development in the area; and

Fourthly, researching and developing technology 
to improve recovery factor of producing oilfields 
through application of heavy oil thermal production 
and fracturing technology on oilfields with low 
permeability;

Fifthly, strengthening the management of overseas 
projects and actively coordinating with local partners 
to ensure the safety and stable production of each 
project.

The Company will strive to achieve a compound annual 
growth rate of 6-10% for 2011-2015 and lay a solid 
foundation for its long-term growth.

Overseas Development
Having secured a foothold in offshore China, the Company 
has been exploring opportunities overseas by considering 
resources, returns and risks based on a value-driven 
acquisition strategy.

In recent years, the Company has made significant 
progress in overseas development and raised its degree of 
internationalization to a new high level. From a geographic 
perspective, the Company’s operations are located in 
Asia, Africa, Oceania, North America and South America; 
as for the Company’s resource types, it has shifted from 
the traditional oil and gas resources to unconventional oil 
and gas resources such as shale oil and gas as well as 
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oil sands. Overseas reserves, production and oil and gas 
sales revenue account for 28.6%, 21.1% and 13.7% of the 
Company’s total reserves, production and oil and gas sales 
revenue, respectively, thereby becoming an integral part of 
the Company’s assets.

To address the needs for  i ts  overseas bus iness 
development, the Company focused on strengthening 
overseas operat ion management ,  improv ing the 
management structure and increasing human resources 
in 2011, so as to strengthen the management of overseas 
assets.

In 2011, the Company’s overseas development achieved 
the following:

First, expansion of the shale oil and gas business 
in the U.S. Subsequent to the acquisition of the 
Eagle Ford project in the U.S. in 2010, the Company 
purchased a 33.3% undivided interest in the Niobrara 
project from Chesapeake Energy Corporation at a 
total consideration of US$1.267 billion. The block has 
800,000 net acres.

Secondly, expansion of the oil sands business 
in Canada. In November 2011, the Company 
completed the deal of acquiring OPTI Canada Inc. 
at a consideration of approximately US$2.1 billion. 
This transaction enables the Company to expand its 
investment in oil sands which has abundant resource. 
Through cooperation with the operator Nexen, the 
Company is able to explore the growth potential of the 
Long Lake project and three other oil sands leases, 
which contributes to the reserves and production of 
the Company in mid to long term.

Thirdly, tapping into the Alberta Basin, a major basin 
to be developed in East Africa. In March 2011, the 
Company entered into agreements with Tullow Oil plc 
to acquire a one-third interest in each of Exploration 
Areas 1, 2 and 3A in Uganda for approximately 
US$1.467 billion in cash. The project is expected to 
become one of Africa’s largest onshore oil and gas 
development projects in recent years. The deal was 
closed in February 2012.

In addition, the Company announced in December 
2011 the sale of CNOOC ONWJ Ltd., a subsidiary 
of the Company, for approximately US$212 million 
to EMP International (BVI) Limited. CNOOC ONWJ 
Ltd. holds a 36.72% working interest in the Offshore 
Northwest Java PSC in Indonesia.

In sum, the Company has been actively managing its 
overseas assets as part of its overseas development. 
Through flexible strategy, the Company balances and 
optimizes overseas asset portfolio, having taken the 
resources, returns and risks into consideration, resulting in a 
more balanced distribution of overseas assets with reserves 
and production continuing to increase. Meanwhile, the 
Company has been taping into the unconventional oil and 
gas industry of shale oil and gas as well as oil sands on an 
appropriate scale, which provides a basis of rich resource 
to sustain future development and helps the Company 

seize growth opportunities in the future and enhance its 
development potential.

REGIONAL OVERVIEW

OFFSHORE CHINA

Bohai
Bohai is the most important crude oil producing area for the 
Company. The crude oil produced in this region is mainly 
heavy oil. As of the end of 2011, the reserve and daily 
production volume in Bohai were 1,099.8 million BOE and 
426,190 BOE/day, respectively, representing approximately 
34.5% and 46.9%, respectively, of the Company’s total 
reserves and daily production. The operation area in Bohai is 
mainly shallow water with a depth of 10 to 30 meters.

Bohai is rich in oil and gas resources and has been one 
of the Company’s primary areas for exploration and 
development. In recent years, the Company has made 
several commercial discoveries in this region every year. 
In 2011, the Company made four successful discoveries 
in Bohai, namely Qinhuangdao 33-2, Qinhuangdao 33-
3, Bozhong 34-3 and Kenli 9-1, all being independent 
new oil discoveries. In addition, 10 oil and gas structures 
were successfully appraised, namely Qinhuangdao 33-1 
S, Qinhuangdao 33-2, Qinhuangdao 33-3, Kenli 10-1, 
Bozhong 34-3, Bozhong 34-4, Bozhong 2-1, Jinzhou 20-
5, Kenli 6-4 and Qikou 18-2. In 2011, the Company’s 
signifi cant accomplishments in Bohai included:

First, progress has been made in the exploration of 
lithologic traps surrounding the Shijiutuo uplift area. 
After successfully discovering Qinhuangdao 33-
1S in 2010, the Company drilled two oil and gas 
structures at shallow formation, namely Qinhuangdao 
33-2 and Qinhuangdao 33-3. These discoveries are 
all lithologic traps, bringing the exploration in Bohai, 
which had been focusing on structural traps originally, 
into a new phase. The area may be developed into a 
new large-scale oilfield group and become another 
major hotspot for the Company’s future growth in 
production.

Secondly, the exploration of the slopes to the south of 
the Yellow River Mouth sag was successful with a new 
discovery of Kenli 9-1.

Thirdly, exploration in proximity to the oilfi eld of Yellow 
River Mouth sag achieved satisfactory results with a 
new discovery of Bozhong 34-3.

Benefiting from these new discoveries and successful 
appraisals coupled with the increase in reserves from 
rolling exploration and development of existing oil and gas 
fields, Bohai’s reserve replacement ratio of crude oil was 
101.8%, which demonstrates the potential of Bohai as the 
Company’s core exploration area.

On top of overcoming difficulties including inexorable 
sea ice at the beginning of the year, malfunction of the 
“Haiyangshiyou 102” single-point mooring system, oilfield 
suspension across the whole area due to damaging 
typhoon “Plum” in the second half of the year, and 
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shutdown of the Penglai 19-3 oilfield, the Company’s 
production in Bohai remained steady, which was mainly 
attributable to:

First, the Company explored the potential of 
producing oil and gas fields to ensure a steady 
production. As for the Suizhong 36-1 oilfield, the 
Company continued the implementation of other 
adjustment measures such as infi ll drilling to sustain 
the production growth of this largest independent 
oilfi eld in offshore China. By optimizing water injection 
and increasing the production time efficiency, the 
Company maintained steady production at Jinzhou 
25-1S and Bozhong 34-1 oilfi elds.

Secondly, through careful integration and coordination 
of resources, the Company’s new oilfields and 
new development wells continued to commence 
production. New development wells at Jinzhou 25-
1S oilfield commenced production successfully 
with increased production; Jinzhou 25-1 oilfield 
commenced production on time and contributed to its 
production growth.

Western South China Sea
Western South China Sea is one of the most important 
natural gas producing areas for the Company. Currently, the 
typical water depth of the Company’s operation area in this 
region ranges from 40 to 120 meters. As of the end of 2011, 
the reserves and daily production volume in Western South 
China Sea reached 586.7 million BOE and 138,712 BOE/
day, respectively, representing approximately 18.4% and 
15.3%, respectively, of the Company’s total reserves and 
daily production.

In 2011, the Company had 3 independent new discoveries 
in Western South China Sea, including Weizhou 12-1S, 
Weizhou 11-7N and Wushi 17-2 and successfully appraised 
5 oil and gas structures.

For the Yinggehai Basin, the Company successfully 
appraised Dongfang 13-1 middle formation, which had been 
discovered in 2010, assuring the exploration of natural gas 
under the high temperature and high pressure environment 
of Yinggehai, which indicates the existence of large-scale 
gas field under the high temperature and high pressure 
condition in Yinggehai. The successful appraisal is expected 

to bring the exploration of natural gas in the Yinggehai Basin 
into a new phase.

In addition, the discovery of Wushi 17-2 demonstrated 
the exploration potential of east Wushi, which may be 
developed into a new oil zone.

As for development and production, typhoons and the 
natural decline in certain oil and gas fields have affected 
the Company’s production, resulting in a slight decrease in 
the annual production volume. In this case, the Company 
continued to implement streamlined management, 
optimization and improved the production processes of 
all oil and gas fields. Meanwhile, the Company reduced 
the impact of typhoons and maintenance downtime on its 
production activities through detailed planning. In addition, 
through the key offshore facility checks and the integrated 
management of marine operations, the Company ensured 
the normal operation of equipment and maintain high 
production time effi ciency.

During the development of the Yacheng 13-4 gas field, 
the Company applied a series of deepwater gas field 
development techniques designed for deepwater oil 
and gas fields by trials and practice and accumulated 
technologies and experience that are suitable for future 
deepwater development.

Eastern South China Sea
Eastern South China Sea is one of the Company’s most 
important crude oil producing areas. Currently, the typical 
water depth of the Company’s operation area in this region 
ranges from 100 to 300 meters. The crude oil produced is 
mostly of light to medium gravity. As of the end of 2011, 
the reserves and daily production volume in Eastern South 
China Sea reached 519.9 million BOE and 146,864 BOE/
day, respectively, representing approximately 16.3% and 
16.2%, respectively, of the Company’s total reserves and 
daily production.

In 2011, the Company continued to achieve positive results 
from the rolling exploratory activities in Eastern South 
China Sea with two new independent discoveries, namely 
Enping 23-1 and Enping 23-2. In addition, the Company 
successfully appraised two oil and gas structures, namely 
Liuhua 16-2 and Enping 23-1. These new discoveries and 
successful appraisals increased the reserves in Enping area 
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and enhanced the economic benefi ts of development in the 
area.

In addition, the oil and gas structures of Panyu 10-4W drilled 
in Eastern South China Sea unveiled that the discovery of 
Yuehai shallow oil formation may be a breakthrough for 
development in the Pearl River Mouth Basin, which may 
bring the oil exploration in Eastern South China Sea into a 
new phase.

In 2011, the Company overcame adverse conditions such 
as typhoons. The Company’s net oil and gas production 
derived from Eastern South China Sea rose steadily, which 
was attributable to the Company’s active implementation 
of infill drilling in mature oilfields. The full deployment 
of enhanced recovery measures helped to increase 
production. For example, investment in infi ll drilling of Xijiang 
30-2 oilfi eld has increased the production of the oilfi eld. In 
addition, increased gas supply of the Panyu 30-1 gas fi eld to 
Zhuhai terminal has also contributed to production growth.

Lufeng 13-2 adjustment project commenced production 
at the end of 2011 and its peak production is expected to 
reach 33,000 barrels per day. In addition, the Company 
actively engaged in the development of Panyu 4-2/5-
1 adjustment project, which is expected to commence 
production in 2012. Demonstrating the Company’s large-
scale comprehensive adjustment for producing oil and 
gas fields, these comprehensive adjustment projects 
commenced production successfully and are expected to 
become a major driver for future growth in production.

In addition, the Company will actively coordinate with its 
partners to promote the development and construction of 
the fi rst large-scale deepwater natural gas project Liwan 3-1 
in offshore China.

East China Sea
East China Sea is the least explored area among the 
Company’s four principal producing regions in offshore 
China. The typical water depth of the Company’s operation 
area in this region is approximately 90 meters. As of the end 
of 2011, approximately 2.2% of the Company’s reserves 
and 0.6% of the Company’s production were derived from 
East China Sea.

In 2011, the Company continued to focus on natural gas 
exploration surrounding the core areas, having four new 
discoveries and establishing a foundation for future growth 
in production. The Company has also conducted fracturing 
test of exploration wells for gas-bearing sands with low 
porosity and permeability, which achieved positive results 
and laid a foundation for the exploration of oil and gas 
reservoirs with low porosity and permeability, bringing the 
exploration of the area into a new phase.

In 2011, with increasing gas delivery quantity of downstream 
users, the Company’s production volume in East China Sea 
increased steadily.

OVERSEAS

Asia
Asia was the fi rst overseas region that the Company entered 
into and has become one of its major overseas oil and gas 

producing areas. Currently, the Company holds oil and gas 
assets in Asia mainly in Indonesia and Iraq. As of the end 
of 2011, the reserves and daily production volume derived 
from Asia (excluding China) reached 223.2 million BOE and 
53,872 BOE/day, respectively, representing approximately 
7.0% and 5.9%, respectively, of the Company’s total 
reserves and daily production.

Indonesia
In Indonesia, the Company mainly owns interests in the 
following contracts: the SES PSC, the Malacca Strait 
PSC and Poleng Technical Assistance Contract. Among 
these, the Company is the operator of the SES block and 
owns approximately 65.54% of its interests. All contracts 
mentioned above are currently at the production stage.

The Company also owns approximately 13.90% interests 
in the Tangguh LNG Project in Indonesia. Located in West 
Papua and comprising three blocks, namely Berau, Muturi 
and Wiriagar, this project commenced production in 2009.

In addition, the Company owns interests in the following 
PSCs: the South East Palung Aru PSC, the Batanghari PSC 
and the Madura Strait PSC.

In May 2011, the West Madura PSC expired and the 
Company had not entered into the new PSCs thereafter.

In December 2011, the Company announced the sale of 
CNOOC ONWJ Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, for 
approximately US$212 million to EMP International (BVI) 
Limited, which has a 36.7205% working interest in Offshore 
Northwest Java PSC in Indonesia. This was an important 
step for the Company to actively manage overseas assets 
and optimize its asset portfolio.

In 2011, the Company had 3 new discoveries in Indonesia. 
All of these discoveries are located in core areas, which can 
share production facilities with existing oil and gas fi elds and 
benefi t from economies of scale.

In 2011, considering that most producing oil and gas fi elds 
in Indonesia had become mature, as the operator of the 
SES, the Company adopted various measures to maintain 
and increase production such as water flooding and infill 
drilling, in order to keep the decline rate of these mature 
oilfi elds at a low level.

Iraq
In 2010, the Company entered into a technical service 
contract for the development and production of the Missan 
oilfi elds in Iraq, according to which the Company acts as the 
lead contractor and holds 63.75% participating interest.

In 2011, the Company took over the operation of the Missan 
oilfi eld group. Scheduled to commence drilling in 2012, the 
project has been making steady progress with drilling rigs 
readily available on site. Cost recovery is expected to begin 
in 2012 and the project is expected to contribute to the 
Company’s production growth.

For a technical service contract, the cost of operation for 
the Missan Project is relatively high. Nevertheless, major oil 
and gas companies in the world have all entered into the 
exploration and development industry in the Middle East 



Business Overview

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 2011 17

through technical service contracts, demonstrating the 
common view of the industry in this area.

Other Regions in Asia
The Company owns interests in several blocks in Myanmar, 
Cambodia and Qatar. These blocks are sti l l  under 
exploration.

Oceania
Currently, the Company’s oil and gas resources in 
Oceania are all located in Australia. As of the end of 2011, 
the reserves and daily production volume derived from 
Oceania reached 110.7 million BOE and 25,195 BOE/day, 
respectively, representing approximately 3.5% and 2.8%, 
respectively, of the Company’s total reserves and daily 
production.

Australia
The Company owns 5.3% of the interests in Australia’s 
North West Shelf Project. The project has commenced 
production and is currently supplying gas to customers such 
as the Dapeng LNG Terminal in Guangdong, China.

In 2011, the North West Shelf Project generated stable 
production volumes with economic effi ciency.

Africa
Africa is one of the Company’s overseas areas with a large 
reserve base. The Company’s assets in Africa are primarily 
located in Nigeria and Uganda. As of the end of 2011, 
the reserves and daily production volume derived from 
Africa reached 133.7 million BOE and 56,348 BOE/day, 
respectively, representing approximately 4.2% and 6.2%, 
respectively, of the Company’s total reserves and daily 
production.

Nigeria
The Company owns a 45% interest in the OML 130 block 
in Nigeria, which is a deepwater project and comprises four 
oilfi elds, namely Akpo, Egina, Egina South and Preowei. The 
Akpo oilfield commenced production in March 2009 and 
has reached its designed peak production capacity.

In 2011, the Company conducted preliminary development 
work on the other three oilfi elds including the Egina oilfi eld 
together with the operator.

Uganda
In 2011, the Company signed the sale and purchase 
agreement to acquire one-third interests of Tullow Oil 
plc in each of Exploration Areas 1, 2 and 3A in Uganda. 
Exploration Areas 1, 2 and 3A are located at the Lake Albert 
Basin in Uganda, which is one of the most promising basins 
with oil and gas resources in Africa.

In February 2012, the Company and Tullow Oil Plc closed 
the deal. The Company will operate the new Kanywataba 
exploration license in the former EA 3A, and the Kingfi sher 
production license which was converted due to the 
discovery in the former EA 3A. Tullow and TOTAL S.A. will 
operate EA 2 and EA 1, respectively.

Other Regions in Africa
Besides Nigeria and Uganda, the Company also owns 
interests in several blocks in Equatorial Guinea, the Republic 
of Congo and Algeria. These blocks are currently under 
exploration.

North America
The Company holds interests in oil and gas blocks in the 
U.S., Canada as well as Trinidad and Tobago in North 
America. In addition, the Company also holds interests in 
MEG Energy Corporation (“MEG”) in Canada. As of the 
end of 2011, the Company’s reserve and daily production 
volume derived from North America reached 178.7 million 
BOE and 9,096 BOE/day, respectively, representing 
approximately 5.6% and 1.0%, respectively, of the 
Company’s total reserves and daily production.

The U.S.
The Company has acquired a 33.3% interest in each of 
the two shale projects in the U.S., namely the Eagle Ford 
project, which is located in South Texas with 600,000 
net acres, and the Niobrara project, which is located in 
northeast Colorado and southeast Wyoming with 800,000 
net acres. The operator of these projects is Chesapeake.

The Eagle Ford project commenced production in 2011 
and achieved a steady increase in production volume. The 
Company plans to work with the operators to fine tune 
various operations, including drilling, fracturing as well 
as midstream and downstream construction in order to 
increase production. Meanwhile, the Niobrara project is 
being actively developed.

The development of shale oil and gas has become one of 
the growth areas for the world’s oil and gas exploration and 
development. The Company expects that participation in 
such business could help it to achieve sustainable growth 
and create value for its shareholders.

In addition, the Company participates in the drilling of four 
deepwater exploration wells at the Gulf of Mexico, and owns 
several exploration blocks in Alaska.

Canada
In 2005, the Company acquired part of the shares of MEG 
in Canada. In August 2010, MEG’s shares started trading on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange in Canada, resulting in a large 
appreciation of the value of the Company’s interest in MEG. 
Currently, the Company owns 14.2% of the shares of MEG.

In 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of equity 
interest in OPTI, an oil sands producer in Canada. The 
major assets acquired included a 35% working interest in 
Long Lake and three other oil sands projects located in the 
Athabasca region of northeastern Alberta.

The Long Lake project is currently at the production 
stage and is expected to contribute to the Company’s 
production with approximately 10,000 barrels per day in 
2012. Currently, the Company has deployed engineers 
and managers to participate in the development and 
management of the project.

Canada is a prime location in the world with rich oil sands 
resources. Since oil sands are expected to become one 
of the new growth areas of oil and gas exploration and 
development in the future, the Company expects that 
making a foothold in the region could help to achieve 
sustainable growth of the Company.
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In addition, the Company also owns a 60% interest in the 
Northern Cross (Yukon) Ltd., which owns oil and gas blocks 
in the Yukon area in Canada.

Trinidad and Tobago
In 2009, the Company acquired a 12.5% interest in the 2C 
block and a 12.75% interest in the 3A block in Trinidad and 
Tobago. The 2C block commenced production of crude 
oil in 2005. The natural gas field commenced production 
in 2011, leading to a signifi cant increase in the production 
volume.

South America
The Company mainly holds a 50% interest in Bridas 
Corporation. The Company’s interest in this project is 
accounted by the equity method. As of the end of 2011, the 
Company’s reserves and daily production volume derived 
from South America reached 266.4 million BOE and 46,877 
BOE/day, respectively, representing approximately 8.4% 
and 5.2%, respectively, of the Company’s total reserves and 
daily production.

Argentina
In March 2010, the Company announced to reorganize 
Bridas into a 50-50 joint venture with BEH for approximately 
US$3.1 bil l ion in cash. With the completion of the 
transaction, each of the Company and BEH holds a 50% 
interest in Bridas, and makes management decisions jointly. 
Bridas holds a 40% interest in Pan American Energy in 
Argentina (“PAE”).

Through its affi liates (including the interest in PAE), Bridas 
maintains oil and gas exploration and production activities 
in Argentina. Following the acquisition, the Company has 
deployed senior management staff to participate in the daily 
management of Bridas. In 2011, the enhanced recovery 
measures of Bridas’ major producing blocks took effect and 
kept production stable, making a signifi cant contribution to 
the production growth of the Company.

In November 2010, Bridas and BP PLC (“BP”) entered 
into a share purchase agreement under which Bridas 
proposed to acquire the 60% interests in PAE held by BP. 
In November 2011, Bridas sent to BP a letter to terminate 
the agreement. As a result of the termination, the Company 
would continue its participating interest in PAE through 
Bridas in accordance with the original co-management 
arrangement with BEH.

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales of Crude Oil
The Company sells its crude oil produced in offshore China 
to the PRC market through CNOOC China Limited, its 
wholly owned subsidiary. The Company sells its crude oil 
produced overseas to international and domestic markets 
through China Offshore Oil (Singapore) International Pte Ltd, 
also its wholly owned subsidiary.

The Company’s crude oil sale prices are mainly determined 
by the prices of international benchmark crude oil of 
similar quality, with certain premiums or discounts subject 
to prevailing market conditions. Although the prices are 
quoted in U.S. dollars, customers in China usually pay 
Renminbi. The Company currently sells three types of crude 

oil in China, namely light crude, medium crude and heavy 
crude which are benchmarked by Tapis, Daqing, and Duri, 
respectively. The Company’s major customers in China are 
CNOOC, Sinopec and PetroChina.

In 2011, the international crude oil market continued to be 
affected by contingencies and geopolitical tensions, with 
the international oil prices (Brent) staying at high levels most 
of the time. Meanwhile, the upgrading of refi neries in Asia 
in recent years increased the refi ning capacity of heavy oil; 
the earthquake and tsunami in Japan, coupled with the 
escalation of confl icts in the Middle East and North Africa 
regions, further boosted the benchmark crude oil prices in 
the Far East. Overall, the demand for crude oil, product oil 
and fuel oil in Asia remained strong and further pushed up 
the oil prices in the Far East in 2011.

Capturing the opportunities of strong demand for crude 
oil in China and the higher benchmark oil prices in the Far 
East, the Company has been closely monitoring market 
movements and meeting the customers’ demand to keep 
the Company’s average realized oil price at a higher level. 
In 2011, the Company’s average realized oil price was 
US$109.75/barrel, representing an increase of 40.8% year 
over year.

Sales of Natural Gas
The Company’s natural gas sales prices are determined 
by the Company’s negotiations with its customers. The 
Company’s natural gas sales agreements are generally 

long-term contracts, which normally provide the periodic 
price adjustment mechanism. The Company’s natural 
gas customers are primarily located on the southeastern 
coast of China, including Hong Kong Castle Peak Power 
Company Limited, CNOOC Gas and Power Group, and 
China BlueChemical Ltd.

The LNG sourced by the Company from the North West 
Shelf Project in Australia and the Tangguh LNG Project in 
Indonesia is mainly based on long-term supply contracts 
and is sold to various customers in the Asia-Pacifi c region, 
including LNG Terminals in Guangdong Dapeng and Fujian 
Putian, China.

In 2011, the Company’s average realized gas price was 
US$5.15/Mcf, representing a 14.7% increase over the 
previous year, which is mainly benefitted from: (i) the 
Company’s negotiation with major customers that increased 



Business Overview

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 2011 19

the sales price after the PRC government raised the onshore 
natural gas benchmark price in the first half of 2010; (ii) 
higher price for natural gas from oil and gas fi elds that have 
commenced production recently; (iii) higher sales price for 
certain production of Tangguh LNG in Indonesia in the spot 
market.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (R&D)

In 2011, the Company continued to focus on the R&D of 
exploration, development and engineering of offshore oil 
and gas to secure stable growth in reserves and production. 
The Company has applied certain research fi ndings to the 
operations and generated positive results, and one of the 
exploration research fi ndings was honored with the Second-
Class State Technological Progress Award of China in 2011.

Major Scientifi c Project Development
With a v iew to strengthening the Company’s key 
technologies and proactively developing technologies 
for the Company’s sustainable development in the mid 
to long term, the Company has established a number 
of major projects on key technologies in 2011, mainly 
focusing on major technology aspects including: new 
areas and technologies for offshore oil exploration, effi cient 
development and enhancement of oil recovery of offshore 
oilfield, deepwater oilfield development projects and 
exploration and development for low porosity and low 
permeability oil and gas fi elds.

In addition, the Company has been engaged for a number 
of Chinese national research projects such as “Formation 
and exploration technologies of large and medium-sized 
offshore oil and gas fi elds”, and has made steady progress 
in 2011.

Innovative Development of Key Technologies
To provide strong technical support for new discoveries 
of oil and gas reserves and to maintain and increase oil 
and gas production, the Company increased the research 
and application of its exploration development technology 
in 2011. By using the new technology combined with 
exploration, drilling and testing, the Company successfully 
conducted drilling at the Bozhong 21-2-1 wildcat, the 
deepest exploratory well in Bohai, at a depth of 5,141 
meters with the discovery of natural gas, which substantially 
expanded the exploration territory of Buried Hill Structure in 
Bohai.

Oil pipeline acidizing technology was first applied to the 
horizontal wells in the Bohai oilfield, which effectively 
reduced pollution and improved the production capacity. 
In the Suizhong 36-1 oilfi eld, blockage removal technology 
for horizontal wells has been successfully applied to six 
production wells, enhancing the osmotic pressure of oil pay 
with increased yield.

In addition, the Company’s drilling and construction 
works achieved innovative technology breakthroughs. 
The Yacheng 13-1 gas field achieved a success in well 
completion technology of high temperature and ultra-
low pressure drilling, ensuring safe drilling operations with 
signifi cant difference in drilling pressure.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Since commencement, the Company has considered 
internal control and risk management as top priority. The 
Company clearly recognizes that it is the duty and obligation 
of its management to establish and maintain an internal 
control and risk management system, which serves the 
Company’s strategic objectives and meets the Company’s 
business practice.

The Company established an Investment and Risk 
Management Committee (“IRMC”), which is responsible 
for investment decisions and risk management. All critical 
decisions should be approved by at least two-thirds of the 
members of the Committee. The Company cannot invest 
in any projects that have been vetoed by the Committee. 
Therefore, decision making risks can be minimized by 
implementing the appropriate mechanisms.

In addition, IRMC is responsible for setting the objective of 
risk management, assessing key risks in major investments, 
important events and key business processes, reviewing 
and approving solutions to major risks, and submitting the 
risk management report to the Board periodically.

The “Sarbanes-Oxley Act” promulgated in the U.S. in 2002 
and the “Code on Corporate Governance Practices” issued 
by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2004 imposed stricter 
regulatory requirements on corporate governance and 
internal control. The Company’s management believes that 
such regulations not only represent regulatory requirements 
imposed by the market, but also motivate the Company to 
improve its management system and create value for its 
shareholders.

In terms of internal control, the Company introduced the 
internal control framework developed by COSO Committee 
(“Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission”) of the United States, establishing an 
internal control system and mechanism over finance and 
accounting, business operation and corporate governance. 
Such internal control system has been continuously 
reviewed and evaluated to ensure timely, accurate and 
complete information disclosure.

In respect of risk management, in 2007, the Company 
offi cially adopted the COSO-ERM framework to ensure that 
all key risk factors are closely monitored and to keep the risk 
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impact to the minimum.

Listed in both Hong Kong and the U.S., the Company will 
continue to strictly comply with all regulatory requirements, 
strengthen its internal control and risk management system, 
and maintain a high standard of corporate governance to 
assure the Company of a more robust development.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION (HSE)

As an offshore exploration and production company, 
the Company faces significant operational risks and 
always emphasizes on HSE. The Company promotes 
the philosophy and culture of HSE among its employees. 
The Company strives to establish a comprehensive 
management system to improve the employees’ awareness 
of HSE during operations and strengthen their risk 
identifi cation and risk management skills.

Facing the complex situation of safety and environmental 
protection, the Company continued to improve the 
management system and promote intr insic safety 
management while strengthening inspection and training as 
well as improving emergency response in 2011.

In 2011, the Company continued to enhance the risk 
identifi cation and control on HSE and tried to identify and 
prevent key risks. The Company conducted investigations 
on four branches in China and timely rectifi ed the potential 
risks identifi ed in respect of certain safety and environmental 
protection issues. The Company prepared a report to 

summarize the self-examination results of all business units.

The Company conducted safety inspections on all oil and 
gas fields as well as the production facilities to prevent 
the potential risks identified. In addition, the Company 
has further improved the stipulations on the operational 
safety and environmental protection on well drilling and 
completion.

The Company has also imposed HSE standards on 
its service contractors. To further regulate the safety 
management of helicopters, the Company renewed the 
engagement of professional assessment companies to 
conduct safety checks on helicopter contractors. The 
contractors were required to rectify all problems identifi ed.

In order to improve the emergency response capability, 
the Company’s headquarters conducted numerous 
professional trainings in areas such as safety certifi cations 
and safety supervision in 2011. More than 400 person-
times of employees participated in these trainings. Further, 
over 30,000 person-times of staff members and contractors 
attended the professional trainings conducted by various 
branches of the Company.

In 2011, there was no accident causing critical casualties. 
The Company’s Occupat ional  Safety and Heal th 
Administration (“OSHA”) statistics maintained at a good 
level, and the Company’s performance continued to 
improve.

      Number Rate
    Number Rate of Days of Lost
  Number of Rate of of Lost of Lost Away & Workdays &
 Gross Recordable Recordable Workdays Workdays Working Restricted Death
Scope Man-hours Cases Cases Cases Cases Shifts Days Cases
Company staff 11,251,681 5 0.09 3 0.05 62 1.10 0

Staff of the Company and
 direct contractors 66,079,145 47 0.14 26 0.08 932 2.82 0
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Review on oil spill accidents of Penglai 19-3 
oilfi eld

Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld, located in Bohai, is an oilfi eld operated 

under a PSC, pursuant to which COPC is the operator and 

responsible for the daily operations of the oilfi eld.

According to the report from the operator, a seepage of oil 

from the seabed was found near Platform B in early June 

2011. It was also observed in mid June that a small-scale 

infl ux occurred in one of the wells being drilled in Platform C, 

resulting in another oil spill.

After the accident occurred, the Company, in accordance 

with the provisions provided in related contracts and 

agreements and upon the request of the operator, initiated 

the emergency response plan and deployed numerous 

personnel and resources to assist and support the operator 

on the oil spill follow-up work.

On 13 July 2011, the operator informed the Company that 

the SOA requested the operator to suspend production 

from Platforms B and C until the risk of oil spill has been 

eliminated.

On 2 September 2011, the SOA ordered the operator to 

suspend water injection, drilling and oil and gas production 

operations (the “Three Suspensions”) at the entire Penglai 

19-3 oilfield; to take effective measures to continue 

screening out the potential oil spill risks, seal all sources of oil 

spillage and complete the cleanup work in a timely manner; 

to recompose the EIA for the development of Penglai 19-3 

oilfield and, upon further approval on the EIA, to resume 

the operations gradually; to revise the ODP, and the “Three 

Suspensions” will only be lifted after the approval of the 

ODP.

On 12 September 2011, CNOOC announced that it 

approved the Depressurization Plan and Sealing Plan of the 

operator.

On 11 November 2011, the SOA announced the 

investigation conclusion made by the joint investigation 

team of the government that, “ConocoPhillips China Inc. 

violated the Overall Development Plan during the production 

operation on Penglai 19-3 oilfield, had defects in its 

procedures and management, and did not take necessary 

measures after obvious accident signs emerged, which 

altogether eventually resulted in an accident involving 

liabilities, causing signifi cant oceanic pollution by oil spill.”

CORPORATE CITIZEN

The Company always aims at becoming and remaining an 
outstanding corporate citizen and is committed to social 
responsibility. The Company is required not only to enhance 
its core competitiveness, achieve sustainable development 
and create value for its shareholders, but also to pay 
close attention to the interests of other stakeholders, so 
as to accomplish harmonious developments between the 
enterprise and the society, as well as between humanity and 
nature.

The Company’s social responsibility ideology is to become 
a driving force for sustainable energy supply, a leading force 
for clean and green energy development and a motivating 
force for harmonious development of the stakeholders and 
the society.

By continuing to follow the above ideology, the Company 
fulfi lled its social responsibilities in 2011 primarily in three key 
areas:

1. A driving force for sustainable energy supply

The Company achieved significant progress in 
exploration, development and production in 2011 with 
16 new discoveries of oil and gas and maintained 
stable growth in oil and gas reserves and production.

The Company also made significant progress in 
overseas development through engaging in the 
Niobrara Shale Project in the U.S. and the acquisition 
of OPTI in Canada to further expand the Company’s 
investment in unconventional oil and gas fi elds, which 
provides a resource base for the Company’s long-
term development.

With increasing reserves and production volume, the 
Company has gradually broadened its energy supply 
to the PRC and the world and become a driving force 
for sustainable energy supply. We regard this as the 
most important part of our social responsibility.
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2. A leading force for  c lean and green energy 
development

In 2011, the Company increased its participation in 
the shale oil and gas project in North America while 
developing the conventional natural gas business. In 
the PRC, the Company acquired a shale gas block in 
Anhui province and commenced exploration works. In 
the future, the Company plans to continue developing 
clean energy to create a better environment.

In 2011, the Company strengthened its safety and 
environmental protection measures and effectively 
improved its HSE capability.

In addition, the Company continued to encourage 
energy conservation. As a result, unit energy 
consumption and carbon dioxide emissions were 
under effective control.

3. A motivating force for the harmonious development of 
the stakeholders and the society

In 2011, the Company participated in various 
charitable activities such as helping the poor and the 
students in need, and donating to disaster victims. 
During the year, the Company continued to fulfi ll its 
donation commitment to the Sichuan earthquake-hit 
areas. In addition to the assistance fund provided to 
the disaster zones in each of 2008, 2009 and 2010, 
the Company, by way of cost reduction and effi ciency 
enhancement, donated an additional RMB70 million 
for the reconstruction of the disaster zones.

In 2011, the Company assisted in improving the 
learning conditions of children in Guizhou, Liaoning 
and other regions through fi nancing the construction 
of schools, sponsoring stationery and books, and 
making monetary donation.

In  Hong Kong,  the  Company cont inued i ts 
cooperation projects with Chinese University of Hong 
Kong by contributing HK$3 million to its scholarship 
programs which were intended to assist outstanding 
students from mainland China to attend this university.

The Company was also involved in community 
building by encouraging a harmonious environment 
between the enterprise and the community in order 

to achieve mutual benefit and promotion. In 2011, 
the Company’s operating vessels participated in a 
number of marine rescues. The Company rescued 
drowning fi shermen and cargo ship crew members on 
several occasions.

At the end of December 2011, CNOOC officially 
submitted a registration application to the Ministry 
of Civil Affairs of the People’s Republic of China for 
establishment of “CNOOC Marine Environmental and 
Ecological Protection Public Welfare Foundation” 
(“the Foundation”). The Foundation was launched 
by CNOOC and will focus primarily on marine 
environmental and ecological protection as well 
as related scientif ic research and technology 
advancement and other charitable public welfare 
projects. Upon approval on the registration, the 
Foundation wil l  priorit ize the work on marine 
environmental protection and comprehensive 
treatment. CNOOC Limited, as the donator, 
contributed RMB500 million to protect the marine 
environment and restore the marine ecosystem.

The Company act ive ly carr ies out i ts  socia l 
responsibility in overseas as well. The Company 
donated A$100,000 to the Queensland government 
for the fl ood victims in Australia and donated disaster 
relief of US$50,000 to the debris-flows-stricken 
Bulambuli District in Eastern Uganda.

In 2012, the Company plans to republ ish its 
“Corporate Socia l  Responsib i l i ty  Report”  to 
summarize its social responsibility performance.

Human Resources
Human resources are the Company’s valuable assets. 
Throughout the years, the Company has built a professional 
and highly effi cient work force, who are capable of tackling 
the challenges. This is essential to the Company’s success. 
In order to meet the growing demand for human resources 
as a result of its rapid growth, in 2011, the Company 
conducted organizational integration and restructuring, 
performance evaluation, occupational qualif ication, 
cultivation of international talents, and establishment of 
talent task force.
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Organizational integration and restructuring
To cope with its rapid development, the Company 
consolidated the responsibilities of various departments and 
streamlined their structure through restructuring in 2011.

Optimizing the performance evaluation system
In 2011, leveraging its experience of performance evaluation 
in 2010, the Company further adjusted the performance 
evaluation benchmark for various departments, each of 
which has established a self-evaluation mechanism.

Establishing an occupational qualifi cation system
In 2011, the Company further improved and applied the 
capability model for professional and technical personnel 
in order to provide a scientific and reliable standard, 
professional and effective training system, reasonable and 
objective assessment and evaluation system as well as an 
auxiliary appraisal system for promotion. The Company 
believes this would help to increase their morale and 
cultivate an explorative and creative atmosphere.

Cultivation of international talents force
To cultivate international management and technical talents, 
in 2011, the Company provided its international talents 
with trainings such as domestic full-time training, overseas 
technical degrees, domestic and overseas MBA educations 
as well as overseas short-term trainings.

Establishing a talent force
In 2011, the Company focused on recruiting senior 
professionals that it needed, and established a mechanism 
to attract and retain talents. The Company also established 
a scientific and systematic evaluation mechanism. To 

better motivate its talents, the Company established and 
continuously improved its recruitment and compensation 
incentive mechanism.

Strengthening operations and staff training
In 2011, the Company promoted the principle of “five-
goods” (namely, good HSE, good task completion, 
good on-site management, good cost savings and good 
team building) for offshore operations to improve the 
management of offshore production facilities and the 
execution capability of the team.

In 2011, the Company conducted 6,492 trainings with 
72,782 person-times of participants.
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GOVERNANCE STANDARDS

The Company has always upheld and executed high 
standard of business ethics, for which its transparency 
and standard of governance have been recognized by the 
public and its shareholders. In 2011, the Company was 
awarded the “Corporate Governance Asia Recognition 
Awards — One of the Best Companies in China” for the 
third consecutive year by Corporate Governance Asia. High 
and strict standard of corporate governance enables the 
Company to operate steadily and efficiently and is in the 
long-term interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Since its listing, the Company has endeavoured to maximize 
its shareholders’ value. In 2011, the Company executed its 
corporate governance policies strictly and sought to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the Code on Corporate 
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in 
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 
Rules”) and will comply with the Corporate Governance 
Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “New CG 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules with 
effect from 1 April 2012, ensuring that all decisions were 
made on the principles of trust and fairness and in an open 
and transparent manner so as to protect the interests of 
all shareholders. The Company values the importance of 
corporate governance and in light of the recently published 
New CG Code, the Company has enhanced the disclosure 
of summary of the Company’s key corporate governance 
practices during 2011 below.

KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 
AND THE COMPANY’S PRACTICES

A. DIRECTORS

A.1 The Board
Principle: “An issuer should be headed by an effective 
board which should assume responsibility for its 
leadership and control and be collectively responsible 
for promoting its success by directing and supervising 
its affairs. Directors should take decisions objectively 
in the best interests of the issuer. The board should 
regularly review the contribution required from a director 
to perform his responsibilities to the issuer, and whether 
he is spending suffi cient time performing them.”

• The Board consisted of ten members, including 
two Executive Directors, four Non-executive 
Directors and four Independent Non-executive 
Directors, as of 31 December 2011.

• The  l i s t  o f  D i rec to rs ,  the i r  respec t i ve 
biographies, and their respective roles in the 
Board Committees and the management are 
set out on pages 40 to 45 and 135 respectively. 
The relevant information is also disclosed on the 
Company’s website.

• The Board and Committee members of the 
Company are dedicated, professional and 
accountable.

• Board meeting are held at least four times a 
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Seven 
Board meetings have been held in 2011. In 
addition to the Board meetings, members of 
the Board have also actively participated in the 
discussion on the business and operation of 
the Company, either in person or through other 
electronic means of communication such as 
emails, when necessary.

• There exists an open atmosphere for Directors 
to contribute alternative views. All decisions of 
the Board are made on the principles of trust 
and fairness in an open and transparent manner, 
so as to protect the interests of all shareholders.

• The Board will regularly review the contribution 
required from a Director to perform his 
responsibilities to the Company, and whether he 
is spending sufficient time performing them in 
accordance with the New CG Code which will 
become effective from 1 April 2012.

Attendance at full Board meetings in 2011:

 No. of Meetings attended 
 (7 meetings in total)
 by Director by alternate

Executive Directors
Li Fanrong  7 0
Wu Guangqi (Note 1) 4 3

Non-executive Directors
Wang Yilin (Chairman) (Note 2) 4 0
Fu Chengyu 
 (Former Chairman) (Note 3) 3 0
Yang Hua (Vice Chairman) (Note 4) 7 0
Zhou Shouwei (Note 5) 5 2
Wu Zhenfang 7 0

Independent 
 Non-executive Directors
Edgar W. K. Cheng (Note 6) 4 2
Chiu Sung Hong 7 0
Lawrence J. Lau 7 0
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 7 0
Wang Tao 7 0
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Note 1: Mr. Wu Guangqi appointed Mr. Yang Hua as his alternate to 

attend the Board meeting via teleconference held on 4 January 

2011 and to vote on his behalf. Mr. Wu Guangqi appointed Mr. 

Yang Hua as his alternate to attend the Board meeting held 

on 27 May 2011 and to vote on his behalf. Mr. Wu Guangqi 

appointed Mr. Li Fanrong as his alternate to attend the Board 

meeting via teleconference held on 14 July 2011 and to vote on 

his behalf.

Note 2: Mr. Wang Yilin was appointed as Chairman of the Board and 

Non-executive Director of the Company on 15 April 2011.

Note 3: Mr. Fu Chengyu resigned as Chairman of the Board and Non-

executive Director of the Company on 15 April 2011.

Note 4: Mr. Yang Hua resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company and was re-designated from Executive Director to 

Non-executive Director of the Company with effective from 23 

November 2011.

Note 5: Mr. Zhou Shouwei appointed Mr. Yang Hua as his alternate to 

attend the Board meeting via teleconference held on 4 January 

2011 and to vote on his behalf. Mr. Zhou Shouwei appointed 

Mr. Yang Hua as his alternate to attend the Board meeting held 

on 24 August 2011 and to vote on his behalf.

Note 6: Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng appointed Professor. Lawrence J. Lau 

as his alternate to attend the Board meetings via teleconference 

held on 4 January 2011 and 15 April 2011. On 3 November 

2011, Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng resigned as Independent Non-

executive Director and a member of the Nomination Committee 

of the Company due to personal health reason.

• The Joint Company Secretaries consulted 
the Directors on matters to be included in the 
agenda for regular Board meetings.

• Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled 
at least two months before the meeting to 
provide suffi cient notice to all Directors so that 
they can have an opportunity to attend. For non-
regular Board meetings, reasonable advance 
notice will be given.

• Minutes of the meetings of the Board and Board 
Committees are kept by the Joint Company 
Secretaries and open for inspection at any 
reasonable time upon reasonable notice by any 
Director.

• Minutes of the meetings of the Board and Board 
Committees recorded in sufficient details the 
matters considered by the Board and Board 
Committees and decisions reached, including 
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting 
views expressed. Draft and final versions of 
the minutes of the Board meetings and Board 
Committee meetings are sent to all Directors 
and all Committee members respectively within 
a reasonable time for their comments and 
records respectively.

• The Committees of the Board may, upon 
reasonable request ,  seek independent 
p r o f e s s i o n a l  a d v i c e  i n  a p p r o p r i a t e 
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

• If a substantial shareholder or a Director 
has a conflict of interest in a matter to be 
considered by the Board and such matter has 
been considered to be material by the Board, 
the matter will not be dealt with by a written 
resolution but a Board meeting will be convened 
for that matter. Independent Non-executive 
Directors who have no material interest in 
the transaction will be present at such Board 
meeting.

• The Company has arranged appropriate 
insurance cover in respect of legal action against 
its Directors.

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive
Principle: “There are two key aspects of the 
management of every issuer — the management 
of the board and the day-to-day management of 
business. There should be a clear division of these 
responsibilities to ensure a balance of power and 
authority, so that power is not concentrated in any one 
individual.”

• The roles of the Chairman and CEO of the 
Company are separate and are not performed 
by the same individual. Mr. Wang Yilin serves as 
the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Li Fanrong 
serves as the CEO of the Company.

• The Chairman ensures that all Directors are 
properly briefed on issues arising at Board 
meetings and is responsible for ensuring that 
Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate 
information, which must be accurate, clear, 
complete and reliable.

• One of the important roles of the Chairman is to 
provide leadership for the Board. The Chairman 
ensures that the Board works effectively and 
performs its responsibilities, and that all key and 
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board 
in a timely manner. The Chairman delegates the 
responsibility of drawing up the agenda for each 
board meeting to the Joint Company Secretary 
who will take into account, where appropriate, 
any matters proposed by the other Directors 
for inclusion in the agenda, and the Chairman is 
primarily responsible for approving the agenda.

• The Chairman takes primary responsibility 
for ensuring that good corporate governance 
practices and procedures are established.
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• The Chairman encourages all Directors to 
make a full and active contribution to the 
Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure 
that the Board acts in the best interests of the 
Company. The Chairman encourages Directors 
with different views to voice their concerns, 
allow suffi cient time for discussion of issues and 
ensure that Board decisions fairly refl ect Board 
consensus.

• The Chairman holds meet ings with the 
Independent Non-executive Directors without 
the Executive Directors present at least 
annually.

• The Chairman ensures that appropriate steps 
are taken to provide effective communication 
with shareholders and that their views are 
communicated to the Board as a whole.

• The Chairman promotes a culture of openness 
and debate by fac i l i tat ing the ef fect ive 
contribution of Non-executive Directors and 
Independent Non-executive Directors in 
particular and ensuring constructive relations 
between executive and non-executive directors.

• The CEO is responsible for conducting the 
Company’s business and affairs consistent with 
the principles and directions established by 
the Board. The clear division of responsibilities 
between the Chairman and the CEO ensures 
a balance of power and authority, as well as 
efficient management and operation of the 
Company, which help to contribute to the 
success of the Company.

A.3 Board composition
Principle: “The board should have a balance of skills 
and experience appropriate for the requirements of 
the issuer’s business. It should ensure that changes 
to its composition can be managed without undue 
disruption. It should include a balanced composition 
of executive and non-executive directors (including 
independent non-executive directors) so that there is 
a strong independent element on the board, which 
can effectively exercise independent judgment. Non-
executive directors should be of suffi cient calibre and 
number for their views to carry weight.”

• The  Board ,  as  rep resen ta t i ves  o f  the 
shareholders of the Company, is committed 
to the achievement of business success and 
the enhancement of long-term shareholder’s 
value with the highest standards of integrity and 
ethics. The role of the Board is to direct, guide 
and oversee the conduct of the Company’s 
business and to ensure that the interests of the 
shareholders are being served.

• As of 31 December 2011, the Board consisted 
of ten members: two of them were Executive 
Directors, four of them were Non-executive 
Directors and four of them were Independent 
Non-executive Directors. All Directors were 
identifi ed by categories of Executive Directors, 
Non-executive Directors and Independent 
Non-executive Directors in al l  corporate 
communications that set out the names of the 
Directors of the Company. An updated list of 
the Directors identifying their role and function 
has been published and maintained on the 
Company’s website and on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange’s website.

• The Executive Directors of the Company are 
all individuals with immense experience in the 
Company’s respective fi elds of operation. Both 
of them are engineers who are familiar with the 
Company’s businesses and have cooperated 
with leading global players in the oil and gas 
industry. Mr. Wu Guangqi and Mr. Li Fanrong 
have around 30 years experience in petroleum 
exploration and operation respectively.

• The Non-executive Directors of the Company 
are all individuals with immense experiences 
in the parent company’s respective fields of 
operation. Most of them have over 30 years 
of experiences in petroleum exploration and 
operation.

• The Independent Non-executive Directors of the 
Company are all professionals or scholars with 
backgrounds in the legal, economic, financial 
and investment fields. They have extensive 
experience and knowledge of corporate 
management, making significant contributions 
to the Company’s strategic decisions.

• The Company believes that the high involvement 
of the Non-executive Directors and Independent 
Non-executive Directors in the management 
and decision making of the Board and its 
Committees strengthens the objectivity and 
independence of the Board.

• The diverse backgrounds of  the Board 
members ensure that they can fully represent 
the interests of all shareholders of the Company.

• T h e  C o m p a n y  h a s  r e c e i v e d  a n n u a l 
confirmations from all of its Independent 
Non-executive Directors acknowledging full 
compliance with the relevant requirements 
in respect of their independence pursuant to 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is 
therefore of the view that all of the Independent 
Non-executive Directors are independent.
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A.4 & A.5 Appointments, re-election and removal & 
 Nomination Committee

Principle: “There should be a formal, considered and 
transparent procedure for the appointment of new 
directors. There should be plans in place for orderly 
succession for appointments. All directors should 
be subject to re-election at regular intervals. An 
issuer must explain the reasons for the resignation or 
removal of any director.”

• The Company has established a Nomination 
Committee which consisted of two Independent 
Non-executive Directors (Professor Lawrence 
J. Lau and Mr. Wang Tao) and a Non-executive 
Director (Mr. Zhou Shouwei) as of 31 December 
2011 with Mr. Zhou Shouwei as the Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee. For the purpose 
of fully complying with the New CG Code in 
respect of the requirement on the Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Wang Yilin, 
the Chairman of the Board, was appointed as 
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee 
with effect from 28 March 2012 and Mr. Zhou 
Shouwei ceased acting as the Chairman and 
a member of the Nomination Committee with 
effect from the same day. A list of the present 
members of the Nomination Committee is 
set out under the section headed “Company 
Information” on page 135 of the annual report.

• The role of the Nomination Committee is to 
determine the policy and establish proper 
procedures for the selection of the Company’s 
leadership positions, upgrade the quality of 
Board members and perfect the Company’s 
corporate governance structure.

• The main authorities and responsibilities of 
the Nomination Committee are to nominate 
candidates to serve as directors and senior 
management of the Company for approval 
by the Board, to review the structure and 
composition of the Board, and to evaluate the 
leadership abilities of Executive Directors, so 
as to ensure the competitive position of the 
Company.

• When nominating a particular candidate, the 
Nomination Committee will consider (1) the 
breadth and depth of the management and/
or leadership experience of the candidate; 
(2) financial literacy or other professional or 
business experience of the candidate that are 
relevant to the Company and its business; 
and (3) the experience in or knowledge of 
international operations of the candidate. All 
candidates must be able to meet the standards 
set out in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing 
Rules. When nominating an Independent 

Non-executive Director who has served the 
Company for more than nine years, the Board 
will propose that the shareholders vote by way 
of a separate resolution on any decision to 
retain such Independent Non-executive Director 
and include in the circular to shareholders the 
reasons why the Board considers such Director 
to still be independent and shall be re-elected.

• T h e  N o m i n a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  i s  a l s o 
responsible for evaluating the contributions 
and independence of incumbent Directors 
so as to determine whether they should be 
recommended for re-election. Based on such 
evaluation, the Nomination Committee will 
recommend to the Board candidates for re-
election at general meetings and appropriate 
replacements (if necessary). The Board, based 
on the recommendation of the Nomination 
Committee, will propose to the shareholders the 
candidates for re-election at the relevant general 
meetings.

• A Director appointed by the Board to fi ll a casual 
vacancy or as an addition shall hold offi ce until 
the next extraordinary general meeting and/or 
annual general meeting (as appropriate).

• Our Non-executive Directors are appointed for 
a term of one year. However, none of existing 
Independent Non-executive Directors are 
appointed for a specifi c term, which constitutes 
a deviation from the CG Code provision. 
Further explanation is set out under the section 
of “Compliance with the code on corporate 
governance practices” on page 36. 

• All Directors, including those appointed for 
a specific term are subject to retirement by 
rotation once every three years and are subject 
to re-election in accordance with the Articles of 
Association of the Company (as amended and 
adopted by special resolution of the Company 
on 27 May 2009) (“Articles”) and the CG Code.

• The fol lowing is a summary of the work 
performed by the Nomination Committee under 
its charter during the year:

— Rev iewed the  s t ructure ,  s i ze  and 
compos i t ion  ( inc lud ing  the  sk i l l s , 
knowledge and exper ience)  of  the 
Board and its committees and made 
recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy.
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— Identified individuals suitably qualified to 
become Board members and selected or 
made recommendations to the Board on 
the selection of individuals nominated for 
directorships.

— A s s e s s e d  t h e  i n d e p e n d e n c e  o f 
Independent Non-executive Directors.

— Made recommendations to the Board 
on relevant matters relat ing to the 
appointment or re-election of Directors.

• Fo l lowing the adopt ion of  the new CG 
Code, the Nomination Committee will make 
recommendat ions to the Board on the 
succession planning for Directors, in particular 
the Chairman and CEO.

• During the year ended 31 December 2011, the 
Nomination Committee recommended to the 
Board the following candidates as Directors 
according to the nominat ion pol icy and 
procedure of the Nomination Committee:

— the appointment of Mr. Wang Yilin as 
Chairman of the Board and Non-executive 
Director of the Company

— the re-election of Mr. Wang Yilin as Non-
executive Director, Mr. Li Fanrong as 
Executive Director, Professor. Lawrence 
J. Lau and Mr. Wang Tao as Independent 
Non-executive Directors of the Company

— the re-designation of Mr. Yang Hua from 
Executive Director to Non-executive 
Director of the Company

Attendance of individual members at Nomination 
Committee meetings in 2011

 No. of Meetings attended  
 (3 meetings in total)
 by committee 
Directors member by alternate

Zhou Shouwei (Chairman) (Note 1)  2 1
Edgar W. K. Cheng (Note 2) 0 2
Lawrence J. Lau 3 0
Wang Tao 3 0

Note 1: Mr. Zhou Shouwei appointed Mr. Wang Tao as his alternate to 

attend the Nomination Committee meeting held on 22 March 

2011 and to vote on his behalf. With effect from 28 March 

2012, Mr. Wang Yilin was appointed as the Chairman of the 

Nomination Committee and Mr. Zhou Shouwi cease serving 

as Chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee any 

longer.

Note 2: Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng appointed Professor Lawrence J. Lau 

as his alternative to attend the Nomination Committee meeting 

held on 22 March 2011 and to vote on his behalf. Dr. Edgar 

W. K. Cheng appointed Professor Lawrence J. Lau as his 

alternative to attend the Nomination Committee meeting via 

teleconference held on 15 April 2011 and to vote on his behalf. 

On 3 November 2011, Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng resigned as 

Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the 

nomination committee of the Company due to personal health 

reason.

A.6 Responsibilities of Directors
Principle: “Every director must always know his 
responsibilities as a director of an issuer and its 
conduct, business activities and development. 
Given the essential unitary nature of the board, non-
executive directors have the same duties of care and 
skill and fi duciary duties as executive directors.”

• The Company regularly updates its Directors 
with changes in laws and regulations relevant to 
their roles as Directors of the Company.

• All Directors newly appointed to the Board 
receive appropriate brief ing and training 
from the Company. The senior management 
and the Joint Company Secretaries will also 
conduct subsequent briefings as and when 
necessary to ensure that the Directors are 
kept appraised of the latest developments 
relevant to the operations and business of 
the Company, and their responsibilities under 
statutes and common law, the Listing Rules, 
legal and other regulatory requirements as well 
as the Company’s business and governance 
policies, so that they are able to discharge 
their responsibi l i t ies properly. Directors 
will participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills, including but not limited 
to training arranged by the Company on the 
roles, functions and duties of a listed company’s 
director according to the requirements of the 
New CG Code with effect from 1 April 2012.

• The  Non-execu t i ve  D i rec to rs  and  the 
Independent Non-executive Directors actively 
participate in Board meetings and Committees 
meet ings to exercise their  independent 
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, 
performance, accountability, resources, key 
appointments and standards of conduct of the 
Company. They are responsible for taking the 
lead where potential confl icts of interest arise.
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• The  Non-execu t i ve  D i rec to rs  and  the 
Independent Non-executive Directors are 
invited to serve on the Audit, Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees of the Company.

• During 2011, each Non-executive Director or 
Independent Non-executive Director attended 
or otherwise appointed an alternate to attend 
all regularly scheduled meetings of the Board 
and Committees on which such Non-executive 
Director or Independent Non-executive Director 
sat in, and reviewed the meeting materials 
distributed in advance for such meetings and 
shared their skills and expertise with the Board 
or the relevant Committee. All of the Non-
executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company make a 
positive contribution to the development of 
the Company’s strategy and policies through 
independent, constructive and informed 
comments. Following the adoption of the New 
CG Code, the Non-executive Directors and the 
Independent Non-executive Directors will be 
responsible for scrutinising our performance in 
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives 
and monitoring our performance reporting.

• Mr. Wang Yilin, Chairman of the Board, Mr. 
Yang Hua, Vice Chairman of the Board, together 
with several Independent Non-executive 
Directors (Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Professor 
Lawrence J. Lau and Mr. Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius), 
attended the annual general meeting in 2011 
and responded to questions raised by the 
shareholders. Following the adoption of the 
New CG Code, the Non-executive Directors 
and Independent Non-executive Directors will 
attend general meetings of the Company where 
practicable.

A.7 Supply of and access to information
Principle: “Directors should be provided in a timely 
manner with appropriate information in the form and 
quality to enable them to make an informed decision 
and perform their duties and responsibilities.”

• The Company’s senior management regularly 
provides the Board and its Committees with 
adequate information in a timely manner to 
enable them to make informed decisions. Senior 
management also organises presentations to 
the Board by professional advisers on specifi c 
transactions as appropriate.

• For regular  Board meet ings and Board 
Commi t tee  meet ings ,  the  agenda and 
accompanying Board papers are sent in full to all 
Directors at least three days before the intended 
date of the Board meetings or Board Committee 
meetings.

• The Board and each Director have separate and 
independent access to the Company’s senior 
management and also the Joint Company 
Secretaries, who will provide full and prompt 
response to queries raised by the Directors. All 
Directors are entitled to have access to Board 
papers, minutes and related materials upon 
reasonable notice.

B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND BOARD 
EVALUATION

B.1 The level and make-up of remuneration and 
disclosure
Principle: “An issuer should disclose its directors’ 
remuneration policy and other remuneration related 
matters. The procedure for setting policy on executive 
directors’ remuneration and all directors’ remuneration 
packages should be formal and transparent. 
Remuneration levels should be sufficient to attract 
and retain directors to run the company successfully 
without paying more than necessary. No director 
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.”

• The Remunerat ion Committee current ly 
comprises two Independent Non-executive 
Directors (Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Tse Hau 
Yin, Aloysius) and one Non-executive Director 
(Mr. Wu Zhenfang) with Mr. Chiu Sung Hong as 
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 
The Remuneration Committee is delegated with 
the authority for determining and approving 
all Executive Directors’ salaries, bonuses, 
share option packages, performance appraisal 
systems and retirement plans. A list of members 
of the Remuneration Committee is set out in 
“Company Information” on page 135 of the 
annual report.

• The major responsibilities and authorities 
of the Remuneration Committee include 
making recommendat ions to the Board 
on the Company’s policy and structure of 
the remuneration of Directors and senior 
management of the Company, determining the 
service contracts and specific remuneration 
packages for all Executive Directors and 
senior management, such as benefits in kind, 
pension rights and compensation payments, 
including any compensation payable for loss or 
termination of their offi ce or appointment, and 
making recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration of Non-executive Directors and 
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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• The Company’s emolument policy is to maintain 
fair and competitive packages with reference 
to industry standards and prevailing market 
conditions. The Remuneration Committee is 
mindful that levels of remuneration must be 
sufficient to attract and retain the Directors 
and senior management is needed to run the 
Company successfully, but at the same time the 
Company should avoid setting remunerations 
which are in excess of those necessary for this 
purpose. The Directors’ emolument package 
comprises the Director’s fees, basic salaries 
and allowances, bonuses, share options and 
others. The following factors are considered 
in determining the Directors’ remuneration 
package:

— Business needs and company development;

— Responsibilities of the Directors and their 
individual contribution;

— Changes in appropriate markets, for 
example, supply/demand fl uctuations and 
changes in competitive conditions; and

— The desirability of performance-based 
remuneration.

Details of the remuneration, as well as the share 
option benefi ts of Directors for the year ended 
31 December 2011, are set out on pages 88 to 
89 of the annual report.

No individual Director or senior management of 
the Company is permitted to determine his/her 
own remuneration.

The Company seeks to apply similar principles 
when determining the remuneration packages 
for senior management with reference to the 
board’s corporate goals and objectives. Other 
general staff, and employees are rewarded on 
a performance-rated basis with other fringe 
benefi ts such as social insurance, pension funds 
and medical cover.

Please refer to notes 10 and 11 to the 
financial statements on pages 88 to 90 for 
details of Directors’ remuneration and senior 
management’s remuneration by band and the 
fi ve highest paid individuals in the Company.

• The remuneration of Non-executive Directors 
and Independent Non-executive Directors 
recommended by the Remuneration Committee 
is determined by the Board where the vote of 
the Directors concerned will not be counted in 
relation to their remuneration.

• The Remuneration Committee also administers 
the Company’s share option schemes and all 
other employee equity-based compensation 
plans, with full authority to make all other 
determinations in the administration thereof, but 
subject to the limitations prescribed by laws and 
the rules of such plans and programs.

• The Remuneration Committee consults the 
Chairman and CEO about its proposal relating 
to the remuneration of other Executive Directors 
and have access to independent professional 
advice if necessary.

• The fol lowing is a summary of the work 
performed by the Remuneration Committee 
under its charter during the year:

— Reviewed and approved the remuneration 
packages of the Company’s individual 
Executive Directors and senior management 
of the Company;

— Made recommendations to the Board on the 
Company’s policy and structure for Directors 
and senior management remuneration 
and on the establishment of a formal and 
transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

— Assessed performance of Executive 
Directors and approved the terms of their 
service contracts;

— Made recommendations to the Board on 
the remuneration of the Company’s Non-
executive Directors;

— Made recommendations to the Board 
regarding the adoption of share option 
schemes and any other equity-based 
compensation plans; and

— Evaluated and assessed the effectiveness 
of the Remuneration Committee and the 
adequacy of the Remuneration Committee 
Charter and recommended the proposed 
changes to the Board.

Attendance of individual members at Remuneration 
Committee meetings in 2011

 No. of Meetings attended 
 (4 meetings in total)
 by committee 
Directors member by alternate

Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) 4 0
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 4 0
Wu Zhenfang 4 0
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

C.1 Financial reporting
Principle: “The board should present a balanced, clear 
and comprehensible assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.”

• The Company has established a mechanism for 
reporting to the Board, by providing of a monthly 
management report, to ensure that the Board 
fully understands the operating conditions and 
the relevant fi nancial position of the Company. 
The Board is responsible for preparing accounts 
that give a true and fair view of the Group’s 
financial position on a going-concern basis 
and other price-sensitive announcements and 
fi nancial disclosures. Management provides the 
Board with the relevant information it needs to 
fulfi l these responsibilities.

• Directors of the Company will discuss the 
operating budget for the next year and approve 
the operating budget at the end of each year 
and will review the execution of the operating 
budget for the whole year. Management will also 
provide suffi cient explanations and information 
to the Board. All significant changes in the 
operating conditions and investment decisions 
will be discussed in sufficient details by the 
Board.

• Directors of the Company will also discuss and 
analyse the performance of the Group, the long 
term business model and corporate strategies 
of the Company for achieving the Company’s 
objectives and generating or preserving value 
over the longer term. Please refer to the relevant 
section in Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis on pages 53 to 59 for details.

• If necessary, the Directors will also engage 
professional independent consultants so 
that the Directors can gain an in-depth and 
comprehensive understanding and assessment 
of the relevant matters, in order to make well-
grounded assessments.

• In response to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act promulgated by the US Congress in 
2002 to safeguard the interests of investors, 
increase the accuracy and effectiveness of 
financial reporting and financial information 
disclosure, the management has issued 
a  s ta tement  on  the  respons ib i l i t y  and 
effectiveness of internal control based on 
financial reporting, and the auditors of the 
Company have also audited the effectiveness of 
internal control over fi nancial reporting.

• The Company regularly updates investors with 
progress of development and performance 
of the Company through formal channels 
such as annual reports, interim reports and 
announcements made through the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s 
website, as well as through press releases. 
The Company also issues quarterly operational 
statistics and announces its strategy at the 
beginning of the year to enhance transparency 
about its performance and to give details of the 
latest development of the Company in a timely 
manner.

• The Company provides a comprehensive 
business review in its interim and annual reports 
to enable investors to appraise its development 
over the period and its fi nancial position.

• The Company has also engaged independent 
technical consultant fi rms to conduct a review of 
its oil and gas information and discloses details 
of its oil and gas properties in its annual report 
(as set out on pages 117 to 129).

 
• The Company’s Directors are not aware of 

any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that may cast signifi cant doubt upon 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern as referred to in C.1.3 of the CG Code.

• The statement by the auditor of the Company 
regarding its reporting responsibilities on the 
fi nancial statements of the Group is set out in 
the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 60.

C.2 Internal controls
Principle: “The board should ensure that the issuer 
maintains sound and effective internal controls to 
safeguard shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s 
assets.”

• The Directors regularly receive reports from 
the management of the Company regarding 
the establishment, review and evaluation 
of the Company’s f inancial ,  operat ional 
and compliance, internal control and risk 
management. All major risks are reported to 
the Board. The Board will also evaluate the 
corresponding risks and the response plan. The 
Company would review, among other things, 
adequacy of resources, staff’s qualifi cations and 
experience, training programmes and budget of 
our accounting and fi nancial reporting functions.
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• The Company has established and maintains 
an internal control and risk management system 
that is in line with the strategic objectives 
of the Company and fits the actual needs 
of the Company. An Investment and Risk 
Management Committee has been established 
and delegated to assess, analyze and identify 
key business risks of the Company and their 
impact. Based on the Company’s strategies, the 
Investment and Risk Management Committee 
is responsible for setting the objective of risk 
management and assessing key risks in major 
investments, important events and key business 
processes, and is also responsible for the review 
and approval of the solutions to major risks. The 
risk management reports are submitted to the 
Board periodically.

• The Audit Committee is responsible for 
overseeing the operation of the internal 
monitoring systems so as to ensure that the 
Board is able to monitor the Company’s overall 
financial position, to protect the Company’s 
assets, and to prevent major errors or omissions 
resulting from fi nancial reporting.

• The Company has chosen the internal control 
framework issued by COSO in the United 
States of America, established a system 
and mechanism over financial, operational 
and compliance controls and conducts an 
extensive and continuing review and evaluation 
of the internal control of the Company to 
ensure the timeliness, accuracy and integrity 
of all information reported. The Company will 
continue to improve such system to comply with 
the regulatory requirements and to enhance 
corporate governance of the Company.

• The management has evaluated the design and 
operating effectiveness of the internal control 
regarding the fi nancial report as of 31 December 
2011, and has not discovered any material 
weakness through the evaluation. On the basis 
of such evaluation, the Directors consider that 
as of 31 December 2011, internal control of the 
Company in relation to fi nancial reporting was 
effective.

• Meanwhile, the Company has established a 
mechanism for rectifying internal control defects 
under which the leading offi cials of all units have 
clear responsibilities of rectifying internal control 
defects in their own units. Those responsibilities 
are also included in the internal performance 
indicators of the Company.

• The Company has establ ished an open 
channel to handle and discuss internal reports 
concerning f inance, internal control and 
embezzlement to ensure that all reports will 
receive sufficient attention and any significant 
internal control weaknesses or reports will 
directly reach the chairman of the Audit 
Committee.

• The Audit Committee, together with senior 
management and the external auditors, 
has reviewed the accounting principles and 
practices adopted by the Group and discussed 
the internal control and financial reporting 
matters. The Board has also assessed the 
effectiveness of internal controls by considering 
reviews performed by the Audit Committee, 
executive management and both internal and 
external auditors.

• The Company formally adopted COSO-ERM 
framework in 2007 as a guidance for its risk 
management, and made a reference to the 
“Basic Standard for Enterprise Internal Control” 
and its ancillary guidelines which were issued 
by PRC regulatory authorities so that suffi cient 
attention and monitoring will be paid to all key 
business risks of the Company. The Company 
will continue to improve such systems to 
enhance its corporate governance.

C.3 Audit Committee
Principle: “The board should establish formal and 
transparent arrangements to consider how it will apply 
fi nancial reporting and internal control principles and 
maintain an appropriate relationship with the issuer’s 
auditors. The audit committee established under the 
Listing Rules should have clear terms of reference.”

• The Audit  Committee consists of  three 
Independent Non-executive Directors, with Mr. 
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius as the Audit Committee 
financial expert for the purposes of U.S. 
securities laws and chairman of the Audit 
Committee. A list of members of the Audit 
Committee is set out under the section headed 
“Company Information” on page 135 of the 
annual report.

• The Audit Committee meets at least twice 
a year and is responsible for reviewing the 
completeness, accuracy and fairness of 
the Company’s accounts, evaluating the 
Company’s auditing scope (both internal and 
external) and procedures as well as its internal 
control systems.
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• The Audit Committee is also responsible 
for overseeing the operation of the internal 
monitoring systems so as to ensure that the 
Board is able to monitor the Company’s overall 
financial position, to protect the Company’s 
assets, and to prevent major errors or omissions 
resulting from financial reporting. The Audit 
Committee also meets at least twice a year with 
our external auditors.

• The fol lowing is a summary of the work 
performed by the Audit Committee under its 
charter during the year:

— Rev iewed the Company’s  aud i ted 
accounts and results announcement 
before they are tabled to the Board for 
approval, and discussed with senior 
management and the external auditors 
over such accounts;

— The Aud i t  Commit tee  he ld  fo rma l 
meetings with the external auditors and 
senior management of the Company at 
least twice a year to discuss the following 
matters:

(i) the external auditors’ engagement 
letter and general scope of their 
audit work, including planning and 
staffi ng of the audit;

(ii) the  Company ’s  management 
discussion and analysis disclosures 
in the interim report and annual 
report of the Company; and

(iii) t h e  a p p l i c a b l e  a c c o u n t i n g 
standards relating to the audit of the 
Company’s financial statements, 
including any recent changes;

— In addition to formal meetings arranged 
by the Company, members of the Audit 
Committee were also given direct access 
to the external auditors and have frequent 
contacts with the external auditors to 
discuss issues from time to time;

— Conducted a review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal controls of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, including 
financial, operational and compliance 
controls, as well as risk management 
aspects of internal controls, and made 
recommendations to the Board based on 
the review;

— Discussed with senior management of 
the Company ways of improving and 
strengthening the scope, adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls, including corporate accounting 
and financial controls, both under the 
Listing Rules as well as under relevant US 
requirements;

— Made recommendat ions to  sen ior 
management and the Board on the scope 
and quality of management’s ongoing 
monitoring of risks and issues relevant to 
internal controls;

— Reviewed the work performed by the 
Company’s external auditors and their 
relationship with the Company’s senior 
management, and recommended to the 
Board the re-appointment of Ernst & 
Young as external auditors, as well as the 
proposed auditors’ fees;

— Reviewed and approved the Company’s 
audit and non-audit pre-approval policy 
to ensure auditors’ independence;

— Members of the Audit Committee received 
materials from the Company’s external 
auditors from time to time in order to keep 
abreast of changes in financial reporting 
principles and practices, as well as issues 
relating to fi nancial reporting and internal 
controls relevant to the Company;

— Considered and approved the non-audit 
services provided by the external auditors 
during the year;

— Reviewed the Company’s business 
ethics and compliance policies, related 
reports and training programs and made 
recommendation for improvement;

— Reported on its fi ndings and suggestions 
to the Board fol lowing its review of 
different aspects of the Company’s 
financial reporting and internal control 
s y s t e m s ,  a n d  m a d e  a p p r o p r i a t e 
recommendations where necessary; and

— Reviewed the arrangements by which 
employees of the Company can use, 
in confidence, to raise concerns about 
poss ib le  impropr iet ies in  f inanc ia l 
reporting, internal control or other matters 
and ensure that proper arrangements 
are in place for fair and independent 
investigation and for appropriate follow-up 
actions.
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• Full minutes of the Audit Committee meetings 
are kept by the Joint Company Secretaries. 
Draft and fi nal versions of minutes of the Audit 
Committee meetings are sent to all members 
of the Audit Committee for their comments and 
records respectively, in both cases within a 
reasonable time after the meetings.

• The Audit Committee is provided with suffi cient 
resources, including independent access to and 
advice from external auditors.

Attendance of individual members at Audit Committee 
meetings in 2011

 No. of Meeting attended 
Independent (4 meetings in total)
Non-executive  by committee 
Directors member by alternate

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 
 (Chairman and Financial Expert) 4 0
Chiu Sung Hong 4 0
Lawrence J. Lau 4 0

D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

D.1 Management functions
Principle: “An issuer should have a formal schedule of 
matters specifi cally reserved for board approval. The 
board should give clear directions to management 
on the matters that must be approved by it before 
decisions are made on the issuer’s behalf.”

• The Board is the ultimate decision-making 
body of the Company, other than those matters 
reserved to shareholders of the Company. 
The Board oversees and provides strategic 
guidance to senior management in order to 
enhance the long-term value of the Company 
for its shareholders. The Board delegates its 
management and administration functions to 
management and gives clear directions as to 
the powers of management at the same time, 
in particular, with respect to the circumstances 
where management should report back 
and obtain prior approval from the Board 
before making decisions or entering into any 
commitments on the Company’s behalf of the 
Company.

• The day-to-day management is conducted 
by senior management and employees of the 
Company, under the direction of the CEO 
and the oversight of the Board. In addition 
to its general oversight of the management, 
the Board also performs a number of specific 
funct ions. The Company formal ises the 
functions reserved to the Board and those 
delegated to management and reviews those 
arrangements periodically to ensure that they 
remain appropriate to the Company’s needs.

• The primary functions performed by the Board 
include:

(i) Reviewing and approving long-term 
strategic plans and annual operating 
plans, and monitoring the implementation 
and execution of those plans;

(ii) Reviewing and approving significant 
financial and business transactions and 
other major corporate actions; and

(iii) Reviewing and approving f inancia l 
statements and reports, and overseeing 
the establishment and maintenance of 
controls, processes and procedures to 
ensure accuracy, integrity and clarity in 
fi nancial and other disclosures.

• The Board and the senior management have 
respective responsibilities, accountabilities and 
contributions. The primary functions performed 
by the senior management are to conduct 
the daily business and implement the above-
mentioned affairs approved and delegated by 
the Board and other matters as the Board may 
from time to time request.  

• Following the adoption of the New CG Code, 
the Directors wil l review such delegation 
arrangements periodically to ensure they remain 
appropriate to our needs.

• Directors clear ly understand delegat ion 
arrangements in place. The Company has 
formal letters of appointment for directors 
setting out the key terms and conditions of their 
appointment.

D.2 & D.3 Board Committees & Corporate 
 Governance Functions

Principle: “Board committees should be formed with 
specifi c written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with their authority and duties.”

• The Company has establ ished an Audit 
Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a 
Nomination Committee (each a “Committee”) 
and has estab l ished a spec i f ic  wr i t ten 
committee charter (the “Charter”) which 
deal clearly with its authority and duties. The 
Charters of the Committees are published on 
the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
and the Company. These Committees will 
report to the Board on their decisions and 
recommendations.

• The Board has delegated the responsibility 
for performing certain corporate governance 
related duties and functions to the Audit 
Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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• The Aud i t  Commi t tee  sha l l  rev iew the 
Company’s business ethics and compliance 
policies, related reports and training programs 
as appropriate and shall also be responsible for 
performing the corporate governance duties set 
out below:

(i) Developing and reviewing the Company’s 
policies and practices on corporate 
governance and make recommendations 
to the board;

(ii) Reviewing and monitoring the Company’s 
policies and practices on compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements and 
make recommendations to the Board in 
that regard;

(iii) Developing, reviewing and monitoring the 
Code of Ethics for Directors and Senior 
Officers and make recommendations to 
the Board in that regard; and

(iv) Reviewing the Company’s compliance 
with the Corporate Governance Code and 
disclosure in the Corporate Governance 
Report and make recommendations to 
the Board in that regard.

• The Nomination Committee shall be responsible 
for reviewing and monitoring the training 
and continuous professional development of 
directors and senior management and make 
recommendations to the Board in that regard.

E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

E.1 Effective communication
Principle: “The board should be responsible for 
maintaining an on-going dialogue with shareholders 
and in particular, use annual general meetings or other 
general meetings to communicate with them and 
encourage their participation.”

• The Board recognizes the importance of 
good and effective communication with all 
shareholders. With a policy of being transparent, 
strengthening investor relations, and providing 
consistent and stable returns to shareholders, 
the Company seeks to ensure transparency 
through establishing and maintaining different 
communication channels with shareholders.

• The Company has a professionally-run investor 
relations department to serve as an important 
communication channel between the Company 
and its shareholders and other investors.

• A key element of effective communication 
with shareholders and investors is prompt and 
timely dissemination of information in relation 
to the Company. In addition to announcing its 
interim and annual results to shareholders and 
investors, the Company also publicises its major 
business developments and activities through 
press releases, announcements and the 
Company’s website in accordance with relevant 
rules and regulations. Press conferences and 
analyst briefi ngs are held from time to time on 
fi nancial performance and major transactions.

• The annual general meeting also provides a 
useful forum for shareholders to exchange views 
with the Board. The Chairman of the Board, 
as well as Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee, or in their absence, members of 
the respective Committees, and the external 
auditors of the Company, are available to 
answer questions from shareholders at annual 
general meetings and extraordinary general 
meetings of the Company.

• The Chairmen of the Board and all Committees, 
or in his absence an alternate appointed by 
him will, whenever possible, propose separate 
resolutions for each substantially separate issue 
at general meetings of the Company.

• The Company’s management ensures the 
external auditor attend the annual general 
meeting to answer questions about the conduct 
of the audit, the preparation and content of the 
auditors’ report, the accounting policies and 
auditor independence.

• The Board establ ished a shareholders’ 
communication policy and review it on a regular 
basis to ensure its effectiveness.

E.2 Voting by Poll
Principle: “The issuer should ensure that shareholders 
are fami l iar with the detai led procedures for 
conducting a poll.”

• In 2011, all votes of shareholders at the general 
meeting of the Company were taken by poll 
or otherwise in accordance with the Listing 
Rules. The Chairman of a meeting ensured that 
shareholders were familiar with the procedures 
of voting by poll in the general meeting of the 
Company.

• The results of the poll are published on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the 
Company’s website.
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F. Company Secretary
Principle: “The company secretary plays an important 
role in supporting the board by ensuring good 
information fl ow within the board and that board policy 
and procedures are followed. The company secretary 
is responsible for advising the board through the 
chairman and/or the chief executive on governance 
matters and should also facilitate induction and 
professional development of directors.”

• During 2011, Mr. Jiang Yongzhi and Ms. Tsue 
Sik Yu, May acted as the Joint Company 
Secretaries of the Company. On 22 March 
2012, Mr. Jiang Yongzhi resigned as Joint 
Company Secretary and Mr. Zhong Hua was 
appointed as Joint Company Secretary of the 
Company with effect from the same day. The 
biographies of Mr. Zhong Hua, Ms. Tsue Sik Yu, 
May and Mr. Jiang Yongzhi are set out on page 
45 of this report. The Nomination Committee 
of the Company has the responsibility to make 
recommendation for suitable candidates for the 
appointment of company secretary to the Board 
and the Board has the responsibility to approve 
their selection, appointment or dismissal by 
physical meeting of the Board.

• The Joint Company Secretary will report to 
Chairman of the Board and/or the CEO.

• Following the adoption of the New CG Code, 
each of the Joint Company Secretaries will take 
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training.

• All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Joint Company Secretaries to 
ensure that Board procedures as well as all 
applicable rules and regulations are followed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION AND 
RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY 
GENERAL MEETING

The procedures for  shareholders to convene an 
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company (“EGM”) 
are governed by Article 60 of the Articles and section 113 
of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong). On the requisition of shareholders of the Company 
holding at the date of lodgement of the requisition not less 
than one twentieth of such of the paid-up share capital of 
the Company as at the date of lodgement carries the right of 
voting at general meetings, the Directors must proceed duly 
to convene an EGM.

The requisition must state the objectives (which must be 
capable of being effectively achieved) of the meeting, be 
signed by the shareholders who propose to convene the 
meeting, and be lodged at the registered office of the 
Company. The Directors must thereafter within 21 days from 
the lodgement of the requisition proceed duly to convene a 
meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date on 
which the notice convening the meeting is given.

Whilst giving the above requisition, shareholders are 
recommended to provide written explanation of the reasons 
and material implications relating to the proposed resolution 
to enable all of the shareholders to properly consider and 
determine the proposed resolution.

The Company will, upon receipt of a properly lodged 
requisition referred to above, issue a notice of extraordinary 
general meeting of the proposed resolutions and (if 
applicable) circulars containing further information relating 
to the proposed resolution in accordance with the Listing 
Rules.

Further enquiries relating to the above or enquiries that 
Shareholders wish to be put to the Board may be addressed 
to the Joint Company Secretaries of the Company at 65/F, 
Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the provisions of the 
CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules 
throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, except 
for deviation from provision A.4.1 only. The following 
summarises the requirement under the relevant CG Code 
provision and the Company’s reasons for such deviation.

CG Code Provision A.4.1
Under CG Code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors 
should be appointed for a specifi c term and be subject to re-
election.

None of the existing Independent Non-executive Directors 
of the Company is appointed for a specific term. This 
constitutes a deviation from the CG Code provision A.4.1. 
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement 
provisions under article 97 of the Articles of Association of 
the Company (“Article 97”). According to Article 97, one-
third of the Directors for the time being must retire from 
the office by rotation at each annual general meeting. 
The Company has observed the need for good corporate 
governance practices. All Independent Non-executive 
Directors of the Company have retired from the office by 
rotation and have been re-elected in the past three years. 
The Company considers that suffi cient measures have been 
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance 
practices are no less exacting than those in the CG Code.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2011, there were 
following changes in Directors and senior management.

On 15 April 2011, Mr. Fu Chengyu resigned as Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and Non-executive Director of the 
Company and Mr. Wang Yilin was appointed as Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and Non-executive Director of the 
Company with effect from the same day.

On 3 November 2011, Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng resigned as 
independent non-executive director and a member of the 
nomination committee of the Company due to personal 
health reason.

On 23 November 2011, Mr. Yang Hua resigned as CEO 
of the Company and was re-designated from an Executive 
Director to a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. 
Yang continues to serve as the Vice Chairman of the Board. 
Mr. Li Fanrong was appointed as CEO of the Company on 
the same day.

On 22 March 2012, Mr. Jiang Yongzhi resigned as Joint 
Company Secretary and Mr. Zhong Hua, the Chief Financial 
Offi cer, was appointed as Joint Company Secretary of the 
Company with effect from the same day.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, there is no 
any other change in information of Directors of the Company 
except the disclosures in this annual report.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Board adopted a Code of Ethics for Directors and 
Senior Management (“Code of Ethics”) on 28 August 
2003 to provide guidelines to the senior management 
and Directors in legal and ethical matters as well as the 
sensitivities involved in reporting illegal and unethical 
matters. The Code of Ethics covers such areas as 
supervisory rules, insider dealing, market malpractices, 
confl ict of interests, company opportunities, protection and 
proper use of the Company’s assets as well as reporting 
requirements. As part of its continued efforts to improve its 
corporate governance standards, the Board conducted an 
annual review to the Code of Ethics since 2009, and the 
current version of the Code of Ethics was reviewed and 
adopted in August 2011.

The Company has provided all its Directors and senior 
offi cers with a copy of the Code of Ethics and requires them 
to comply with the Code of Ethics, so as to ensure the 
Company’s operation is proper and lawful. The Company 
will take disciplinary actions towards any act which is in 
breach of the Code of Ethics. All the senior management 
members and Directors are required to famil iarise 
themselves with and follow the Code of Ethics to ensure that 
the Company’s operations are honest and legal. Violations 
of the rules will be penalized and serious breaches will result 
in dismissal.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES 
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED 
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the above-mentioned Code 
of Ethics which has incorporated the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing 
Rules. The Company has made specifi c enquiries to all of 
the Directors, and all Directors have confirmed that they 
complied, during the year ended 31 December 2011, with 
the required standards set out in the Model Code.

SERVICES AND REMUNERATION OF 
AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed and engaged as the 
Company’s auditors (“Auditors”) for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2011. Services provided by the Auditors and 
fees charged by the Auditors for the services are as follows:

Audit Fees
The aggregate fees bil led for professional services 
rendered by the Auditors for the audit of the Company’s 
annual financial statements or services that are normally 
provided by the Auditors in connection with statutory and 
regulatory filings or engagements were RMB17.67 million 
(approximately US$2.61 million) for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2010 and RMB19.31 million (approximately 
US$3.06 million) for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2011.



Corporate Governance Report

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 201138

Audit-related Fees
The aggregate fees billed for assurance and related 
services by the Auditors that are reasonably related to 
the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s 
financial statements and are not reported under “Audit 
Fees” were RMB1.64 million (approximately US$0.24 
million) for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010 and 
approximately RMB0.68 million (approximately US$0.11 
million) for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

Tax Fees
The aggregate fees billed for professional service rendered 
by the Auditors for tax compliance, tax advice and tax 
planning were RMB0.41 million (approximately US$0.06 
million) for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010 and 
RMB0.72 million (approximately US$0.11 million) for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

All Other Fees
The aggregate fees billed for professional service rendered 
by the Auditors for risk management advisory services, 
and information systems reviews were RMB0.42 million 
(approximately US$0.06 million) for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2010 and RMB1.25 million (approximately 
US$0.20 million) for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2011.

There are no other fees payable to the Auditors for products 
and/or services provided by the Auditors, other than the 
services reported above, for the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 and for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 303A.11 OF THE 
NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE LISTED 
COMPANY MANUAL

The Company is incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong 
and the principal trading market for the ordinary shares of 
the Company is The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. 
In addition, because the Company’s ordinary shares are 
registered with the United Sates Securities and Exchange 
Commission and are listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange (the “NYSE”), the Company is subject to certain 
corporate governance requirements. However, many of the 
corporate governance rules in the NYSE Listed Company 
Manual (the “NYSE Standards”) do not apply to the 
Company as a “foreign private issuer” and the Company is 
permitted to follow its home country corporate governance 
practices in lieu of most corporate governance standards 
contained in the NYSE Standards. Section 303A.11 
of the NYSE Listed Company Manual requires NYSE-
listed foreign private issuers to describe the significant 
differences between their corporate governance practices 
and the corporate governance standards applicable to U.S. 
companies listed on the NYSE. The Company has posted a 
brief summary of such signifi cant differences on its website, 
which may be accessed through the following web page:

http://www.cnoocltd.com/encnoocltd/gsgz/socg/default.
shtml
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Executive Directors

1 Li Fanrong

2 Wu Guangqi

Non-executive Directors

3 Wang Yilin (Chairman)

4 Yang Hua (Vice Chairman)

5 Zhou Shouwei

6 Wu Zhenfang

Independent Non-executive Directors

7 Chiu Sung Hong

8 Lawrence J. Lau

9 Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

10 Wang Tao
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Fanrong
Born in 1963, Mr. Li is a professor-level senior engineer. 
He obtained a B.S. degree majoring in oil production from 
Jiang Han Petroleum Institute (now Yangtze University) 
in China in 1984, and received an MBA degree from the 
Business School of Cardiff University in United Kingdom 
in July 2003. Mr. Li has been working in the oil and gas 
industry in China for more than 28 years. He joined China 
National Offshore Oil Corporation (the “CNOOC”) in 1984. 
From 1984 to 1989, he was a Petroleum Engineer in Nanhai 
East Oil Corporation of CNOOC. From 1989 to 2001, he 
worked as Offshore Platform Supervisor in Huizhou Oil Field 
for ACT (AGIP-Chevron-Texaco) Operators Group, later 
as Production Manager in Liuhua Oil Field Joint Operating 
Group with Amoco Orient Company, and Assistant to 
President of CNOOC China Limited Shenzhen Branch 
and Managing Director of Lufeng 22-1 Oil Field Joint 
Operating Group with Statoil (Orient) Inc. From January 
2002 to November 2005, Mr. Li worked as Vice President 
of CNOOC China Limited Shenzhen Branch and Chief 
Representative of Joint Management Committee in CACT 
(CNOOC-AGIP-Chevron-Texaco) Operators Group. From 
November 2005 to February 2007, he worked as General 
Manager of Development and Production Department of 
the Company. From February 2007 to January 2009, he 
worked as President of CNOOC China Limited Shenzhen 
Branch. From January 2009 to April 2010, he served as 
an Assistant President of CNOOC. Mr. Li has worked as 
President of CNOOC Energy Technology & Services Limited 
since February 2009, and has served as Vice President of 
CNOOC since May 2010. Mr. Li was appointed as President 
of the Company with effect from 16 September 2010. 
He also serves as a Director of CNOOC China Limited 
and CNOOC International Limited, and Chairman and 
Director of CNOOC Southeast Asia Limited and CNOOC 
Deepwater Development Limited, all being subsidiaries of 
the Company. Mr. Li was appointed as a Non-executive 
Director of the Company with effect from 24 May 2010 and 
was re-designated from Non-executive Director to Executive 
Director with effect from 16 September 2010. He was 
appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company with 
effect from 23 November 2011.

Wu Guangqi
Born in 1957, Mr. Wu is a geologist, professor-level senior 
economist and Certified Senior Enterprise Risk Manager and 
graduated with a B.S. degree from the Ocean University 
of China, majoring in Marine Geology. He also holds a 
master degree in Management from China University of 
Petroleum and a doctor degree in Management from 
Huazhong University of Science and Technology. Mr. Wu 
joined CNOOC in 1982. From 1994 to 2001, he served 
as the Deputy General Manager of CNOOC Oil Technical 
Services Company, a subsidiary of CNOOC, the Director of 
the Administration Department of CNOOC and the Director 
of the Ideology Affairs Department of CNOOC successively. 
Mr. Wu was appointed as an Assistant President of CNOOC 

in 2003, and has been the Vice President of CNOOC since 
2004. Mr. Wu also served as an Independent Non-executive 
Director of China Yangtze Power Limited, a company listed 
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from May 2003 to July 
2010, and the Compliance Officer of the Company since 
1 June 2005. Mr. Wu also serves as a Director of CNOOC 
China Limited, CNOOC International Limited and CNOOC 
Deepwater Development Limited, all being the subsidiaries 
of the Company. Mr. Wu was appointed as an Executive 
Director of the Company with effect from 1 June 2005.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wang Yilin
Born in 1956, Mr Wang is a professor-level senior engineer. 
He graduated from China University of Petroleum majoring 
in petroleum geology and exploration and received a 
doctorate degree. He has nearly 30 years of working 
experience in China’s oil and gas industry. From June 1996 
to September 1999, Mr. Wang served as the deputy director 
and chief exploration geologist of Xinjiang Petroleum 
Administration Bureau. From September 1999 to May 
2004, he served as the general manager of Xinjiang Oilfield 
Company. From June 2001 to May 2004, he served as 
the senior executive of Xinjiang Petroleum Administration 
Bureau. From July to December 2003, he served as the 
Assistant to General Manager of China National Petroleum 
Corporation (“CNPC”). From December 2003 to April 
2011, he served as the Deputy General Manager of CNPC. 
From July 2004 to July 2007, he also served as the safety 
director of CNPC. From November 2005 to 14 April 2011, 
he served as a Director of PetroChina Company Limited, 
a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock 
Exchange respectively. Since 8 April 2011, Mr. Wang serves 
as Chairman of China National Offshore Oil Corporation. 
Mr. Wang was appointed as Chairman and Non-executive 
Director of the Company with effect from 15 April 2011.

Fu Chengyu
Born in 1951, Mr. Fu received a B.S. degree in geology 
from the Northeast Petroleum Institute in China and a 
master degree in petroleum engineering from the University 
of Southern California in the United States. He has over 
31 years of experience in the oil industry in the China. He 
previously worked in China’s Daqing, Liaohe and Huabei 
oil fields. He joined CNOOC in 1982 and served as the 
Chinese Deputy Chief Representative, Chief Representative, 
Secretary to the Management Committees and Chairman of 
the Management Committees formed through joint ventures 
between CNOOC and Amoco, Chevron, Texaco, Phillips 
Petroleum, Shell and Agip, and later as the Deputy General 
Manager of CNOOC Nanhai East Corporation, a subsidiary 
of CNOOC, Vice President of Phillips Asia Inc., General 
Manager of the Xijiang Development Project, General 
Manager of CNOOC Nanhai East Corporation and Vice 
President of CNOOC. Subsequently, he became Executive 
Vice President, President and Chief Operating Officer of 
the Company in 2001. From September 2002 to August 
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2010, he served as Chairman of China Oilfield Services 
Limited (“COSL”), a company listed on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange, a 
subsidiary of CNOOC. Mr. Fu served as Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company from October 2003 to September 
2010, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of CNOOC 
China Limited from October 2003 to September 2010 and 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of CNOOC International 
Limited from August 1999 to September 2010, both 
being subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Fu was appointed 
as Chairman of the Board of the Company on October 
2003. He became the President of CNOOC in October 
2003. He also serves as Chairman of CNOOC Finance 
Corporation Limited and Zhonghai Trust Co. Ltd. Mr. Fu 
is also a Chairman of the Presidium of China Federation 
of Industrial Economics and the Vice-chairman of China 
Chamber of International Commerce. Mr. Fu was appointed 
as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 
23 August 1999 and was re-designated from Executive 
Director to Non-executive Director with effect from 16 
September 2010. Mr. Fu resigned as Chairman of the Board 
of Directors and Non-executive Director of the Company on 
15 April 2011.

Yang Hua
Born in 1961, Mr. Yang is a professor-level senior engineer 
and graduated from China University of Petroleum with a 
B.S. degree in petroleum engineering. He also received an 
MBA degree from the Sloan School of Management at MIT 
as a Sloan Fellow. Mr. Yang joined CNOOC in 1982 and 
has over 30 years of experience in petroleum exploration 
and production. From 1982 to 1992, Mr. Yang served 
in a number of positions in CNOOC Research Center 
including the Director of Field Development Department, 
the Manager of Reservoir Engineering Department and 
the Project Manager. Thereafter, Mr. Yang was mainly 
involved in international business, M&A, corporate finance 
and capital market operations in the Company and its 
subsidiaries. From 1993 to 1999, he served as the Deputy 
Chief Geologist, the Deputy Director and the Acting Director 
for Overseas Development Department of the Company 
and the Vice President of CNOOC International Limited, 
a subsidiary of the Company. In 1999, Mr. Yang became 
a Senior Vice President of the Company and served as 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company from January 
2005 to September 2010, Executive Vice President of the 
Company from October 2005 to March 2009, President 
of the Company from March 2009 to September 2010, 
and was appointed as Vice Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 
16 September 2010. Mr. Yang also served as an Assistant 
President of CNOOC from November 2006 to April 2010 
and as Vice President of CNOOC from April 2010 to 
August 2011. Mr. Yang was appointed as Director and 
President of CNOOC in August 2011. In addition, he serves 
as Chairman and Director of CNOOC China Limited and 
CNOOC International Limited, both being subsidiaries of 
the Company. He was Director and President of CNOOC 
Southeast Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, from 

2002 to 2003, General Manager of CNOOC China Limited, 
a subsidiary of the Company, from February 2009 to July 
2011, Chairman and Director of CNOOC Southeast Asia 
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, from July 2009 
to September 2010, Chairman and Director of CNOOC 
Deepwater Development Limited from January 2010 
to September 2010 and a Director of CNOOC Finance 
Corporation Limited, a subsidiary of CNOOC, from May 
2005 to December 2010. Mr. Yang was appointed as an 
Executive Director of the Company with effect from 31 
August 2005. He resigned as Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company and was re-designated from an Executive 
Director to a Non-Executive Director of the Company with 
effect from 23 November 2011.

Zhou Shouwei
Born in 1950, Mr. Zhou, a member of Chinese Academy 
of Engineering, received a doctorate degree from the 
Southwest Petroleum Institute in China majoring in 
petroleum and natural gas engineering. He joined CNOOC 
in 1982. Mr. Zhou served as the Deputy General Manager 
of CNOOC Bohai Corporation, a subsidiary of CNOOC 
and the General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Tianjin 
Branch. He was appointed as an Executive Vice President 
of the Company in September 1999 and served as the 
President of the Company from July 2002 to March 2009. 
Since 2000, Mr. Zhou has been a Vice President of CNOOC. 
He also served as a Director and the General Manager of 
CNOOC China Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. From 
October 2004 to July 2009, Mr. Zhou served as a Director of 
CNOOC International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. 
From April 2003 to July 2009, Mr. Zhou also served as the 
Chairman of CNOOC Southeast Asia Limited, a subsidiary 
of the Company. From December 2003 to December 
2010, Mr. Zhou served as the Chairman of Offshore Oil 
Engineering Co., Ltd., a listed company on the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange and a subsidiary of CNOOC. Mr. Zhou was 
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with 
effect from 23 August 1999 and was re-designated from 
Executive Director to Non-executive Director with effect 
from 31 March 2009.

Wu Zhenfang
Born in 1952, Mr. Wu is a professor-level senior engineer 
and graduated with a bachelor degree from Dalian University 
of Technology, majoring in Offshore Petroleum Engineering 
and Construction. He later received an EMBA degree from 
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Wu joined the petroleum 
industry in 1971. He joined CNOOC in 1980 when it was 
still in the pre-establishment stage. From 1993 to 2000, 
he was Deputy General Manager of CNOOC Nanhai West 
Corporation, a subsidiary of CNOOC and the President of 
CNOOC Chemical Limited, a subsidiary of CNOOC. He 
was also the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fudao 
Fertilizer Limited and CNOOC Chemical Limited, both being 
subsidiaries of CNOOC, from 2001 to 2003 and from 2003 
to 2005 respectively. From 2003 to 2004, Mr. Wu was an 
Assistant President of CNOOC and then was appointed 
as Vice President of CNOOC in August 2004. Mr. Wu 
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also served as the Chairman and President of CNOOC 
Gas and Power Group, the General Manager of CNOOC 
Oil & Petrochemicals Co., Ltd., both being subsidiaries 
of CNOOC, as well as the Chairman of a number of 
subsidiaries of CNOOC. Mr. Wu also serves as Chairman 
of CNOOC Oil & Petrochemicals Co., Ltd., CNOOC and 
Shell Petrochemical Co. Ltd and a number of subsidiaries 
of CNOOC. Mr. Wu was appointed as an Executive Director 
of the Company with effect from 31 August 2005 and was 
re-designated from Executive Director to Non-executive 
Director with effect from 1 September 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Edgar W. K. Cheng
Born in 1943, Dr. Cheng was a graduate from the University 
of Notre Dame and the Medical College of Wisconsin, USA. 
He was Clinical Associate Professor of Medicine at Cornell 
University Medical College and practiced medicine and 
conducted clinical research at the Memorial Sloan-Kettering 
Cancer Centre in New York. Dr. Cheng was a former 
Chairman of the University Grants Commission in Hong 
Kong, a former member of the Education Commission and 
former Chairman of the Council of The Chinese University 
of Hong Kong. In addition to his academic experience, 
Dr. Cheng is currently the Chairman of the World-Wide 
Investment Co. Ltd. and had been in many other financial 
market positions such as Chairman of the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong, Vice-Chairman and non-executive director of 
the Hang Seng Bank Ltd., Vice President of the International 
Federation of Stock Exchange, Founding Chairman of the 
Hong Kong Securities Institute, Chairman of the Steering 
Committee on the Feasibility Study on the Financial Services 
Institute, Member of the Board of Directors of the Hong 
Kong Futures Exchange Ltd., Member of the Conference 
Board’s Global Advisory Council, an independent non-
executive director of the Standard Chartered Bank (Hong 
Kong) Ltd., a member of the Board of Directors of the Hong 
Kong Institute for Monetary Research and an independent 
non-executive director of American International Assurance 
Co. Ltd. He was an independent non-executive director of 
Shui On Land Limited. In his other public service capacity, 
Dr. Cheng served as the Head of the Central Policy Unit 
of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region from 1999 to 2001. He was a member of the 
Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council, a member of 
the Commission on Strategic Development and Chairman 
of the Council for Sustainable Development. He is currently 
a member of the Judicial Officers Recommendation 
Commission. Dr. Cheng also plays an active role in Hong 
Kong-China affairs. He was appointed by the Chinese 
Government as a Hong Kong Affairs Advisor (1991–1997). 
He became a Member of the Preparatory Committee and 
also the Selection Committee for the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region of the National People’s Congress 
(1996-1997). At present, he is a member of the 11th 
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference National 
Committee. Dr. Cheng was appointed as an Independent 
Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 

24 May 2006. Dr. Cheng resigned as independent non-
executive director and a member of the nomination 
committee of the Company and the independent non-
executive director of Shui On Land Limited due to personal 
health reason on 3 November 2011.

Chiu Sung Hong
Born in 1947, Mr. Chiu received an LL.B. degree from the 
University of Sydney. He was admitted as a solicitor of the 
Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court 
of Australia. He has over 30 years’ experience in legal 
practice and had been a director of a listed company in 
Australia. Mr. Chiu was the founding member of the Board 
of Trustees of the Australian Nursing Home Foundation and 
served as the General Secretary of the Australian Chinese 
Community Association of New South Wales. Mr. Chiu 
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of Tianda 
Holdings Limited (formerly Yunnan Enterprises Holdings 
Limited) since April 2008, a company listed on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chiu was appointed 
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company 
with effect from 7 September 1999.

Lawrence J. Lau
Born in 1944, Professor Lau graduated with a B.S. (with 
Great Distinction) in Physics and Economics from Stanford 
University in 1964, and received his M.A. and Ph.D. degrees 
in Economics from the University of California at Berkeley 
in 1966 and 1969 respectively. He joined the faculty of 
the Department of Economics at Stanford University in 
1966, becoming Professor of Economics in 1976, the first 
Kwoh-Ting Li Professor in Economic Development in 1992, 
and Kwoh-Ting Li Professor in Economic Development, 
Emeritus in 2006. From 2004 to 2010, Professor Lau served 
as Vice-chancellor (President) of The Chinese University 
of Hong Kong. He is also concurrently Ralph and Claire 
Landau Professor of Economics at The Chinese University 
of Hong Kong. Professor Lau specializes in economic 
development, economic growth, and the economies of 
East Asia, including that of China. He has authored, co-
authored, or edited five books and published more than 
170 articles and notes in professional journals. A member 
of the 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s 
Political Consultative Conference and a Vice-Chairman of its 
Subcommittee of Population, Resources and Environment. 
Professor Lau also serves as a non-official member of the 
HKSAR Government’s Executive Council, as a member of 
the Commission on Strategic Development, the Exchange 
Fund Advisory Committee and its Currency Board and 
Governance Sub-Committees, the Greater Pearl River 
Delta Business Council and the Honours Committee, 
2011 and 2012 Non-Official Justices of the Peace (JP) 
Selection Committee and as an adviser to the Hong Kong-
Taiwan Economic and Cultural Cooperation and Promotion 
Council. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in Hong 
Kong in July 2007. He currently serves as Chairman of CIC 
International (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, Vice-Chairman of 
CITIC Capital Holdings Limited, Hong Kong, an Independent 
Non-executive Director of Semiconductor Manufacturing 



Directors and Senior Management

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 2011 43

International Corporation, Hong Kong and Far EasTone 
Telecommunications Company Limited, Taipei. Professor 
Lau was appointed as an Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company with effect from 31 August 2005.

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius
Born in 1948, Mr. Tse is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales, and the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. 
Tse is a past president and the current member of the 
Audit Committee of the HKICPA. He joined KPMG in 1976, 
became a partner in 1984 and retired in March 2003. Mr. 
Tse was a non-executive Chairman of KPMG’s operations in 
the PRC and a member of the KPMG China advisory board 
from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent 
non-executive director of China Telecom Corporation 
Limited, Wing Hang Bank Limited, Linmark Group Limited, 
SJM Holdings Limited and Sinofert Holdings Limited, 
companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited. He was an independent non-executive director of 
China Construction Bank Corporation, which is listed on 
the HKSE Main Board from 2004 to 2010. Mr. Tse is also a 
member of the International Advisory Council of the People’s 
Municipal Government of Wuhan. Mr. Tse was appointed 
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company 
with effect from 8 June 2005.

Wang Tao
Born in 1931, Mr. Wang studied at the Moscow Institute 
of Oil in the former Soviet Union from 1954 to 1963, where 
he obtained his deputy doctoral degree in Geological 
Mineralogy. Mr. Wang is the Chairman of the Chinese 
National Committee for World Petroleum Council and the 
Chairman of Chinese-Saudi Arabia Friendship Association. 
He also serves as adjunct professor and/or doctoral 
advisor in several institutions, including China University 
of Petroleum. Mr. Wang has been working in the oil and 
gas sector for more than 50 years, and served as the 
Chief Geologist in Beijing Research Institute of Petroleum 
Science, the Deputy Commander and Chief Geologist 
of the North China Oil Exploration Command Office, the 
Deputy Director-General and Chief Geologist of Liao River 
Petroleum Exploration Bureau and the Principal of the 
Preparation and Construction Office for the Pearl River 
Mouth Project in the Command Office of South China Sea 
Oil Exploration. He became the General Manager of CNOOC 
Nanhai East Corporation in June 1983, the Minister and 
Secretary of the Party Leadership Group of the Ministry of 
Petroleum Industry in June 1985 and the General Manager 
and Secretary of the Party Leadership Group of China 
National Petroleum Corporation in May 1988 successively. 
He was also a Member of the 12th, 13th and 14th Central 
Committees of the Communist Party of China, a Member 
of the Standing Committee of the 9th National People’s 
Congress and the Vice-chairman of the Environmental 
Protection and Resources Conservation Committee of the 
National People’s Congress. He also served successively 
as the Vice Chairman and Senior Vice Chairman of the 
World Petroleum Council from 1994 to 2005. Mr. Wang 

served as the Honorary Chairman and an Executive Director 
of Sino Union Energy Investment Group Limited (Formerly 
Sino Union Petroleum & Chemical International Limited), 
a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited. Mr. Wang was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 29 May 
2008.

OTHER MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Yuan Guangyu
Born in 1959, Mr. Yuan is an Executive Vice President of the 
Company, responsible for the operation safety, engineering 
and construction, and drilling and completion. Mr. Yuan is 
a senior engineer. He graduated from China University of 
Petroleum with a bachelor’s degree in drilling engineering. 
He obtained a master degree from the Capital University 
of Economics and Business in 2001. He graduated from 
the CEO Class and the EMBA program of China Europe 
International Business School in 2004 and 2007 respectively 
with an MBA degree. With over 30 years of experience 
in the oil and gas industry, Mr. Yuan joined CNOOC in 
1982, having served as Deputy Manager of CNOOC Bohai 
Drilling Company, Deputy General Manager of CNOOC 
China Offshore Oil Northern Drilling Company, Deputy 
General Manager of Operational Department of CNOOC, 
General Manager of CNOOC China Offshore Oil Northern 
Drilling Company, Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
General Manager of CNOOC Services, and Vice Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, Executive Director, Chief 
Executive Officer and President of COSL. Mr. Yuan also 
serves as the Director of CNOOC China Limited, CNOOC 
International Limited, CNOOC Southeast Asia Ltd. and 
CNOOC Deepwater Development Limited, all being the 
subsidiaries of the Company. In November 2006, Mr. Yuan 
was appointed as the Assistant President of CNOOC. In 
March 2009, Mr. Yuan was appointed as the Executive Vice 
President of the Company.

Zhu Weilin
Born in 1956, Mr. Zhu is the Chief Geologist of CNOOC, 
Executive Vice President of the Company and General 
Manager of Exploration Department of the Company. 
Mr. Zhu graduated from Shanghai Tongji University with 
a Ph.D. degree. Mr. Zhu joined CNOOC in 1982. Prior 
to 1999, he conducted researches in CNOOC Research 
Center and served as the Deputy Director and Director 
of the Research Department and Deputy Chief Geologist 
and Chief Geologist of the Research Center. From 1999 to 
2007, Mr. Zhu served as the Deputy Manager of Exploration 
Department of CNOOC, Deputy General Manager and 
General Manager of Exploration Department of the 
Company, General Manager of CNOOC China Limited 
Zhanjiang Branch and Vice President of the Company. Mr. 
Zhu also serves as the Director of CNOOC China Limited 
and CNOOC Deepwater Development Limited, both being 
the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhu has spent a long 
time in exploration research and management of oil and 
natural gas in offshore China. He was granted the Special 
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Subsidies from the government, nominated as candidate for 
the “National Hundred, Thousand, and Ten Thousand Talent 
Project”, named as an Excellent Science and Technology 
Worker of the Nation and awarded the Li Siguang Award 
for Geosciences, the highest tribute in geosciences awards 
level. In August 2007, Mr. Zhu was appointed as the Chief 
Geologist of CNOOC and Executive Vice President of the 
Company, responsible for the Company’s oil and gas 
exploration operations.

Zhao Liguo
Born in 1953, Mr. Zhao is the General Counsel of the 
Company. He graduated from the Faculty of Law, Peking 
University in 1983 with a bachelor of laws’ degree. In 
1988, he studied at the Law School of Niigata University 
in Japan for a year. Mr. Zhao joined CNOOC in 1983. 
He served as Head of Contract Negotiation Division, 
Deputy General Manager and General Manager of Legal 
Department of CNOOC. At present, he serves as the 
General Counsel of CNOOC and the Company. Mr. Zhao 
was granted PRC lawyer qualification in 1985 and corporate 
counsel qualification in 1998. He is an arbitrator of China 
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission 
and a member of  the China Mar i t ime Arbi t rat ion 
Commission. Mr. Zhao also serves as the Director of 
CNOOC China Limited and CNOOC International Limited, 
both being the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhao was 
appointed as the General Counsel of the Company effective 
June 2008.

Chen Bi
Born in 1961, Mr. Chen is an Executive Vice President of the 
Company and is responsible for development, production 
and sales of the Company. Mr. Chen is a professor-
level senior engineer. He graduated from the Southwest 
Petroleum University and received a bachelor degree in 
oil production. He received a master degree of petroleum 
engineering from Edinburgh Heriot-Watt University in 1988, 
an MBA degree from Tsinghua University in 2000 and an 
honorary doctoral degree in petroleum engineering from 
Edinburgh Heriot-Watt University in 2010. Mr. Chen joined 
CNOOC in 1982 and has over 30 years of experience 
in the oil and natural gas industry. He served as the 
Deputy Manager of CNOOC Nanhai West Corporation 
Oil Production Company, Director of Production Section, 
Deputy Manager and General Manager of Development 
and Production Department of the Company, and General 
Manager of CNOOC China Limited Tianjin Branch. Mr. 
Chen also serves as the Director of CNOOC China Limited, 
CNOOC International Limited and CNOOC Deepwater 
Development Limited, all being the subsidiaries of the 
Company. In December 2005, Mr. Chen was appointed as 
Vice President of the Company and General Manager of 
CNOOC China Limited Tianjin Branch. In March 2009, Mr. 
Chen was appointed as the Executive Vice President of the 
Company.

Chen Wei
Born in 1958, Mr. Chen is a Senior Vice President of the 
Company and the General Director of CNOOC Research 
Institute (formerly CNOOC Research Center). He is a 
professor-level senior engineer. He received his B.S. 
degree from China University of Petroleum and MBA from 
Tsinghua University. He has around 30 years of experience 
in the oil and gas industry. Mr. Chen joined CNOOC in 
1984 and previously served as the Deputy Manager for 
the Development Department, the Deputy Manager of 
the Overseas Research Department, the Manager of 
the Information Department, and the Deputy Director of 
CNOOC Research Center. He has also served as General 
Manager of Human Resources Department and Science 
and Technology Development of CNOOC, and the Senior 
Vice President of the Company and General Manager 
of Administration Department of the Company. In July 
2003, Mr. Chen was appointed as the Director of CNOOC 
Research Center (later became President of CNOOC 
Research Institute).

Zhang Guohua
Born in 1960, Mr. Zhang is a Senior Vice President of the 
Company and the General Manager of CNOOC China 
Limited Shanghai Branch. He is a professor-level senior 
engineer. He graduated from Shandong Oceanographic 
Institute (now Ocean University of China) with a bachelor 
degree. He studied in the Business Institute of University 
of Alberta in Canada in 2001. He joined CNOOC in 1982 
and served as Deputy Chief Geologist and Manager 
of Exploration Department of CNOOC Naihai West 
Corporation, a subsidiary of CNOOC, Chief Geologist of 
CNOOC Research Center, Assistant to General Manager 
of CNOOC China Limited and the General Manager of 
Exploration Department of the Company. In October 2005, 
Mr. Zhang was appointed as General Manager of CNOOC 
China Limited Shanghai Branch.

Zhong Hua
Born in 1960, Mr. Zhong is Chief Financial Officer and Joint 
Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Zhong is a senior 
engineer and graduated from Southwest Petroleum Institute 
with a bachelor’s degree in Oil Exploitation. He received a 
master’s degree in Petroleum Engineering from Heriot-Watt 
University in the United Kingdom in 1988. He joined CNOOC 
in 1982, and has been working in the oil and gas industry 
for over 30 years. From 1982 to 1999, Mr. Zhong served 
as Petroleum Engineer, Expro Northsea Staff in UK, Deputy 
Manager of Downhole Services Company, Manager of Wei 
10-3 Oilfield, Oilfield Superintendent of CNOOC Indonesia 
Project, Supervisor of Ya 21-1-3 HTHP Well Testing Project, 
Deputy Manager of Drilling and Exploitation Institute, 
Manager of Science and Technology Department and 
Manager of Administration Department of China Offshore Oil 
Nanhai West Corporation. From September 1999 to August 
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2005, Mr. Zhong was General Manager of Administration 
Department and General Manager of Development and 
Planning Department of CNOOC Ltd. From August 2005 
to September 2010, Mr. Zhong served as Vice President, 
Executive Vice President, Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer of COSL. On 16 September 2010, 
Mr. Zhong was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company. On 22 March 2012, Mr. Zhong was appointed as 
a Joint Company Secretary of the Company.

Fang Zhi
Born in 1962, Mr. Fang is a Vice President of the Company 
and the General Manager of CNOOC International Limited 
and is responsible for the Company’s International 
affairs. He graduated from Zhejiang University with a 
bachelor degree in science and received a MBA degree 
from University of Birmingham in 1995. Mr. Fang joined 
CNOOC in 1982. He served as Deputy Director of the 
Research Center of CNOOC Nanhai East Corporation, 
Deputy General Manager of CNOOC-AMOCO Liuhua Joint 
Operating Group, Manager and Deputy General Manager 
of Exploration and Development Department of CNOOC 
Nanhai East Corporation, the General Manager of CNOOC 
China Limited Shenzhen Branch, and the President of 
CNOOC Southeast Asia Ltd. Mr. Fang also serves as the 
Director of CNOOC International Limited and CNOOC 
Southeast Asia Ltd., both being the subsidiaries of the 
Company. In October 2005, Mr. Fang was appointed as 
the Vice President of the Company. In April 2009, Mr. Fang 
was appointed as General Manager of CNOOC International 
Limited. In December 2011, Mr. Fang was appointed 
as Vice President and General Manager of International 
Cooperation Department of the Company and General 
Manager of CNOOC International Limited. Mr. Fang also 
serves as the head of the Foreign Affairs Bureau of CNOOC.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Zhong Hua
Please refer to the biography of Mr. Zhong on page 44 for 
details.

Jiang Yongzhi
Born in 1973, Mr. Jiang was the Joint Company Secretary 
of the Company. He is a CFA Charterholder and qualified 
PRC lawyer. In 1995, Mr. Jiang graduated from China 
University of Political Science and Law with a bachelor of 

laws degree majoring in International Economic Law. In 
1997, he completed his study in Mattei School (“La Scuola 
Superiore della’ Mattei”) in Milan, Italy with a Master degree 
in Energy and Environmental Management and Economics, 
majoring in Management of Energy Company. In 2003, he 
obtained his MBA degree from Kelley School of Business, 
Indiana University in United States of America, majoring in 
Finance and Accounting. From 1995 to 2001, Mr. Jiang 
worked in China National Petroleum Corporation and then 
in Petrochina Company Limited as a legal counsel for the 
international business. Mr. Jiang joined the Company in 
2003. He firstly served as the Senior Supervisor of Mergers 
& Acquisitions in the Controllers Department, then as the 
Commercial Manager in CNOOC International Limited, 
a subsidiary of the Company, and as the Assistant Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company from 2007 to 2009. 
Mr. Jiang serves as the General Manager of the Investor 
Relations Department and Director of the Office for the 
Board of Directors of the Company since 14 December 
2009. Mr. Jiang was appointed as the Joint Company 
Secretary of the Company with effect from 29 January 2010. 
Mr. Jiang resigned as a Joint Company Secretary of the 
Company on 22 March 2012.

Tsue Sik Yu, May
Born in 1973, Ms. Tsue Sik Yu, May is the Joint Company 
Secretary of the Company. She graduated from Curtin 
University of Technology in Australia with a bachelor 
of commerce in accounting. Ms. Tsue furthered her 
education at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 
Master of Corporate Governance from 2004 to 2006. She 
is an associate member of both the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries since 2007. Furthermore, she 
is also a fellow member and certified risk trainer of the 
Institute of Crisis and Risk Management and an associate 
member of CPA Australia. From August 1998 to March 
1999, Ms. Tsue worked in LG International (HK) Ltd. as a 
senior accounts clerk. Ms. Tsue joined China Ocean Oilfield 
Services (HK) Limited in 1999 as an accountant. She helped 
to manage the finance of the CNOOC Insurance Limited 
since 2000 and became its employee in 2004 as a manager 
of finance department. She serves as company secretary 
of CNOOC Insurance Limited since March 2007. Ms. Tsue 
was appointed as Joint Company Secretary of the Company 
with effect from 25 November 2008.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company are pleased 
to present their report together with the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding 
of its subsidiaries. These subsidiaries are principally 
engaged in the exploration, development, production and 
sales of crude oil and natural gas and other petroleum 
products.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND 
OPERATING RESULTS

Please refer to the financial summary on page 2 for a 
summary of the assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 
December 2011 and the operating results of the Group for 
the year then ended.

LOANS

Please refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 101 to 102 for details of the loans and 
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2011.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Please refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 93 to 94 for net movements in 
property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2011.

RESERVES

The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 
December 2011, as calculated under Section 79B of the 
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong), 
amounted to RMB35,664 million.

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 63 and note 30 to the consolidated fi nancial 
statements on page 106 for movements in the reserves 
of the Group and the Company, respectively, for the year 
ended 31 December 2011.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-
CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and 
jointly-controlled entities as at 31 December 2011 are set 
out in notes 18, 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 95 to 99.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.25 (tax inclusive) per share was 
declared on 24 August 2011, and paid to the shareholders 
of the Company on 30 September 2011.

The Board recommended a payment of a final dividend 
of HK$0.28 (tax inclusive) per share for the year ended 
31 December 2011, payable on 28 June 2012 to all 
shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 
6 June 2012 subject to shareholders’ approval.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Please refer to note 32 to the consolidated financial 
statements on page 110 for details of the retirement benefi ts 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

Purchases from the largest supplier of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2011 represented approximately 
17% of the Group’s total purchases. The total purchases 
attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group 
accounted for approximately 43% of the total purchases of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Sales to the largest customer for the year ended 31 
December 2011 represented approximately 22% of the 
Group’s total revenue. The total sales attributable to 
the five largest customers of the Group accounted for 
approximately 39% of the Group’s total revenue for the year 
ended 31 December 2011.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, except for 
the continuing connected transactions with its indirect 
controlling shareholder CNOOC and its associates, as 
disclosed in the section entitled “Connected Transactions” 
below, none of the Directors or their respective associates 
or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge 
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s 
share capital) had any interests in the fi ve largest suppliers or 
customers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Please refer to page 22 of the annual report for information 
concerning the donations by the Group during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Independent Non-executive Directors have confi rmed 
that the following continuing connected transactions for the 
year ended 31 December 2011 to which any member of the 
Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

2. either (a) on normal commercial terms, or (b) if there 
was no available comparison, on terms no less 
favourable to the Group than those available from 
independent third parties; and



Report of the Directors

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 2011 47

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement governing 
them and on terms that were fair and reasonable and 
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders 
as a whole.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have further 
confi rmed that for the year ended 31 December 2011:

(i) Provision of exploration, oil and gas development, 
oi l  and gas production as well as marketing, 
management and ancillary services by CNOOC and/or 
its associates to the Group:

(a) The aggregate annual volume of transactions for 
the provision of exploration and support services 
did not exceed RMB6,676 million.

(b) The aggregate annual volume of transactions 
for the provision of oil and gas development and 
support services did not exceed RMB24,067 
million.

(c) The aggregate annual volume of transactions 
for the provision of oil and gas production and 
support services did not exceed RMB8,228 
million.

(d) The aggregate annual volume of transactions 
for the provision of marketing, management 
and ancillary services did not exceed RMB821 
million.

(e) The aggregate annual volume of transactions for 
FPSO vessel leases did not exceed RMB1,401 
million.

(ii) The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the 
provision of management, technical, facilities and 
ancillary services, including the supply of materials by 
the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates did not 
exceed RMB100 million;

(iii) Sales of petroleum and natural gas products by the 
Group to CNOOC and/or its associates:

(a) The aggregate annual volume of transactions 
for the sales of petroleum and natural gas 
products (other than long term sales of natural 
gas and liquefied natural gas) did not exceed 
RMB152,315 million.

(b) The  agg rega te  annua l  vo l ume  o f  t he 
transactions for the long term sales of natural 
gas and liquefied natural gas did not exceed 
RMB8,034 million.

(iv) The maximum daily outstanding balance (including 
accrued interest) placed by the Group with CNOOC 
Finance Corporation Limited (“CNOOC Finance”) 

(excluding funds placed for the purpose of extending 
entrustment loans pursuant to the entrustment loan 
services) did not exceed RMB 9,800 million and 5% of 
the relevant percentage ratios under the Listing Rules 
for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 
2011.

The independent auditors of the Group have reviewed 
the continuing connected transactions referred to 
above and confi rmed to the Board of Directors that 
the continuing connected transactions:

1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. were in accordance with the pricing policies as 
stated in the Company’s fi nancial statements;

3. were entered into in accordance with the 
relevant agreements governing the transactions; 
and

4. have not exceeded the caps disclosed in 
previous announcements.

Please also refer to note 31 to the consolidated fi nancial 
statements on pages 107 to 109 for a summary of the 
related party transactions which include the Group’s 
continuing connected transactions.

The Company entered into a new comprehensive framework 
agreement on 1 November 2010 with CNOOC for the 
provision (1) by the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates 
and (2) by CNOOC and/or its associates to the Group of 
a range of products and services which may be required 
and requested from time to time by either party and/
or its associates in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions. The term of the new comprehensive framework 
agreement is for a period of three years from 1 January 
2011. The new comprehensive framework agreement is 
substantially on the same terms as the terms contained in 
the comprehensive framework agreements the Company 
entered into on 8 November 2007. The continuing connected 
transactions under the new comprehensive framework 
agreement and the relevant annual caps for the three years 
from 1 January 2011 were approved by the independent 
shareholders of the Company on 24 November 2010 and are 
set out below.

Categories of continuing
 connected transactions Annual caps

Provision of exploration, oil and gas development, oil and gas 
production as well as marketing, management and ancillary 
services by CNOOC and/or its associates to the Group

(a) Provision of For the three years ending
  exploration and  31 December 2013,
  support services  RMB6,676 million,
   RMB7,431 million and
   RMB7,737 million,
   respectively
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(b) Provision of oil For the three years ending
  and gas fi eld  31 December 2013,
  development and  RMB24,067 million,
  support services  RMB37,906 million and
   RMB38,822 million,
   respectively

(c) Provision of oil For the three years ending
  and gas fi eld  31 December 2013,
  production and  RMB8,228 million,
  support services  RMB9,051 million and
   RMB9,956 million,
   respectively

(d) Provision of For the three years ending
  marketing,  31 December 2013,
  management and  RMB820.98 million,
  ancillary services  RMB856.52 million and
   RMB905.09 million,
   respectively

(e) FPSO vessel leases For the three years ending
   31 December 2013,
   RMB1,401 million,
   RMB1,390 million and
   RMB1,546 million,
   respectively

Provision of management, technical, facilities and ancillary 
services, including the supply of materials by the Group to 
CNOOC and/or its associates

Provision of management, For the three years ending
 technical, facilities and  31 December 2013,
 ancillary services, including  RMB100 million,
 the supply of materials to  RMB100 million and
 CNOOC and/or its  RMB100 million,
 associates  respectively

Sales of petroleum and natural gas products by the Group 
to CNOOC and/or its associates

(a) Sales of petroleum For the three years ending
  and natural gas  31 December 2013,
  products (other  RMB152,315 million,
  than long term sales  RMB158,163 million and
  of natural gas and  RMB165,561million,
  liquefi ed natural gas)  respectively

(b) Long term sales of For the three years ending
  natural gas and  31 December 2013,
  liquefi ed natural gas  RMB8,034 million,
   RMB9,146 million and
   RMB21,155 million,
   respectively

Financial services provided by CNOOC Finance to the 
Group

On 20 August 2010, the Company entered into a renewal 
agreement with CNOOC Finance to renew the financial 

services framework agreement entered into by the 
Company and CNOOC Finance dated 14 October 2008 
for the provision of a range of fi nancial services by CNOOC 
Finance to the Group. The renewal agreement is effective 
from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2013. The continuing 
connected transactions under the renewal agreement 
are exempted from independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements, but subject to the reporting, annual review 
and announcement requirements.

The maximum daily outstanding balance (including accrued 
interest) placed by the Group with CNOOC Finance 
(excluding funds placed for the purpose of extending 
entrustment loans pursuant to the entrustment loan 
services) should not exceed RMB9,800 million for the period 
from 1 January 2011 (being the effective date of the renewal 
agreement) to 31 December 2013.

SHARE CAPITAL

Please refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements on page 103 for details of movements in the 
Company’s share capital for the year ended 31 December 
2011.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted the following share option 
schemes for the grant of options to the Company’s 
Directors,senior management and other eligible grantees:

1. Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme;
2. 2001 Share Option Scheme;
3. 2002 Share Option Scheme; and
4. 2005 Share Option Scheme.

Under these share option schemes, the Remuneration 
Committee of the Board will from time to time propose 
for the Board’s approval for grant of and the number of 
share options to be granted to the relevant grantees. The 
maximum aggregate number of shares (including those 
that could be subscribed for under the Pre-Global Offering 
Share Option Scheme, the 2001 Share Option Scheme, the 
2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2005 Share Option 
Scheme) which may be issued upon exercise of all options 
to be granted shall not exceed 10% of the total issued share 
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2005, being the 
date on which the shareholders of the Company approved 
the 2005 Share Option Scheme, excluding share options 
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the share 
option scheme.

Please refer to the note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 103 to 105 for details regarding each 
of these share option schemes of the Company. Save as 
those disclosed in the annual report, no right to subscribe 
for equity or debt securities of the Company has been 
granted by the Company to, nor have any such rights been 
exercised by, any other person during the year ended 31 
December 2011.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company repurchased its own shares through the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
as follows:

 Purchase consideration per share
     Aggregated
  No. of shares Highest Lowest consideration
Month of purchase in 2011 purchased price paid price paid paid
   HK$ HK$ HK$

November 2011 1,119,000 14.00 13.94 15,643,944
December 2011 21,775,000 14.50 13.22 299,372,771

Total 22,894,000   315,016,715

The repurchases were made for the benefi t of the Company and its shareholders as a whole with a view to enhance the 
earnings per share of the Company.

As at 31 December 2011, the Company had cancelled 10,019,000 of the 22,894,000 shares repurchased and the remaining 
12,875,000 shares were cancelled on 10 January 2012. Save as described above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption 
of the Company’s shares by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2011.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2011, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had interests in 
the shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

   Percentage
  Ordinary of Total
  Shares Held Issued Shares
    

(i) CNOOC (BVI) Limited (“CNOOC (BVI)”) 28,772,727,268  64.43%

(ii) Overseas Oil & Gas Corporation, Ltd. (“OOGC”) 28,772,727,273 64.43%

(iii) CNOOC 28,772,727,273 64.43%

Note: CNOOC (BVI) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of OOGC, which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of CNOOC. Accordingly, CNOOC (BVI)’s 

interests are recorded as the interests of OOGC and CNOOC.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Company is not 
aware of any other person having interests or short positions (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) in 
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF 
THE COMPANY

Please refer to pages 40 to 45 for information concerning 
the Directors and senior management of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Apart from holding personal interests in options to subscribe 
for shares in the Company granted under the share option 
schemes of the Company as disclosed in this annual report, 
as at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors and chief 

executives of the Company had registered an interest or 
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), or as being recorded 
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notifi ed 
to the Company and the HKSE pursuant to the Model Code. 
All the interests held by the Company’s Directors and chief 
executive represent long positions.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND 
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director (including those to be re-elected) has an 
unexpired service contract with the Company which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without 
payment of compensation (other than normal statutory 
obligations).

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 
2011 or during the year, none of the Directors had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of 
significance to the business of the Group to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS

Please refer to notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated fi nancial 
statements on pages 88 to 90 for details of the emoluments 
of the Directors, senior management and the fi ve highest 
paid individuals of the Company.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2011, the Company was not involved in 
any material litigation or arbitration and no material litigation 
or arbitration were pending or threatened or made against 
the Company so far as the Company is aware.

Since early March 2012, the Company has noted media 
articles reporting that a law firm has filed a purported 
class action complaint in the U.S. against the Company 
and certain of its officers and/or directors, and has been 
publicly soliciting all relevant persons to participate in such 
class action as plaintiffs. The complaint alleged that the 
statements made by the Company during certain period in 
2011 regarding its fi nancial results and the oil spill accidents 
occurred at the Penglai 19-3 oilfi eld were materially false and 
misleading. The Company has also noted press releases 
reporting a number of law firms announcing their own 
investigations into the legal claims against the Company 
and certain of its offi cers and/or directors for the potential 
securities violations in relation to the allegations. To the 
Company’s best knowledge, it has not been served with 
any legal documents or notices relating to the class action 
complaint. To the extent these claims are pursued by the 
plaintiffs, the Company intends to defend vigorously against 
such claims.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Except deviation from the CG Code provisions A.4.1, the 
Company has complied with the code provisions of the 
CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules 
throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 
24 to 38 for details.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditors of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 and has 
audited the accompanying fi nancial statements. A resolution 
to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company will 
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to 
be held on 25 May 2012.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Directors confirmed 
that based on information that is publicly available to the 
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company had maintained suffi cient amount of public fl oat as 
required under the Listing Rules.

VOTING BY POLL

In 2011, all votes of shareholders were taken by poll in the 
annual general meeting of the Company. With effect from 
1 January 2012, pursuant to the new Rule 13.39(4), all 
votes of shareholders will be taken by poll except where the 
chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which 
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be 
voted on by a show of hands.

By Order of the Board
Wang Yilin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2012
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The following discussion and analysis should be read 

in conjunction with the Chairman’s statement, CEO’s 

statement and the business review section, as well as 

the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements 

of this annual report.

STRATEGIES AND RISKS

Growth Strategy
As one of the largest independent oil and gas exploration 

and product ion companies, we mainly engage in 

exploration, development, production and sales of oil and 

natural gas. The principal components of our strategy are as 

follows:

Focus on reserve and production growth

As an upstream company specializing in the exploration, 

development, production and sales of oil and natural gas, 

we consider reserve and production growth as top priority. 

We plan to increase our reserves through drill bits and value-

driven acquisitions. We plan to concentrate independent 

exploration efforts on major existing operating areas, 

especially in major areas of offshore China. In the meantime, 

we plan to continue to enter into joint arrangements 

with foreign partners to lower capital requirements 

and exploration risks. In 2011, we achieved a reserve 

replacement ratio of 158%.

We plan to increase production primarily through the 

development of proved undeveloped reserves. As of

31 December 2011, approximately 55.0% of our proved 

reserves were classified as proved undeveloped, which 

gives us the opportunity to achieve future production 

growth.

Develop natural gas business

We plan to capitalize on the growth potential of the PRC 

natural gas market, and continue to explore and develop 

natural gas fields. To the extent we invest in businesses and 

geographic areas where we have limited experience and 

expertise, we plan to structure our investments as alliances 

or partnerships with parties possessing the relevant 

experience and expertise.

Since 2006, our partners made several gas discoveries in 

deepwater South China Sea, including Liwan 3-1, Liuhua 

34-2 and Liuhua 29-1. We expect that our natural gas 

production would increase with these gas fields on stream.

Maintain prudent financial policy
We will continue to maintain our prudent financial policy. 

As an essential part of our corporate culture, we continue 

to promote the cost consciousness among both our 

management team and other employees. Also, in our 

performance evaluation system, cost control is always one 

of the most important key performance indicators.

Aiming to reduce production cost, we plan to actively 

promote the regional planning and development of oil and 

gas field groups and to apply up-to-date drilling, production 

and offshore engineering technology to our operations.

Currently, we have a strong financial profile with a low 

gearing ratio. We intend to maintain our financial strength 

by managing key measures such as capital expenditures, 

cash flows and fixed charge coverage. We also intend to 

actively manage our working capital to enhance liquidity 

and improve profitability. We will continue to monitor our 

foreign currency denominated assets and debts to minimize 

exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Risk factors
The exploration and production of the oil and gas industry 

involves a high degree of risks. Our market risk exposures 

primarily consist of fluctuations in oil and gas prices, 

changes in reserve, HSE, amendments to financial and 

taxation regulatory rules and policies and changes in 

exchange rates and interest rates.

Fluctuations in oil and gas prices

Since the Company makes reference to international oil 

prices to determine its realized oil price, fluctuations in 

international oil price would have a significant impact on 

the Company’s sales revenue and profit. In addition, the 

Company’s natural gas sales contracts are incorporated 

with price adjustment provisions. Any changes in 

international oil prices and inflation rate may result in 

changes in natural gas prices, which will affect the 

Company’s profitability.

Changes in reserve

High-risk and capital-intensiveness are characteristics of 

the exploration and development of oil and gas reserves. 

The Company’s exploration and development activities are 

exposed to various risks, including its inability to make any 

commercial discoveries.
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In addition, reserve appraisal depends on a number of 

factors, including the quantity and quality of technical 

and economic data, assumptions in oil price assessment, 

production curve as well as fiscal terms. If these factors and 

assumptions were proven to be inaccurate, the Company 

might need to readjust its reserves.

HSE

The Company is exposed to blowout, fire and spillage risks 

arising from the exploration, development and production 

operations. Any accident which may lead to casualties, 

property damage and environmental pollution may have 

an impact on the Company’s operational and financial 

conditions.

Changes to financial and taxation regulatory rules and 

policies

The Company has oil and gas assets in the PRC and other 

countries. Any change in fiscal policies of these countries, 

including the introduction of new taxes and increases in tax 

rates, may affect the profitability of the Company.

Other changes in regulatory rules, including policies on 

oil and gas prices, resource nationalization and exchange 

controls, may affect the Company’s operational and 

financial conditions.

Currency risk

The Company’s oil and gas sales are substantial ly 

denominated in Renminbi and U.S. dollars. On 21 July 

2005, China reformed its exchange rate regime by adopting 

a managed floating exchange rate approach that is based 

on market supply and demand and with reference to a 

basket of currencies. Renminbi is no longer pegged to 

U.S. dollars. In 2011, Renminbi appreciated approximately 

5.11% against U.S. dollars. At the reporting date, 86.0% 

(2010: 81.5%) of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents 

and time deposits with maturity over three months were 

denominated in Renminbi, and the remaining amounts were 

denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

Interest rate risk

As at the end of 2011, the interest rates of 49% of the 

Company’s debt borrowings were fixed. The weighted 

average term of the Company’s debt was approximately 

6.45 years.

Please also refer to note 37 to the consolidated financial 

statements on pages 114 to 116 for other financial risks of 

the Company.

2011 OVERVIEW

In 2011, the European sovereign debt crisis aggravated 

the global economic uncertainty, which significantly slowed 

down the global economic recovery and growth. In contrast, 

emerging economies maintained strong momentum 

for economic growth, with China maintaining its steady 

and rapid economic growth. Inflicted by geopolitical and 

economic factors, international oil price experienced 

significant volatility in 2011, and had a larger increase over 

last year, whilst heightening inflationary pressure also led to 

increased costs in the industry.

Dur ing the year,  the Company overcame var ious 

unfavorable factors by seizing the opportunity and improving 

its competitiveness, laid a solid foundation for development 

and achieved satisfactory results.

In 2011, the Company increased the production of 

producing oil and gas fields through detailed study on oil 

reservoir, thorough water injection as well as enhancing 

the production time efficiency for oil and gas fields. The 

Company’s net oil and gas production was 331.8 million 

BOE and achieved the revised annual production target. 

The Company’s exploration activities achieved 16 new 

discoveries and a reserve replacement ratio of 158%.

During the year, the Company further expanded the shale 

oil and gas business in the U.S. and increased investment 

in oil sands in Canada through the acquisition of OPTI, 

which facilitated the vertical development of the Company’s 

unconventional assets.

Benefitting from the stable growth in oil and gas production, 

increases in realized prices and its relatively low costs, the 

Company achieved strong financial performance in 2011. 

The Company’s oil and gas sales were RMB189,279 million 

(US$29,309.7 million, with the exchange rates applicable 

for 2011 at 6.4579), representing an increase of 29.5% year 

over year. Net profit was RMB70,255 million (US$10,878.9 

million), representing an increase of 29.1% over last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company’s 

basic and diluted earnings per share were RMB1.57 and 

RMB1.57, respectively. The Company’s board of directors 

recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.28 

per share (tax inclusive).
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The 2012 outlook of the global political and economic 

situation remains complicated. The vulnerability of global 

economic recovery and uncertainty deepens while the 

geopolitical unrest continues in the Middle East and North 

Africa. In contrast, China has adopted a proactive fiscal 

policy and prudent monetary policy. Taking the “pursuing 

growth cautiously” for economic and social development, 

China’s economy is expected to maintain steady growth in 

2012.

The global energy demand is expected to remain strong, 

providing signif icant development potential for the 

Company. In addition, costs are expected to continue to 

rise and the developments of unconventional oil and gas 

resources are expected to continue to attract interests.

Facing external opportunities and challenges, the Company 

is committed to solidifying its foundation for development 

to capture new opportunities in 2012. The Company’s key 

tasks include:

First, to ensure that new oilfields commence production 

on schedule. In 2012, four new projects are expected to 

commence production in offshore China, including the 

Panyu 4-2/5-1 adjustment project with estimated peak 

production of 57,000 barrels per day that is expected to 

become the major driver for future production growth. In 

overseas market, the Long Lake oil sands project in Canada 

and Missan oilfields in Iraq are also expected to contribute 

to the Company’s production. The Company plans to 

coordinate with its partners proactively to facilitate the 

smooth progress of all projects.

Secondly, to promote deepwater explorat ion and 

development. The Company proposed to dril l three 

independent deepwater wells in the Pearl River Mouth Basin 

of Eastern South China Sea and further collect seismic 

data. In addition, the Company plans to collaborate with its 

partners to advance the development of Liwan 3-1, the first 

deepwater gas field in the PRC.

Thirdly, to tighten cost controls. In view of the high 

costs, changes in fiscal policy and the deepwater and 

unconventional oil and gas accounting for an increasing 

proportion of the Company’s assets, the Company has 

been experiencing the rising cost pressure. The Company 

plans to continue to improve its efficiency and cost-saving, 

as well as to strengthen its streamlined management to 

control its cost.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For details, please refer to “Business Review” on page 10 of 

the annual report.

Financial Results

Consolidated net profit

Our consolidated net profit increased 29.1% to RMB70,255 

million (US$10,878.9 million) in 2011 from RMB54,410 

million in 2010. The primary driving factor for the profit 

increase was higher realized prices. However, this positive 

factor was partially offset by higher special oil gain levy, 

higher income tax payments due to higher realized prices, 

and higher operating expenses and depreciation.

  Revenues

 2011 2010 Change Change (%)

Oil and gas sales (RMB million) 189,279  146,134  43,145  29.5%

 Crude oil 176,703  135,558  41,145  30.4%

 Natural gas 12,576  10,576  2,000  18.9%

Sales volume (million BOE) 314.0  316.6  (2.6) (0.8%)

 Crude oil (million barrels) 249.3  256.7  (7.4) (2.9%)

 Natural gas (bcf) 378  347  31  8.8%

Realized Prices 

 Crude oil (US$/barrel) 109.75  77.93  31.82  40.8%

 Natural gas (US$/mcf) 5.15  4.49   0.66  14.7%

Net production (million BOE) 331.8  329.6  2.2  0.7%

 China 261.9  263.6  (1.7) (0.6%)

 Overseas 69.9  66.0  3.9  5.9%



Management Discussion and Analysis

CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 201156

The increase of our oil sales was primarily due to higher oil 

prices achieved by adopting adaptive marketing policies in 

the circumstance of higher benchmark oil prices affected by 

worldwide political conditions and strong domestic demand 

for crude oil in China. Although our production and sales of 

crude oil were affected by the Penglai 19-3 oil spill accidents 

and suspension of production of the OML130 project, we 

still achieved our production and sales goals set at the 

beginning of 2011 by expanding capacity of other oilfields 

and managing the production of new projects.

The increase of our gas sales was primarily due to increase 

of gas prices. Having seized the opportunities from the 

increase of spot market prices for gas in Southeast Asia 

due to the earthquake in Japan, we increased our gas sales 

in the spot market in 2011. In addition, in consideration of 

the development of domestic natural gas market, we have 

been adjusting our natural gas prices for customers through 

negotiations since the second half of 2010.

In 2011, our oil and gas production was 331.8 million BOE 

(including our interest in equity-accounted investees), of 

which offshore China and overseas operations contributed 

261.9 million BOE and 69.9 million BOE, respectively. The 

overseas production accounted for 21.1% of our total net 

production in 2011, compared with 20.0% in 2010.

In 2011, our net marketing profit, which is marketing 

revenues less costs of purchases, decreased 22.9% to 

RMB162 million (US$25.1 million) from RMB210 million 

in 2010, mainly because we had no trading activities in 

Indonesia in 2011 as the gas production in Indonesia 

already met the need for the year. Our realized marketing 

profit margin, which is our marketing profit calculated as a 

percentage of marketing revenues, decreased from 0.7% in 

2010 to 0.3% in 2011, primarily due to a lower profit margin 

of fixed premium trading, which was caused by the increase 

in sales volume when oil price was higher in 2011.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses increased 16.7% to RMB18,264 

million (US$2,828.2 million) in 2011 from RMB15,647 million 

in 2010. Operating expenses per BOE increased 18.0% 

to RMB58.2 (US$9.01) per BOE in 2011 from RMB49.3 

(US$7.28) per BOE in 2010. Operating expenses per BOE 

offshore China increased 19.7% to RMB53.5 (US$8.28) per 

BOE in 2011 from RMB44.7 (US$6.60) per BOE in 2010. 

These increases were mainly attributable to the increase in 

raw material prices and supplier service fees, as well as the 

increased operation workload on workover. In addition, due 

to the extreme weather and other exceptional events, our 

HSE and maintenance costs also increased accordingly. 

Overseas operating expenses per BOE increased 13.6% 

to RMB81.7 (US$12.65) per BOE in 2011 from RMB72.0 

(US$10.62) per BOE in 2010, primarily contributed by 

higher operating cost of newly acquired oil sands projects, 

increased prices of fuel and other resources in Southeast 

Asia, as well as increased repair cost and reduced 

production as a result of the equipment failure of OML130 

AKPO oilfield.

Taxes other than income tax

Our taxes other than income tax increased 45.3% to 

RMB10,332 million (US$1,599.9 million) in 2011 from 

RMB7,109 million in 2010, primarily as a result of increased 

tax payments due to the increase in higher realized oil and 

gas prices, as well as payment of resource tax for operations 

in offshore China since November 2011.

Exploration expenses

Our exploration expenses decreased 4.8% to RMB5,220 

million (US$808.2 million) in 2011 from RMB5,483 million 

in 2010, primarily as a result of our continuously enhancing 

exploratory activities including more wells being drilled and 

more seismic data being acquired. In 2011, we acquired 

18,914 km 2D seismic data, as well as 15,822 km2 3D 

seismic data, representing an increase of 4,935 km2 from 

2010. Our continuing efforts in exploration has led to a 

series of important discoveries on reserves. In addition, the 

discovery rate maintained at a high level. Our independent 

exploration activities consisted of 82 exploration wells, 

relatively the same as in 2010. Dry hole expenses decreased 

33.5% to RMB1,986 million (US$307.5 million) in 2011 from 

RMB2,985 million in 2010.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Our depreciation, depletion and amortization increased 

14.1% to RMB30,521 million (US$4,726.2 million) in 2011 

from RMB26,756 million in 2010. Our average depreciation, 

depletion and amortization per barrel, excluding the 

dismantlement-related depreciation, depletion and 

amortization, increased 9.8% to RMB86.9 (US$13.45) per 

BOE in 2011 from RMB79.1 (US$11.68) per BOE in 2010, 

mainly attributable to the commencement of production on 

new oil and gas fields as well as comprehensive adjustment 

projects in recent years, which were developed under 

the environment of increasing prices of raw materials and 

services over the past few years. Meanwhile, we conducted 

comprehensive inspections on production safety conditions 

of the oil and gas fields offshore China, increased preventive 

maintenance, and put off some workload on stabilization 

and improvement of production performance, which led 

to dynamic variations of the production of some oil and 

gas fields in offshore China and the resulting downward 

adjustment of related proved reserve estimates.

The dismantlement-related depreciation, depletion and 

amortization costs increased 96.0% to RMB3,258 million 

(US$504.5 million) in 2011 from RMB1,662 million in 

2010. Our average dismantling costs per barrel increased 
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98.1% to RMB10.38 (US$1.61) per BOE in 2011 from 

RMB5.24 (US$0.77) per BOE in 2010. The main reason 

for these increases was because, according to the PRC 

government’s filing requirement for domestic oil and gas 

fields abandonment schemes, the estimation methods for 

the abandonment of oil and gas fields were comprehensively 

adjusted in 2011, and projected service fees and raw 

material prices were raised further.

Special Oil Gain Levy

Our Special Oil Gain Levy increased 80.6% to RMB31,982 

million (US$4,952.4 million) in 2011 from RMB17,706 million 

in 2010, primarily as a result of our increased sales volume 

and higher realized oil prices in offshore China. Benefiting 

from the PRC government’s increase in the levy threshold 

from US$40 to US$55 (effective November 2011), our 

Special Oil Gain Levy is expected to decrease in the future.

Impairment and provision

Our impairment and provision decreased 18.4% to RMB22 

million (US$3.4 million) in 2011 from RMB27 million in 2010, 

primarily due to the inventory provision during the year.

Selling and administrative expenses

Our selling and administrative expenses decreased 6.1% 

to RMB2,854 million (US$441.9 million) in 2011 from 

RMB3,039 million in 2010, mainly due to the decrease of 

commission expenses for acquisition projects. Our selling 

and administrative expenses per barrel decreased 5.1% 

to RMB9.10 (US$1.41) per BOE in 2011 from RMB9.58 

(US$1.41) per BOE in 2010.

Finance costs/Interest income

Our finance costs increased 52.1% to RMB1,707 million 

(US$264.3 million) in 2011 from RMB1,122 million in 2010, 

primarily due to the increase in unwinding of discount on 

provision for dismantlement in 2011. Our interest income 

increased 93.5% to RMB1,196 million (US$185.2 million) 

in 2011 from RMB618 million in 2010, mainly as a result of 

more interest earned from the enlarged scale of banking 

deposits and the increased effective interest rates.

Exchange gains, net

Our net exchange gains decreased 35.9% to RMB637 

million (US$98.7 million) in 2011 from RMB995 million in 

2010, primarily as a result of the decrease in the size of 

dividends receivable from a subsidiary.

Investment income

Our investment income increased 328.2% to RMB1,828 

million (US$283.1 million) in 2011 from RMB427 million in 

2010, primarily attributable to the increase in investments 

on corporate wealth management products and the 

optimization of investment portfolios under the condition 

that the products and portfolios are of good liquidity and low 

risk.

Share of profits of associates/a joint venture

Contributed by good performance of our associated 

companies/joint venture, our share of profits of associates/

joint venture increased 42.4% to RMB567million (US$87.7 

million) in 2011 from RMB398 million in 2010.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased 22.6% to RMB22,310 

million (US$3,454.7 million) in 2011 from RMB18,193 million 

in 2010, primarily as a result of the increase in revenues and 

profit due to the increase of average realized oil and gas 

prices. Our effective tax rate decreased to 24.1% in 2011 

from 25.1% in 2010, mainly attributable to the tax benefit 

obtained in the mechanism of investment tax credit applied 

to OML130 project in Nigeria, which had better profitability 

this year.

Capital Resources and liquidity

Overview

Our primary source of cash during 2011 was cash flow from 

operating activities. We used cash primarily to fund capital 

spending program and dividends.

 2011 2010 Change

 RMB million US$ million RMB million RMB million %

Generated from operating activities 116,171   17,989   70,883  45,288  63.9%

Used in investing activities (99,036) (15,336) (64,203) (34,833) 54.3%

 Acquisition activities (24,831) (3,845) (32,567) 7,736 (23.8%)

 Capital expenditure (36,823) (5,702) (28,332) (8,491) 30.0%

Used in financing activities (20,246) (3,135) (1,610) (18,636) 1,157.5%
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Cash generated from operating activities

In 2011, the increase in cash inflow from operating activities 

was mainly attributable to higher realized oil and gas prices.

Cash used in investing activities

In 2011, the increase in cash outflow from investing activities 

was mainly due to the payments of (1) RMB6,896 million 

for the acquisition of OPTI Canada Inc., (2) RMB4,838 

million for the acquisition of a 33.3% undivided interest in 

the Denver-Julesburg and Powder River Basins, and (3) 

RMB6,758 million to fund 75% of Chesapeake’s share of 

development costs pursuant to a commitment made at the 

acquisition of the Eagle Ford Shale project.

In 2011, our capital expenditures (other than for the 

acquisitions mentioned above) increased 30.0% to 

RMB36,823 million (US$5,702.0 million), primarily as a result 

of the increase in exploration activities and the continuous 

development of projects under construct ion. Our 

development expenditures in 2011 primarily related to the 

development of the Eagle Ford Shale project, the OML130 

project, Lufeng 13-2, Jinzhou 25-1S, Yacheng13-4 and 

Liuhua 4-1, as well as the expenses incurred for improving 

recovery factors of the oilfields in production.

In addition, our cash used in investing activities was 

also attributable to purchase of available-for-sale and 

held-to-maturity financial assets of RMB206,266 million 

(US$31,940.1 million). Our cash generated from investing 

activities was mainly from the proceeds from the sales of 

available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial assets in the 

amount of RMB177,467 million (US$27,480.5 million), and 

from the increase of RMB12,500 million (US$1,935.6 million) 

in time deposits with maturity of more than three months.

Cash used in financing activities

In 2011, the increase in net cash outflow from financing 

activities was mainly due to the distribution of dividends of 

RMB20,877 million (US$3,232.8 million), the repayment 

of bank loans of RMB10,259 million (US$1,588.6 million) 

and the redemption of OPTI First Lien notes of RMB5,321 

million (US$824.0 million). It was partially offset by the cash 

inflow of RMB18,132 million (US$2,807.7 million) from the 

proceeds of issuance of financial notes and from the bank 

borrowings.

At the end of 2011, our total outstanding debt was 

RMB37,995 million (US$6,030.0 million), compared to 

RMB31,053 million at the end of 2010. The increase in 

debt in 2011 was primarily attributable to the issuance of 

guaranteed notes of US$2 billion. Our gearing ratio, which 

is defined as interest bearing debt divided by the sum of 

interest bearing debt plus equity, was 12.6%.

OTHERS

Employees
As of 31 December 2011, the Company has a total of 5,377 

employees.

Since 4 February 2001, the Company has adopted 4 

stock option plans that were applicable to directors, 

senior management team members and other qualified 

beneficiaries and to be exercised thereafter in accordance 

with each stock option plan.

The Company has set up a recruitment system that 

is primarily market driven, and has adopted a more 

appropriate salary structure.

For more information on employees and human resources, 

please refer to “Human Resources” in “Business Overview” 

section of this annual report.

Charges on assets
CNOOC NWS Private Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Group, together with other joint venture partners and 

the operator of the NWS Project, signed a Deed of Cross 

Charge and an Extended Deed of Cross Charge whereby 

certain liabilities incurred or to be incurred, if any, by the 

Company in respect of the NWS Project are secured by its 

interest in the NWS Project.

Contingencies
(a) On 8 January 2006, the Company signed a definitive 

agreement with South Atlantic Petroleum Limited 

(“SAPETRO”) to acquire a 45% working interest in 

the Offshore Oil Mining Lease 130 (“OML130”) in 

Nigeria (the “OML130 Transaction”) and the OML130 

Transaction was completed on 20 April 2006.

In 2007, a local tax office in Nigeria (the “Nigerian 

Local Tax Off ice”) conducted a tax audit on 

SAPETRO. According to the preliminary tax audit 

results, the Nigerian Local Tax Office has raised 

a disagreement with the tax filings made for the 

OML130 Transaction.
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The tax audit assessment made by the Nigerian Local 

Tax Office has been contested by the Company in 

accordance with Nigerian laws. The Company then 

filed a suit in the Nigerian Federal High Court. In March 

2011, the Nigeria Federal High Court delivered a 

binding judgement in favour of the Company, agreeing 

that the Company is not subject to Value Added Tax 

for the OML130 Transaction. The judgement was 

appealed by counterparties to the High Court. After 

seeking legal advice, the Company’s management 

believes that the Company has reasonable grounds 

in defending for such an appeal. Consequently, no 

provision has been made for any expenses which 

might arise as a result of the dispute.

(b) On 26 October 2011, the Company received notice 

of assessment from Federal Inland Revenue Service 

(“FIRS”), confirming that the effective Petroleum Profit 

Tax (“PPT”) and related tax for the year of 2010 shall 

be calculated and payable on the basis of the PPT 

Tax Return prepared by Nigerian National Petroleum 

Corporation. The Company contested the notice of 

assessment. On 13 January 2012, the Company, 

together with South Atlantic Petroleum Limited, has 

filed an appeal in relation thereto to the local Tax 

Appeal Tribunal. No verdict has been issued to date, 

and the result of the appeal is still uncertain.

(c) The  Company  has  ex t ended  i n t e r es t - f r ee 

intercompany loans to CNOOC International, a 

wholly-owned subsidiary, to provide onward funding 

to its subsidiaries domiciled outside the PRC. Upon 

receipt of the Chinese Resident Enterprise Approval, 

the Company may be liable to pay taxes on the 

deemed interest income for the intercompany loan to 

CNOOC International starting from 1 January 2008. 

The Company is currently applying to, and awaiting 

confirmation from its in-charge tax authority for an 

exemption on this possible deemed interest income. 

In July 2011, the Company completed the transfer 

of the interest-free intercompany loans to the share 

capital account of CNOOC International, in order 

to reduce the future tax exposure arising from any 

deemed interest income for the intercompany loans.

(d) Two oil spill accidents occurred on 4 June and 

17 June 2011 respectively at Platforms B and C 

of Penglai 19-3 oilfield, which is being operated 

under a production sharing contract (“PSC”) among 

CNOOC China Limited, the subsidiary of the 

Company, and two subsidiaries of ConocoPhillips 

(“ConocoPhillips”), the US based oil company, among 

which ConocoPhillips China Inc. (“COPC”) is the 

operator and responsible for the daily operations 

of the oilfield. Under the PSC, ConocoPhillips and 

the Company have 49% and 51% of participating 

interests, respectively, in respect of development 

and production. On 11 November 2011, the State 

Oceanic Administration of the PRC announced 

the investigation conclusion made by the joint 

invest igat ion team of  the government  that , 

“ConocoPhillips China Inc. violated the Overall 

Development Plan during the production operation on 

Penglai 19-3 oilfield, had defects in its procedures and 

management, and did not take necessary measures 

after obvious accident signs emerged, which 

altogether eventually resulted in an accident involving 

liabilities, causing significant oceanic pollution by oil 

spill.”

 On 25 January 2012, the Company released that 

COPC had reached an agreement with Ministry of 

Agriculture of the PRC and China National Offshore 

Oil Corporation, the Company’s parent company, 

to resolve fishery indemnification and compensation 

issues for the oil spill accidents of Penglai 19-3 oilfield. 

Under this agreement, COPC will put up RMB 1 

billion to settle the indemnification and compensation 

for damages to the aquatic organisms in part of the 

affected areas of the Hebei Province and Liaoning 

Province as well as damages to the natural fishery 

resources in Bohai.

 The Company is of the view that the Company’s 

obligations, if any, arising from the above mentioned 

accidents shall be determined in accordance with 

relevant laws and regulations, the PSC and related 

agreements, among others. Based on evaluations 

performed as of the date of these financial statements, 

the Company believes that it is not possible to 

determine provisions, if any, for the above mentioned 

accidents in these financial statements. The financial 

impact of such oil spill accidents on the Company 

is still uncertain, and the Company has not made 

any provision for the accidents in these financial 

statements.
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To the shareholders of CNOOC Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated fi nancial statements of CNOOC Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the 

“Group”) set out on pages 61 to 116, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of fi nancial position as at 31 

December 2011, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

the consolidated statement of cash fl ows for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated fi nancial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated fi nancial statements that give a true and fair 

view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants and the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. Our report is made 

solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. 

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certifi ed 

Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements 

that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of 

the Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profi t and cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared 

in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to Note 2.2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements which describes the early adoption of the accounting 

method for consolidation and joint arrangements by the Group during 2011. Our opinion is not qualifi ed in respect of this 

matter.

Ernst & Young

Certifi ed Public Accountants

22nd Floor, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central

Hong Kong

28 March 2012
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 Group

 Notes 2011 2010

   Note 2.2

REVENUE

 Oil and gas sales 6 189,279 146,134

 Marketing revenues  50,469 32,446

 Other income  1,196 1,456

  240,944 180,036

EXPENSES

 Operating expenses  (18,264) (15,647)

 Taxes other than income tax 12 (ii) (10,332) (7,109)

 Exploration expenses  (5,220) (5,483)

 Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 8 (30,521) (26,756)

 Special oil gain levy 7 (31,982) (17,706)

 Impairment and provision 22 (22) (27)

 Crude oil and product purchases  (50,307) (32,236)

 Selling and administrative expenses  (2,854) (3,039)

 Others  (835) (888)

  (150,337) (108,891)

PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  90,607 71,145

Interest income 8 1,196 618

Finance costs 9 (1,707) (1,122)

Exchange gains, net 8 637 995

Investment income 8 1,828 427

Share of profits of associates  320 199

Share of profits of a joint venture  247 199

Non-operating (expenses)/income, net  (563) 142

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 92,565 72,603

 Income tax expense 12 (i) (22,310) (18,193)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO

 OWNERS OF THE PARENT  70,255 54,410

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (3,826) (2,496)

Net (loss)/gain on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax 21 (800) 5,590

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of associates  (20) 3

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE

 YEAR, NET OF TAX  (4,646) 3,097

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

 ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT  65,609 57,507

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

 Basic (RMB Yuan) 15 1.57 1.22

 Diluted (RMB Yuan) 15 1.57 1.21
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 Group

 Notes 2011 2010

   Note 2.2

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 16 220,567 186,678

Intangible assets 17 1,033 1,148

Investments in associates 19 2,822 1,781

Investment in a joint venture 20 20,175 20,823

Available-for-sale financial assets 21, 35 7,365 8,616

Other non-current assets  379 –

Total non-current assets  252,341 219,046

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories and supplies 22 4,380 3,975

Trade receivables 23 20,662 19,680

Held-to-maturity financial assets  23,467 3,040

Available-for-sale financial assets 21, 35 27,576 18,940

Other current assets  7,684 14,486

Time deposits with maturity over three months 24 24,476 11,976

Cash and cash equivalents 24 23,678 27,287

Total current assets  131,923 99,384

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings 27 19,919 21,194

Trade and accrued payables 25 20,424 18,056

Other payables and accrued liabilities 26 22,217 18,124

Taxes payable  7,656 11,049

Total current liabilities  70,216 68,423

NET CURRENT ASSETS  61,707 30,961

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  314,048 250,007

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings 27 18,076 9,859

Provision for dismantlement 28 24,964 15,825

Deferred tax liabilities 12(i) 5,488 6,841

Other non-current liabilities  2,664 1,716

Total non-current liabilities  51,192 34,241

NET ASSETS  262,856 215,766

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

 Issued capital 29 949 949

 Reserves 30 261,907 214,817

TOTAL EQUITY  262,856 215,766

Li Fanrong Wu Guangqi

Director Director
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 Attributable to owners of the parent

  Share premium  Statutory 
  and capital Cumulative and non-   Proposed
 Issued redemption translation distributable Other Retained final
 capital reserve reserve reserves reserves earnings dividend Total

At 1 January 2010 949 42,129 (10,865) 20,000 5,173 108,694 7,856 173,936
Total comprehensive income for the year (note 2.2) – – (2,496) – 5,593 54,410 – 57,507
2009 final dividend – – – – – 61 (7,856) (7,795)
2010 interim dividend – – – – – (8,100) – (8,100)
Proposed 2010 final dividend – – – – – (9,421) 9,421 –
Equity-settled share option expenses – – – – 218 – – 218
Appropriation and utilisation of safety fund, net – – – – (12) 12 – –

At 31 December 2010 (note 2.2) 949 42,129* (13,361)* 20,000* 10,972 * 145,656 * 9,421 * 215,766

At 1 January 2011 (note 2.2) 949 42,129 (13,361) 20,000 10,972 145,656 9,421 215,766
Total comprehensive income for the year – – (3,826) – (820) 70,255 – 65,609
2010 final dividend – – – – – 134 (9,421) (9,287)
2011 interim dividend – – – – – (9,106) – (9,106)
Proposed 2011 final dividend – – – – – (10,142) 10,142 –
Share repurchases (note 29) – – – – – (256) – (256)
Equity-settled share option expenses (note 29) – – – – 143 – – 143
Appropriation and utilisation of safety fund, net – – – – (13) – – (13)

At 31 December 2011 949 42,129* (17,187)* 20,000* 10,282 * 196,541 * 10,142 * 262,856

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately RMB261,907 million (2010: RMB214,817 million) in the consolidated 

statement of financial position.
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 Group

 Notes 2011 2010

   Note 2.2

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 33 140,809 85,921

Income taxes paid  (24,638) (15,038)

Net cash flows from operating activities  116,171 70,883

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of oil and gas properties  (15,950) (11,309)

Additions of property, plant and equipment  (36,422) (28,247)

Additions of intangible assets  (121) (85)

Purchase of leasing rights  (280) –

Acquisition of interest in a joint venture  – (21,258)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  (7,933) –

Acquisition of interest in an associate  (948) –

Disposal of a subsidiary  1,340 –

(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with maturity over three months  (12,500) 8,894

Dividends received from associates  184 147

Interest received  1,013 513

Investment income received  1,288 310

Purchase of current available-for-sale and

 held-to-maturity financial assets  (206,266) (38,480)

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale and

 held-to-maturity financial assets  177,467 25,193

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  92 119

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (99,036) (64,203)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of financial notes  12,966 –

Redemption of financial notes  (5,321) –

Proceeds from bank loans  5,166 17,245

Repayment of bank loans  (10,259) (4,034)

Dividends paid  (20,877) (14,390)

Interest paid  (1,665) (431)

Share repurchases  (256) –

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (20,246) (1,610)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (3,111) 5,070

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  27,287 22,615

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  (498) (398)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 24 23,678 27,287
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 Company

 Notes 2011 2010

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 16 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 18 58,707 6,177

Loans to a subsidiary 18 – 3,311

Total non-current assets  58,707 9,488

CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets  2 8

Due from subsidiaries 18 23,846 67,175

Available-for-sale financial assets 21 15 16

Cash and cash equivalents 24 876 38

Total current assets  24,739 67,237

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accrued liabilities  565 3,086

Due to subsidiaries 18 16,519 6,520

Total current liabilities  17,084 9,606

NET CURRENT ASSETS  7,655 57,631

NET ASSETS  66,362 67,119

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

 Issued capital 29 949 949

 Reserves 30 65,413 66,170

TOTAL EQUITY  66,362 67,119

Li Fanrong Wu Guangqi

Director Director
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
CNOOC Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) of the 

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 20 August 1999 to hold the interests in certain entities thereby creating a group 

comprising the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”). During the year, the Group was 

principally engaged in the exploration, development, production and sale of crude oil, natural gas and other petroleum products.

The registered office address of the Company is 65/F, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the parent and the ultimate holding company of the Company 

is China National Offshore Oil Corporation (“CNOOC”), a company established in the PRC.

2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards “IFRSs” (which 

also include International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (the “IASB”), Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards “HKFRSs” (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards 

(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting 

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the significant 

accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
The IASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations that are first effective for the current 

accounting year commencing 1 January 2011 or later but available for early adoption. The equivalent new and revised HKFRSs 

and HKFRS Interpretations consequently issued by the HKICPA have the same effective dates as those issued by the IASB and 

are in all material aspects identical to the pronouncements issued by the IASB. There have been no other material changes to 

HKFRSs.

(a) Standards, revisions and amendments to IFRSs and HKFRSs which are applicable to the Group, and have been adopted 

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements:

Mandatorily adopted as of 1 January 2011:

IAS 24 (Revised)/HKAS 24 (Revised) – Related Party Disclosures

IAS 24 (Revised)/HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition of related parties. The new definitions emphasise 

a symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify the circumstances in which persons and key management 

personnel affect related party relationships of an entity. The revised standard also introduces an exemption from the 

general related party disclosure requirements for transactions with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly 

controlled or significantly influenced by the same government as the reporting entity. The accounting policy for related 

parties has been revised to reflect the changes in the definitions of related parties under the revised standard. IAS 24 

(Revised)/HKAS 24 (Revised) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The adoption of the 

revised standard did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. Details of the related 

party transactions, including the related comparative information, are included in note 31 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Other than the impact of IAS 24 (Revised)/HKAS 24 (Revised) as discussed above, the mandatory adoption of effective 

IFRS and HKFRS has had no significant financial effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Early adopted before the mandatory effective dates:

IFRS 10/HKFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10/HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27/HKAS 27 that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial 

statements. It establishes a single control model that applies to all entities. It requires management to exercise significant 

judgement to determine which entities are controlled, and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent.

The standard introduces a new definition of control under which control of investee requires an investor to possess all the 

following three elements: 1) the power over the investee; 2) the exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement 

with the investee; and 3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. The 

adoption of IFRS 10/HKFRS 10 does not have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)

IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 replaces IAS 31/HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and Standing Interpretation Committee-13 

Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 addresses only two 

forms of joint arrangements (joint operations and joint ventures) where there is joint control. In determining the type of 

arrangements, IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 requires parties to the arrangement to assess: 1) the legal form of the separate vehicle; 

2) the terms of the contractual arrangement; and 3) other facts and circumstances that give them right to the assets and 

obligations for the liabilities or right to the net assets of the vehicle. A joint arrangement that meets the definition of a joint 

venture must be accounted for using the equity method. For a joint operation, an entity recognises its assets, liabilities, 

revenues and expenses relating to its relative shares thereof.

The application of this new standard impacts the financial position and presentation of statement of income of the Group. 

This is due to the cessation of proportionate consolidating a joint venture Bridas Corporation and the adoption of equity 

accounting for this investment.

Bridas Corporation is a separate legal entity that controls its own assets, earns its own income and incurs its own 

expenses and liabilities. The Group’s rights as a shareholder of Bridas Corporation are limited to dividends or distributions 

of the net assets of Bridas Corporation, rather than having direct rights to any operating assets, production output and 

obligations for any operating liabilities. Accordingly, the Group has evaluated its interest in Bridas Corporation as an 

investment in joint venture under IFRS 11/HKFRS 11.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 11/HKFRS 11, the Group changed the accounting for its investment in Bridas Corporation 

from proportionate consolidation to the equity method. The comparative period has been retrospectively adjusted with 

the investments in Bridas Corporation being equity accounted since the date of acquisition on 4 May 2010, hence the 

earlier adoption has no impact on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2010. The effect on the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income for the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 is summarised below.

IFRS 12/HKFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12/HKFRS 12 establishes the disclosure objectives for an entity to disclose information concerning its interest in a 

subsidiary, a joint arrangement, and associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. It also requires an entity to disclose 

the significant judgements and assumptions it has made in determining the nature of its interest in another entity or 

arrangement, also in determining the type of joint arrangement in which it has an interest. Additional disclosures are made 

in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 27 (Revised)/HKAS 27 (Revised) – Separate Financial Statements

Revisions are made resulting from the issuance of IFRS 10/HKFRS 10 and Consolidated Financial Statements are now 

addressed by IFRS 10/HKFRS 10. Therefore, IAS 27/HKAS 27 are revised to only address separate financial statements, 

including how to prepare separate financial statements of an investor and what disclosures should be made in the 

separate financial statements. The adoption of IAS 27 (Revised)/HKAS 27 (Revised) does not have significant impact on 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 28 (Revised)/HKAS 28 (Revised) – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Revisions are made resulting from the issuance of IFRS 11/HKFRS 11. An entity applies IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 to determine 

the type of a joint arrangement in which it is involved. Once it has determined that it has an interest in a joint venture, the 

entity recognises an investment and accounts for it using the equity method.

The five new or revised standards above are required to be adopted for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013 with early application permitted so long as all of the five new or revised standards are applied early. As discussed 

above, the Group has adopted these five new or revised standards starting from 1 January 2011.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)

The following presents the effect of adopting IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 on the consolidated statement of financial position 

comparing the retrospectively adjusted 2010 balances to the balances previously reported, and the 2011 recorded 

balances to what would have been reported had the Group continued to proportionately consolidate Bridas Corporation:

Increase/(decrease) 2011 2010

Assets:

 Property, plant and equipment (24,440) (25,653)

 Intangible assets and goodwill (1,783) (1,874)

 Investment in a joint venture 20,175 20,823

 Other non-current assets (1,487) (1,523)

 Trade receivables (676) (555)

 Cash and cash equivalents (1,205) (12,284)

 Other current assets (73) 11,570

 (9,489) (9,496)

Liabilities:

 Loans and borrowings (2,206) (2,294)

 Other non-current liabilities (477) (371)

 Deferred tax liabilities (5,679) (6,281)

 Trade payables (674) (494)

 Other current liabilities (453) (56)

 (9,489) (9,496)

The following presents the effect of adopting IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 on the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income comparing the retrospectively adjusted 2010 amounts to the amounts previously reported, and the 2011 

recorded amounts to what would have been reported had the Group continued to proportionately consolidate Bridas 

Corporation:

 2011 2010

(Decrease) in revenue (4,941) (3,017)

Decrease in operating expenses 1,031 557

Decrease in taxes other than income tax 1,330 1,095

Decrease in depreciation, depletion and amortisation 1,470 931

Decrease in other expenses 579 188

Decrease in income tax expense 284 47

Increase in share of profits of a joint venture 247 199

Total increase in net profit – –

The adoption of IFRS 11/HKFRS 11 has no material impact on basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 

31 December 2011 and 2010.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)

Recognition of the Group’s investment in Bridas Corporation as at 31 December 2010:

 2010

Assets:

 Property, plant and equipment 25,653

 Intangible assets and goodwill 1,874

 Other non-current assets 1,523

 Trade receivables 555

 Cash and cash equivalents 12,284

 Other current assets 118

Liabilities:

 Loans and borrowings (2,294)

 Other non-current liabilities (371)

 Deferred tax liabilities (6,281)

 Trade payables (494)

 Other current liabilities (11,744)

Investment in a joint venture 20,823

(b) The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs/HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, 

in these financial statements

IFRS 1 Amendments/HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to IFRS 1/HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of

  International Financial Reporting Standards/Hong Kong

  Financial Reporting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation

  and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters1

IFRS 7 Amendments/HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to IFRS 7/HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

  Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets1

IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments5

IFRS 13/HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement4

IAS 1 Amendments/HKAS 1 Amendments Presentation of Financial Statements – Presentation of

  Items of Other Comprehensive Income3

IAS 12 Amendments/HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to IAS 12/HKAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred

  Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets2

IAS 19 (2011)/HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits4

IFRIC-Int 20/HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

Further information about those changes that are expected to significantly affect the Group is as follows:

IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace 

IAS 39/HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and 

measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall classify financial 

assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business 

model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This aims 

to improve and simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of financial assets compared with the 

requirements of IFRS 39/HKAS 39.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) (continued)

In November 2010, the IASB/HKICPA issued additions to IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) 

and incorporated in IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial instruments of IAS 39/HKAS 

39. Most of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from IAS 39/HKAS 39, while changes were made to the 

measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For 

these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must 

be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or 

loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an 

accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been 

designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

IAS 39/HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance 

in IAS 39/HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to apply. The Group expects to 

adopt IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.

Improvements to IFRSs/HKFRSs

Apart from the above, the IASB/HKICPA has also issued improvements to IFRSs/HKFRSs which set out amendments to 

a number of IFRSs/HKFRSs primarily with a view to remove inconsistencies and clarify wording. The adoption of those 

amendments upon their effective dates did not have any material impact on the accounting policies, financial position 

or performance of the Group. While the adoption of some of the amendments when they will become effective after 1 

January 2012 may result in changes in accounting policy, none of them are expected to have a material financial impact 

on the Group. Besides, the Group has also considered all other IFRICs/HKFRICs issued and they are unlikely to have any 

financial impact on the Group.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale financial 

assets and derivative financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented 

in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest million except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 

31 December 2011.

The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 

continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared 

for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of comprehensive income to the extent of dividends 

received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses and dividends resulting from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in full.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at 

acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities 

assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for 

control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests 

in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components 

of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative 

expenses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 

designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 

date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 

in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 

Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be 

recognised in accordance with IAS 39/HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the 

contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 39/HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance 

with the appropriate IFRS/HKFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised 

for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable 

net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the 

net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain 

purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment 

annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group 

performs its impairment test of goodwill at each reporting date. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 

business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-

generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 

liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to 

which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less 

than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 

subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 

associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss 

on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation 

disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has power over the investee such that the Group is able to direct the 

relevant activities, has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its 

power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

Associates
Based on the Group’s ownership percentage (considering its direct ownership as well as potentially exercisable or convertible 

shares) and other contractual rights, the Group has significant influence over its associates, rather than the power to control.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of 

net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 

dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is 

included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and 

losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments 

in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising 

from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not individually tested for 

impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates (continued)
The results of associates are included in the Company’s comprehensive income statement to the extent of dividends received 

and receivable. The Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less any 

impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5/HKFRS 5 Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Joint arrangements
Certain of the Group’s activities are conducted through joint arrangements. Joint arrangements are classified as either a joint 

operation or joint venture, based on the rights and obligations arising from the contractual obligations between the parties to the 

arrangement.

Joint operations

Some arrangements have been assessed by the Group as joint operations as both parties to the contract are responsible for the 

assets and obligations in proportion to their respective interest, whether or not the arrangement is structured through a separate 

vehicle. This evaluation applies to both the Group’s interests in production sharing arrangements and certain jointly-controlled 

entities.

The Group entered into numerous production sharing arrangements or similar agreements in China and overseas countries. The 

Group’s participating interest may vary in each arrangement. The Group, as one of the title owners under certain exploration 

and/or production licenses or permits, is required to bear exploration (with some exceptions in China), development and 

operating costs together with other co-owners based on each owner’s participating interest. Once production occurs, a certain 

percentage of the annual production or revenue will first be distributed to the local government, which, in most of cases, with 

the nature of royalty and other taxes or expenses, and the rest of the annual production or revenue will be allocated among the 

co-owners.

Joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 

of the arrangement.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share 

of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 

dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post acquisition results and reserves of joint ventures 

is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where the profit 

sharing ratios is different to the Group’s equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results of the joint ventures is determined 

based on the agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its joint 

ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Groups investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide 

evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of 

the Group’s investments in joint ventures and is not individually tested for impairment.

The results of joint ventures are included in the Company’s comprehensive income statement to the extent of dividend received 

and receivable. The Company’s investments in joint ventures are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less any 

impairment losses.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5/HKFRS 5 Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the 

other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to 

the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel 

of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, 

deferred tax assets, financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount 

is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an 

individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 

groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or 

loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that 

would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 

prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.



CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 201174

31 December 2011

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment comprise oil and gas properties, and vehicles and office equipment and others.

(a) Oil and gas properties

For oil and gas properties, the successful efforts method of accounting is adopted. The Group capitalises the initial 

acquisition costs of oil and gas properties. Impairment of initial acquisition costs is recognised based on exploratory 

experience and management judgement. Upon discovery of commercial reserves, acquisition costs are transferred to 

proved properties. The costs of drilling and equipping successful exploratory wells, all development expenditures on 

construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines, processing plants and the 

drilling of development wells and the building of enhanced recovery facilities, including those renewals and betterments 

that extend the economic lives of the assets, and the related borrowing costs are capitalised. The costs of unsuccessful 

exploratory wells and all other exploration costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group carries exploratory well costs as an asset when the well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify 

its completion as a producing well and where the Group is making sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the 

economic and operating viability of the project. Exploratory well costs not meeting these criteria are charged to expenses. 

Exploratory wells that discover potentially economic reserves in areas where major capital expenditure will be required 

before production would begin and when the major capital expenditure depends upon the successful completion of 

further exploratory work remain capitalised and are reviewed periodically for impairment.

Productive oil and gas properties are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis over the proved developed reserves. 

Common facilities that are built specifically to service production directly attributed to designated oil and gas properties 

are depreciated based on the proved developed reserves of the respective oil and gas properties on a pro-rata basis. 

Common facilities that are not built specifically to service identified oil and gas properties are depreciated using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Costs associated with significant development projects are not 

depreciated until commercial production commences and the reserves related to those costs are excluded from the 

calculation of depreciation.

Capitalised acquisition costs of proved properties are depreciated on a unit-of-production method over the total proved 

reserves of the relevant oil and gas properties.

(b) Vehicles, office equipment and others

Vehicles, office equipment and others are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The 

straight-line method is adopted to depreciate the cost less any estimated residual value of these assets over their 

expected useful lives. The Group estimates the useful lives of vehicles and office equipment to be five years; and the useful 

lives of other assets is in line with their beneficial periods.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a 

recoverable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed and, adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Any gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) are recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets with finite lives are carried at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The 

cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with 

finite lives except for gas processing rights, are amortised on the straight-line basis over the useful economic life and assessed 

for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 

amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

The intangible asset regarding the gas processing rights has been amortised upon the commercial production of the liquefied 

natural gas on a unit-of-production basis over the total proved reserves of the relevant asset. The intangible assets regarding 

software have been amortised on the straight-line basis over three to five years.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Major maintenance and repairs
Expenditure on major maintenance refits or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts of assets and overhaul 

costs. Where an asset or part of an asset that was separately depreciated and is now written off is replaced and it is probable 

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, the replacement expenditure is capitalised. Where 

part of the asset was not separately considered as a component, the replacement value is used to estimate the carrying amount 

of the replaced assets which is immediately written off. All other maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Research and development costs
All research costs are expensed as incurred.

Expenditure (other than that relating to oil and gas properties discussed above) incurred on projects to develop new products 

is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so 

that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 

future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 

during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred. No 

development costs were capitalised during the year.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39/HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Group determines the 

classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair 

value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention 

in the marketplace (regular way purchases or sales) are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits 

to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, quoted and unquoted financial 

instruments, and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classifications as follows:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value 

through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in the statement of financial position 

at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in other income and gains or finance costs in profit or loss in the 

period. These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are 

recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 

premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses 

are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 

amortisation process.

(c) Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity 

when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 

an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are 

derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.



CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 201176

31 December 2011

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt 

securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor 

designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for 

an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market 

conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses 

recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the investment is 

derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, or until the investment is determined 

to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve 

to profit or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as 

interest income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policies set 

out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of 

reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the 

range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any 

impairment losses.

Fair value
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. 

Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair value of another 

instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in note 35.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 

assets is impaired.

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried 

at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of 

the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 

is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 

in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as 

the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant changes in the technological, 

market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect 

all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(b) Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 

carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal 

payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the profit or loss, 

is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments are impaired if there is a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the investment below its 

cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. Impairment of debt instruments is assessed based on the 

same criteria as assets carried at amortised cost. Impairment losses on equity instruments are not reversed through 

profit or loss; increases in their fair value after impairments are recognised directly in equity. Impairment losses on debt 

instruments are reversed through the profit or loss, if the increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively related 

to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 

where:

i) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

ii) the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 

flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

iii) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all 

the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 

the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 

asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings)
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially stated at fair 

value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

method. The related interest expense is recognised within “Finance costs” in profit or loss.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 

process.

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair value including transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the issue of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of 

the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative 

amortisation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 

and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position, if and 

only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 

basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories and supplies
Inventories primarily consist of oil and supplies, including items for repairs and maintenance of oil and gas properties. Inventories 

are stated at the lower of cost and net unrealisable value. Costs of inventories and supplies represent purchase or production 

cost of goods and are determined on a weighted average basis.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less.

Provisions

(a) General

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 

probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision 

is the present value at the reporting date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 

increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in “Finance costs” in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Dismantlement liability

Dismantlement liability is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of the past 

events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of 

the amount of the obligation can be made. A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also recognised as part 

of the cost of the related property, plant and equipment. The amount recognised is the estimated cost of dismantlement, 

discounted to its present value using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 

liability. Changes in the estimated timing of dismantlement or dismantlement cost estimates are dealt with prospectively 

by recording an adjustment to the provision, and a corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment. The 

unwinding of the discount on the dismantlement provision is included as a finance cost.

The Group recognises a deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability regarding the temporary difference on the dismantlement 

liability and the dismantlement asset respectively.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, either as an expense as it relates to operating activities or as a component of the applicable categories of other 

comprehensive income or loss.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 

or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 

substantially enacted, by the reporting date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 

joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2011, deferred tax liabilities related to undistributed earnings of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries have 

not been recognised, since the timing of the reversal of the taxable temporary difference can be controlled by the Company and 

it is probable that the temporary difference would not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 

unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 

except:

• when the deferred tax assets relating to the deductible temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 

joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 

will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 

utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 

deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 

taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be 

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) Oil and gas sales

Oil and gas sales represent the invoiced value of sales of oil and gas attributable to the interests of the Group, net of 

royalties and the government share oil that is lifted and sold on behalf of the government. Revenue from the sale of oil is 

recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, which is when title passes to the 

customer. This generally occurs when product is physically transferred into a vessel, pipe or other delivery mechanism. 

Revenue from the production of oil in which the Group has an interest with other producers is recognised based on the 

Group’s working interest and the terms of the relevant production sharing contracts. Differences between production sold 

and the Group’s share of production are not significant.

Oil and gas lifted and sold by the Group above or below the Group’s participating interests in the production sharing 

contracts results in overlifts and underlifts. The Group records these transactions in accordance with the entitlement 

method under which overlifts are recorded as liabilities and underlifts are recorded as assets at year-end oil prices. 

Settlement will be in kind or in cash when the liftings are equalised or in cash when production ceases.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Oil and gas sales (continued)
The Group has entered into gas sale contracts with customers, which contain take-or-pay clauses. Under these 

contracts, the Group makes a long term supply commitment in return for a commitment from the buyer to pay for 

minimum quantities, whether or not it takes delivery. These commitments contain protective (force majeure) and 

adjustment provisions. If a buyer has a right to get a ‘make up’ delivery at a later date, revenue recognition is deferred. If 

no such option exists according to the contract terms, revenue is recognised when the take-or-pay penalty is triggered.

(b) Marketing revenues

Marketing revenues principally represent the sale of oil and gas purchased from the foreign partners under the production 

sharing contracts and revenues from the trading of oil and gas through the Company’s subsidiaries. The title, together 

with the risks and rewards of the ownership of such oil purchased from the foreign partners, is transferred to the Group 

from the foreign partners and other unrelated oil and gas companies before the Group sells such oil to its customers. The 

cost of the oil and gas sold is included in “Crude oil and product purchases”.

(c) Other income

Other income mainly represents project management fees charged to foreign partners, handling fees charged to 

customers and income from disposal of oil and gas properties and is recognised when the services have been rendered 

or the properties has been disposed. Reimbursement of insurance claims is recognised when the compensation 

becomes receivable.

(d) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(e) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

The Group presents taxes collected from customers in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net basis.

Share-based payment transactions
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 

employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 

granted. The fair value is determined by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 

29.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 

the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at 

the end of the each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the 

Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a 

period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest for the Group.

No equity-settled award was modified or cancelled during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Retirement and termination benefits
The Group participates in defined contribution plans in accordance with local laws and regulations for full-time employees in the 

PRC and other countries in which it operates. The plans provide for contributions ranging from 11% to 22% of the employees’ 

basic salaries. The Group’s contributions to these defined contribution plans are charged to the profit or loss in the year to which 

they relate.
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Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing 

costs directly relating to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily takes a substantial 

period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other 

borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity in the Group maintains its books and records in its own functional 

currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities of the Group are initially recorded using their respective 

functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences arising 

on settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 

historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 

items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or 

loss on change in fair value of the item.

The functional currencies of certain entities within the Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting 

period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency of the Group at the exchange rates 

ruling at the reporting date, and their statement of comprehensive income are translated into RMB at the weighted average 

exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are included in the cumulative translation reserve. On disposal 

of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 

operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on the 

straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line 

basis over the lease terms.

Contingencies
A contingent liability is disclosed when the existence of an obligation will only be confirmed by future events or when the amount 

of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statements, but is disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is 

probable.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs and HKFRSs requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date 

of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ 

from these estimates.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgements, estimates and 

assumptions, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

(a) Reserve base

Oil and gas properties are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis at a rate calculated by reference to proved reserves. 

Commercial reserves are determined using estimates of oil in place, recovery factors and future oil prices, the latter having 

an impact on the proportion of the gross reserves which are attributable to the host government under the terms of the 

production sharing contracts. The level of estimated commercial reserves is also a key determinant in assessing whether 

the carrying value of any of the Group’s oil and gas properties has been impaired.

Pursuant to the oil and gas reserve estimation requirements under US Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules, the 

Group uses the average, first-day-of-the-month oil price during the 12-month period before the ending date of the period 

covered by the consolidated financial statements to estimate its proved oil and gas reserves.

(b) Carrying value of oil and gas assets

The calculation of the unit-of-production rate for oil and gas properties amortisation could be impacted to the extent 

that actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on proved reserves. This would 

generally result from significant changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves. These factors 

could include changes in proved reserves, the effect on proved reserves of differences between actual commodity prices 

and commodity price assumptions and unforeseen operational issues.

(c) Impairment indicators

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher 

of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 

reasonably possible that the oil price assumption may change which may then impact the estimated life of the field and 

may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible assets. The Group monitors internal and external 

indicators of impairment relating to its tangible and intangible assets.

(d) Dismantlement costs

Dismantlement costs will be incurred by the Group at the end of the operating life of certain of the Group’s facilities and 

properties. The ultimate dismantlement costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors 

including changes to relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other 

production sites. The expected timing and amount of expenditure can also change, for example, in response to changes 

in reserves or changes in laws and regulations or their interpretation. As a result, there could be significant adjustments 

to the provisions established which would affect future financial results.

(e) Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations (including those applicable to tax credits) 

and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the wide range of international business relationships and the 

long term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and 

the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and 

expense already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, based on best estimates, for possible consequences of 

audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on 

various factors, such as the Group’s experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by 

the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues 

depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective Group company’s domicile.
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4. ACQUISITIONS AND OTHER VENTURES

2011
(i) The Company and Bridas Energy Holdings Ltd. (“BEH”), through Bridas Corporation, a 50% owned joint venture, entered 

into a share purchase agreement with BP PLC (“BP”) on 28 November 2010, pursuant to which Bridas Corporation would 

acquire a 60% equity interest in Pan America Energy LLC (“PAE”) from BP for a consideration of approximately US$7.06 

billion. On 5 November 2011, Bridas Corporation sent to BP a letter to terminate the above mentioned transaction to 

acquire 60% equity interest in PAE from BP.

(ii) On 29 January 2011, CNOOC International Limited (“CNOOC International”) through its wholly-owned subsidiary, OOGC 

America, Inc., signed a purchase agreement with Chesapeake Exploration, LLC, a subsidiary of Chesapeake Energy 

Corporation to purchase a 33.3% undivided interest in the Denver-Julesburg and Powder River Basins in northeast 

Colorado and southeast Wyoming (the “Niobrara Project”) with a cash consideration of US$570 million. In addition, 

CNOOC International has agreed to fund 66.7% of Chesapeake’s share of drilling and completion costs in the project 

until an additional US$697 million has been paid. US$180 million was paid in 2011. The deal was closed on 11 February 

2011.

(iii) On 29 March 2011, CNOOC Uganda Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CNOOC International, entered into a sales and 

purchase agreement with Tullow Uganda Limited and Tullow Uganda Operation Pty. Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries 

of Tullow Oil Plc., to acquire a one-third working interest in Uganda Exploration Areas 1, 2 and 3A (the “Uganda Assets”) 

for an initial cash consideration of US$1.467 billion, out of which US$251 million was paid in 2011. The acquisition of 

the Uganda Assets was subsequently completed on 21 February 2012, and the remaining US$1.216 billion was paid 

accordingly.

(iv) On 20 July 2011, the Company entered into an Arrangement Agreement, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, 

CNOOC Luxembourg S.à r.l, to acquire OPTI Canada Inc. (“OPTI”), a public company listed on the Toronto Stock 

Exchange (“TSX”), with a total consideration of approximately US$2.1 billion, which included an aggregate cash 

consideration of US$1.25 billion paid to the OPTI shareholders (US$34 million or approximately RMB214 million) and the 

Second Lien Noteholders (US$1.216 billion or approximately RMB7.69 billion). In addition, due to a change in control of 

OPTI as a result of the transaction, OPTI must redeem all of its outstanding First Lien Notes in December 2011 at a price 

equal to 102% of the principal amount of the First Lien Notes plus accrued interest (totaling US$878 million) pursuant 

to the indentures thereof. The acquisition was completed on 28 November 2011. In connection with the acquisition, the 

OPTI shares have been delisted from the TSX. OPTI Canada Inc. subsequently changed its name to CNOOC Canada Inc. 

on 15 December 2011.

 The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of OPTI as at the date of acquisition are as follows:

 Fair value recognised

 on acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 14,600

Cash and cash equivalents 1,008

Trade receivables 326

Other current assets 105

Trade payables (560)

Other current liabilities (659)

Loans and borrowings (14,262)

Other non-current liabilities (344)

Goodwill on acquisition –

Satisfied by cash 214
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4. ACQUISITIONS AND OTHER VENTURES (continued)

2011 (continued)

(iv) (continued)

The fair values disclosed above are provisional subject to finalisation of valuation for the identifiable assets and liabilities. 

The review of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired will be completed within 12 months after the acquisition 

date.

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

Cash consideration 214

Purchase of Second Lien Notes 7,690

Cash and cash equivalents acquired (1,008)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition 6,896

Since the acquisition, CNOOC Canada Inc. contributed approximately RMB255 million to the Group’s turnover and 

approximately RMB15 million to the consolidated profit for the year.

If the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the year, CNOOC Canada Inc. would have contributed approximately 

RMB2,418 million to the Group’s turnover and reduced the consolidated profit for the year by approximately RMB268 

million.

2010
(i) On 13 March 2010, CNOOC International, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into agreements with BEH 

to form a 50:50 joint venture in Bridas Corporation, formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of BEH, for cash consideration 

of approximately US$3.1 billion. This transaction is aligned with the Company’s growth strategy by expanding its reach 

into Latin America and establishes a foundation for future growth in the region and other countries. Bridas Corporation, 

through its affiliates (including a 40% interest in PAE) has oil and gas exploration and production activities in Argentina, 

Bolivia and Chile. On 4 May 2010, the Company completed its acquisition at a total consideration of US$3.1 billion.

 The Group accounts for its investment in Bridas Corporation using the equity method.

(ii) On 30 April 2010, CNOOC China Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, signed a sales and purchase 

agreement to acquire an additional 24.5% participating interest in Block 15/34 from Devon Energy Corporation (“Devon”) 

for a cash consideration of US$515 million. On 18 June 2010, the Company completed its acquisition. Block 15/34 is 

located in the Pearl River Mouth Basin of South China Sea.

 The Company is the operator of the block. Upon completion, the Company increased its participating interest to 75.5%.

(iii) On 17 May 2010, CNOOC International, Türkiye Petrolleri A.O. (“TPAO”) and Iraqi Drilling Company (“IDC”) (collectively, 

the “Contractors”) entered into a Technical Service Contract (“TSC”) for the Missan oil fields in Iraq. The Contractors are 

engaged to achieve stipulated production targets through improved and enhanced recovery measures. The TSC provides 

for a cost recovery mechanism and remuneration fee on incremental production. The TSC has a contract term of 20 

years, with an option to extend for additional five years with relevant approval.

 CNOOC International will act as the lead contractor and hold a 63.75% participating interest while TPAO will hold 11.25%. 

IDC will hold the remaining 25% participating interest. As a state partner, IDC will be entitled to receive a 25% participating 

interest of remuneration fee without paying any expenditure.

(iv) On 10 October 2010, CNOOC International through its wholly-owned subsidiary, OOGC America, Inc., signed a purchase 

agreement with Chesapeake Exploration, LLC, a subsidiary of Chesapeake Energy Corporation (“Chesapeake”), to 

purchase a 33.3% undivided interest in Chesapeake’s Eagle Ford Shale project in Texas with a cash consideration of 

US$1.08 billion plus an upward adjustment of US$40 million plaid on closing. In addition, CNOOC International has 

agreed to fund 75% of Chesapeake’s share of development costs in the project until an additional US$1.08 billion has 

been paid. The deal was closed on 15 November 2010.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Operating segments
The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into three major operating segments. The Group is involved in the upstream 

operating activities of the petroleum industry that comprise independent operations, operations under joint arrangement 

and trading business. These segments are determined primarily because the Group’s chief operating decision maker 

makes key operating decisions and assesses performance of the segments separately. The Group evaluates the 

performance of each segment based on profit or loss from operations before income tax.

The following table presents the segment financial information for the Group’s operating segments for the years ended 31 

December 2011 and 2010.

 Independent operations Joint arrangements Trading business Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Sales to external customers:

Oil and gas sales 114,411 85,425 74,868 60,709 – – – – – – 189,279 146,134

Marketing revenues – – – – 50,469 32,446 – – – – 50,469 32,446

Intersegment revenues – – 21,293 17,638 – – – – (21,293) (17,638) – –

Other income 219 491 845 836 – – 132 129 – – 1,196 1,456

Total 114,630 85,916 97,006 79,183 50,469 32,446 132 129 (21,293) (17,638) 240,944 180,036

Segment results

Operating expenses (9,254) (7,775) (9,010) (7,872) – – – – – – (18,264) (15,647)

Taxes other than income tax (6,904) (4,434) (3,428) (2,675) – – – – – – (10,332) (7,109)

Exploration expenses (3,982) (4,120) (1,238) (1,363) – – – – – – (5,220) (5,483)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (16,080) (12,833) (14,441) (13,923) – – – – – – (30,521) (26,756)

Special oil gain levy (22,120) (12,048) (9,862) (5,658) – – – – – – (31,982) (17,706)

Impairment and provision (22) (27) – – – – – – – – (22) (27)

Crude oil and product purchases – – – – (50,307) (32,236) – – – – (50,307) (32,236)

Selling and administrative expenses (79) (122) (1,164) (1,267) – – (1,611) (1,650) – – (2,854) (3,039)

Others (350) (535) (396) (225) – – (89) (128) – – (835) (888)

Interest income – – 22 28 – – 1,174 590 – – 1,196 618

Finance costs (831) (502) (523) (418) – – (353) (202) – – (1,707) (1,122)

Exchange gains/(losses), net – – (29) 34 – – 666 961 – – 637 995

Investment income – – – – – – 1,828 427 – – 1,828 427

Share of profits of associates – – – – – – 320 199 – – 320 199

Share of profits of a joint venture – – 247 199 – – – – – – 247 199

Non-operating (expenses)/income, net – – – – – – (563) 142 – – (563) 142

Income tax expense – – – – – – (22,310) (18,193) – – (22,310) (18,193)

Segment profit for the year 55,008 43,520 57,184 46,043 162 210 (20,806) (17,725) (21,293) (17,638) 70,255 54,410

Other segment information

Segment assets 100,629 93,405 157,065 141,098 4,232 3,160 99,341 58,163 – – 361,267 295,826

Investments in associates – – 924 – – – 1,898 1,781 – – 2,822 1,781

Investment in a joint venture – – 20,175 20,823 – – – – – – 20,175 20,823

Total assets 100,629 93,405 178,164 161,921 4,232 3,160 101,239 59,944 – – 384,264 318,430

Segment liabilities (33,706) (20,740) (50,337) (56,420) (2,261) (1,358) (35,104) (24,146) – – (121,408) (102,664)

Total liabilities (33,706) (20,740) (50,337) (56,420) (2,261) (1,358) (35,104) (24,146) – – (121,408) (102,664)

Capital expenditures 20,598 24,707 45,290 27,107 – 1 1,140 92 – – 67,028 51,907
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Geographical information
The Group mainly engages in the exploration, development, production and sale of crude oil, natural gas and other 

petroleum products in offshore China. Activities outside the PRC are mainly conducted in Indonesia, Australia, Nigeria, 

Argentina, the United States of America, Canada and Singapore.

In presenting the Group’s geographical information, revenues from external customers are based on the location of the 

Group’s customers, and non-current assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the Group’s assets. 

No further analysis of geographical information is presented for revenues from external customers as over 77% of the 

Group’s revenues are generated from PRC customers, and revenues generated from customers in other locations are 

individually less than 10%.

The following table presents certain non-current assets and capital expenditure information for the Group’s geographical 

information for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

      Consolidation and 

 PRC Asia except PRC Oceania Africa North America elimination Total

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Non-current assets 191,262 126,562 33,086 33,754 2,423 2,782 26,441 30,818 44,599 16,527 (52,835) (13) 244,976 210,430

Capital expenditures 31,932 31,938 2,450 1,789 1 – 2,142 2,540 30,503 15,640 – – 67,028 51,907

The information on non-current assets above is based on the location of assets and excludes financial instruments.

(c) Information about major customers

The current year’s revenue of approximately RMB52,026 million (2010: RMB34,384 million) and RMB33,591 million 

(2010: RMB13,218 million) was derived from sales by the independent operations and joint arrangements segments to 

China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation and PetroChina Company Limited respectively.

6. OIL AND GAS SALES

 Group

 2011 2010

Gross sales 195,759 152,887

Less: Royalties (3,134) (3,523)

PRC government’s share of oil (3,346) (3,230)

Oil and gas sales 189,279 146,134

7. SPECIAL OIL GAIN LEVY
In 2006, a Special Oil Gain Levy (“SOG Levy”) was imposed by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (“MOF”) at the progressive 

rates from 20% to 40% on the portion of the monthly weighted average sales price of the crude oil lifted in the PRC exceeding 

US$40 per barrel. MOF has decided to increase the threshold of the SOG Levy to US$55, with effect from 1 November 2011. 

Notwithstanding this adjustment, the SOG Levy will continue to have five levels and will be calculated and charged according 

to the progressive and valorem rates on the excess amounts. The SOG Levy paid can be claimed as a deductible expense for 

corporate income tax purposes and is calculated based on the actual volume of the crude oil entitled.
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

 Group
 2011 2010

Crediting:
Interest income from bank deposits (1,196) (618)
Exchange gains, net (637) (995)

Investment income:
 – Net gain from available-for-sale publicly traded investments (1,695)  (425)
 – Net gain from held-to-maturity financial assets (133) ( 2)

 (1,828) (427)

Charging:
Auditors’ remuneration:
 – Audit fee 19 18
 – Other fees 3 2

 22 20

Employee wages, salaries, allowances and social security costs 1,527 1,581

Equity-settled share option expenses 143 218

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation:
 – Property, plant and equipment 30,397 26,943
 – Intangible assets 204 195
 – Less: Net amount capitalised (80) (382)

 30,521 26,756

Operating lease rentals:
 – Office properties 133 128
 – Equipment 1,616 1,819

 1,749 1,947

Repairs and maintenance 3,011 2,867
Research and development costs 850 823
Provision for inventory obsolescence 22 27
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 94 65
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (372) –
Donation to the CNOOC Marine Environmental and
 Ecological Protection Public Welfare Foundation 500 –

9. FINANCE COSTS

 Group
 2011 2010

Interest on bank loans which are repayable within five years 637 264
Interest on other loans  921 384
Other borrowing costs 30 34

Total borrowing costs 1,588 682

Less: Amount capitalised in property, plant and equipment (note 16)  (1,150) (394)

 438 288
Other finance costs:
Unwinding of discount on provision for dismantlement (note 28) 1,312 754
Others  (43) 80

 1,707 1,122

The interest rates used to determine the amount of related borrowing costs for capitalisation varied from 0.9455% to 6.375% 
(2010: from 4.1% to 6.375%) per annum during the year.
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10. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL’S REMUNERATION
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company.

(i) Directors’ remuneration

  Salaries,   Total
  allowances Performance Pension paid/payable
  and benefits related scheme during Share option
 Fees (1) in kind (1) Bonuses (1) contributions the year benefits (10)

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2011
Executive directors:
Li Fanrong (2) 788 – – 75 863 –
Wu Guangqi 788 – – 73 861 4,687

Subtotal 1,576 – – 148 1,724 4,687

Non-executive directors:
Wang Yilin (3) 591  – – – 591 –
Fu Chengyu (4) 197 – – – 197 –
Yang Hua (5) 788 – – 68 856 5,483
Zhou Shouwei 879 – – – 879 5,503
Wu Zhenfang 788 – – – 788 4,596

Subtotal  3,243  – –  68   3,311   15,582 

Independent non-executive
 directors:
Edgar W. K. Cheng (6) 722 – – – 722 –
Chiu Sung Hong 879 – – – 879 –
Lawrence J. Lau  788 – – – 788 –
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 913 – – – 913
Wang Tao (8) 788 – – – 788 –

Subtotal 4,090 – – – 4,090 –

Total 8,909 – – 216 9,125 20,269

2010
Executive directors:
Yang Hua (5) 828 2,607 2,004 81 5,520 4,732
Li Fanrong (2) 483 807 576 26 1,892 –
Wu Guangqi 828 1,298 663 77 2,866 4,011

Subtotal 2,139 4,712 3,243 184 10,278 8,743

Non-executive directors:
Fu Chengyu (4) 828 1,988 1,704 58 4,578 8,728
Zhou Shouwei 924 – – – 924 5,360
Cao Xinghe (9) 345 – – – 345 –
Wu Zhenfang 828 – – – 828 3,969

Subtotal 2,925 1,988 1,704 58 6,675 18,057

Independent non-executive
 directors:
Edgar W. K. Cheng (6) – – – – – –
Chiu Sung Hong 924 – – – 924 –
Lawrence J. Lau (7) 414 – – – 414 –
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 959 – – – 959 –
Wang Tao (8) – – – – –

Subtotal 2,297 – – – 2,297 –

Total 7,361 6,700 4,947 242 19,250 26,800
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10. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL’S REMUNERATION (continued)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Notes:

(1) Fees and salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind represent the gross amount (before applicable individual salary tax) paid/payable to 

individual directors. All the executive directors have voluntarily waived their salaries, allowances, benefits in kind and performance-related 

bonus in 2011.

(2) Mr. Li Fanrong was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 24 May 2010 and was re-designated to executive director with 

effect from 16 September 2010. On 23 November 2011, Mr. Li Fanrong was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(3) On 15 April 2011, Mr. Wang Yilin was appointed as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Non-executive Director of the Company.

(4) Mr. Fu Chengyu was re-designated from executive director to non-executive director with effect from 16 September 2010. On 15 April 

2011, Mr. Fu Chengyu resigned as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Non-executive Director of the Company.

(5) Mr. Yang Hua was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 

16 September 2010. On 23 November 2011, Mr. Yang Hua resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and was re-designated 

from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director of the Company and continually as the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors.

(6) On 3 November 2011, Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng resigned as independent non-executive director and a member of the nomination committee 

of the Company. Dr. Edgar W. K. Cheng has voluntarily waived his remuneration as director in 2010.

(7) Professor Lawrence J. Lau has voluntarily waived his remuneration as director from January to June in 2010.

(8) Mr. Wang Tao has voluntarily waived his remuneration as director in 2010.

(9) Mr. Cao Xinghe retired as a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 24 May 2010.

(10) During the year, no new share options were granted to directors in respect of their services to the Group under the applicable share option 

schemes of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 and pages 46 to 52 of the report of the directors. No director 

exercised any share option in 2011 and 2010.

Save as disclosed above, there was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 

during the year.

(ii) Other key management personnel’s (excluding directors) remuneration

 2011 2010

Short term employee benefits 6 4

Pension scheme contributions 1 1

Amount paid/payable during the year 7 5

Share option benefits* 27 23

Total compensation 34 28

The bands of the remuneration and share option benefits of other key management personnel (excluding directors) and 

the related number of member of other key management personnel (excluding directors) are as follows:

  Number of employees

 2011 2010

Nil to RMB2,000,000 2 2

RMB2,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 – 6 

RMB5,000,001 to RMB6,000,000 6 –

RMB6,000,001 to RMB7,000,000 – –

 8 8

* No other key management personnel exercised any share option in 2011 and 2010.
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11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2010: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out 

in note 10 (i) above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2010: two) non-director highest paid employees for the 

year are as follows:

  2011 2010

Fees* – –

Basic salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind* 4 3

Performance-related bonuses 2 1

Pension scheme contributions – –

Amount paid/payable during the year 6 4

Share option benefits** 17 6

 23 10

* Fees and salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind represent the gross amount (before applicable individual salary tax) paid/payable to individual 

employees.

** During the year, no new share options were granted to the five highest paid employees in respect of their services to the Group. Further details are 

included in note 29.

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

  Number of employees

  2011 2010

Nil to RMB5,000,000 – 1

RMB5,000,001 to RMB5,500,000 1 1

RMB5,500,001 to RMB6,000,000 2 –

RMB6,000,001 to RMB6,500,000 – –

RMB6,500,001 to RMB8,000,000 1 –

 4 2

12. TAX

(i) Income tax
The Company and its subsidiaries are subject, on an entity basis, to income taxes on profits arising in or derived from the 

tax jurisdictions in which the entities of the Group are domiciled and operate. The Company is subject to profits tax at a 

rate of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong, which is qualified as a foreign tax credit to 

offset the PRC corporate income tax starting from 1 January 2008.

The Company is regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise (as defined in the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s 

Republic of China”) by the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC. As a result, the Company is subject to the PRC 

corporate income tax at the rate of 25% starting from 1 January 2008.

The Company’s subsidiary in Mainland China, CNOOC China Limited, is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise. It is subject 

to corporate income tax at the rate of 25% under the prevailing tax rules and regulations.

Subsidiaries of the Group domiciled outside the PRC are subject to income tax at rates ranging from 10% to 56%.

As of 31 December 2011, management of the Company has not provided any deferred tax liabilities related to earnings 

derived by the Company from its overseas subsidiaries since the timing of the reversal of the taxable temporary 

differences can be controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary differences would not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.
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12. TAX (continued)

(i) Income tax (continued)
An analysis of the tax expense in the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income is as follows:

 2011 2010

Overseas

 Current income tax 1,532 1,202

 Deferred tax 906 976

PRC

 Current income tax 21,309 17,434

 Deferred tax (1,437) (1,419)

Total tax charge for the year 22,310 18,193

A reconciliation of the statutory PRC corporate income tax rate to the effective income tax rate of the Group is as follows:

  2011 2010

 % %

Statutory PRC enterprise income tax rate 25.0 25.0

Effect of different tax rates for the Company and overseas subsidiaries  (0.5) 0.3

Tax credit from the government (0.2) (0.1)

Profit attributable to a joint venture and associates (0.2)  (0.1)

Group’s effective income tax rate 24.1 25.1

The movements of deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

  2011 2010

At 1 January  6,841 7,440

Credited to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (531) (443)

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 18) (549) –

Exchange differences (273)  (156)

At 31 December  5,488 6,841

Principal components of deferred tax balances are as follows:

 Group

  2011 2010

Deferred tax assets

Provision for retirement and termination benefits 50 96

Provision for dismantlement 3,237 2,187

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  719 1,047

Losses available for offsetting against future taxable profit 4,002 –

Others 299 223

 8,307 3,553

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax depreciation of oil and gas properties (13,526) (10,306)

Non-current liabilities  (88) –

Others (181)  (88)

 (13,795) (10,394)

Net deferred tax liabilities (5,488) (6,841)
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12. TAX (continued)

(i) Income tax (continued)
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had approximately RMB25,829 million (2010:RMB775 million) of carry-forward tax 

losses, predominantly in North America, that would expire in sixteen to twenty years after generation, for offsetting against 

future taxable profits of the subsidiaries in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of the above tax losses to the extent of the anticipated future taxable 

profits arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s recognised tax losses amounted to RMB10,975 million (2010: nil). No deferred tax 

asset has been recognised in respect of RMB14,854 million tax losses (2010: RMB775 million).

(ii) Other taxes
The Company’s PRC subsidiaries pay the following other taxes:

– Production taxes at the rate of 5% on independent production and production under production sharing contracts;

– Export tariffs at the rate of 5% on the export value of petroleum oil;

– Business tax at rates of 3% to 5% on other income;

– City construction tax at the rate of 1% or 7% on the actual paid production taxes and business tax;

– Educational surcharge at the rate of 3% on the actual paid production taxes and business tax;

– Local Educational surcharge at the rate of 2% on the actual paid production taxes and business tax; and

– Resource taxes at the rate of 5% (reduced tax rates may apply to specific products and fields) on the oil and gas 

sales revenue (excluding production taxes) derived by oil and gas fields under production sharing contracts signed 

after 1 November 2011 and independent offshore oil and gas fields starting from 1 November 2011, which replaced 

the royalties for oil and gas fields except for those under production sharing contracts signed before 1 November 

2011.

In addition, other taxes paid and payable by the Company’s non-PRC subsidiaries include royalty as well as taxes levied 

on petroleum-related income, profit, budgeted operating and capital expenditures.

13. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
The consolidated profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2011 includes a profit 

of approximately RMB20,741 million (2010: RMB30,610 million) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the 

Company (note 30).

14. DIVIDENDS

 Group

  2011 2010

Declared and paid during the year:

Interim dividend 9,106 8,100

Final dividend 9,287 7,795

Total dividends paid in the year 18,393 15,895

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 44,668,570,359 44,669,199,984

Dividend per ordinary share RMB0.41 RMB0.36

Final dividend proposed for approval at the annual general meeting

 at HK$0.28 per ordinary share (2010: HK$0.25

 per ordinary share)-not recognised as a liability

 as at the end of the reporting period 10,142 9,421

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China and related laws and regulations, the Company 

is regarded as a Chinese resident enterprise, and thus is required to withhold corporate income tax at the rate of 10% when it 

distributes dividends to its non-resident enterprise (as defined in the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of 

China”) shareholders, with effect from the distribution of the 2008 final dividend. In respect of all shareholders whose names 

appear on the Company’s register of members and who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate 

nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or organizations, which are all considered as 

non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute the dividend after deducting corporate income tax of 10%.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Group
 2011 2010

Earnings
Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders for
 the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations 70,255 54,410

Number of shares
Number of ordinary shares issued at the beginning of the year 44,669,199,984 44,669,199,984

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
 the basic earnings per share calculation 44,668,570,359 44,669,199,984

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares under the share option schemes 185,044,651 151,987,482

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
 the purpose of diluted earnings per share 44,853,615,010 44,821,187,466

Earnings per share:
 Basic (RMB Yuan) 1.57 1.22
 Diluted (RMB Yuan) 1.57 1.21

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Group
  Vehicles
  and office
 Oil and gas equipment
 properties and others Total

Cost:
 At 1 January 2010 245,559  646  246,205 
 Additions  32,620  94  32,714 
 Acquisitions  19,028  – 19,028 
 Disposals and write-offs  (1,605)  (67)  (1,672)
 Exchange differences  (2,345) –  (2,345)

 At 31 December 2010  293,257 673  293,930 

 At 1 January 2011 293,257  673 293,930
 Additions 43,772 97 43,869
 Acquisitions  25,338 1,083  26,421
 Disposals and write-offs (10,137)  (9) (10,146)
 Exchange differences (4,500)  (2)  (4,502)

 At 31 December 2011 347,730 1,842 349,572

Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortisation:
 At 1 January 2010 (80,583) (303) (80,886)
 Depreciation charge for the year  (26,886)  (57) (26,943)
 Disposals and write-offs 34  8  42 
 Exchange differences  535  – 535 

 At 31 December 2010  (106,900) (352) (107,252)

 At 1 January 2011 (106,900) (352) (107,252)
 Depreciation charge for the year (30,336)  (61) (30,397)
 Disposals and write-offs 7,748 8 7,756
 Exchange differences 887 1 888

 At 31 December 2011 (128,601) (404) (129,005)

Net book value: 
 At 1 January 2011  186,357 321 186,678

 At 31 December 2011 219,129 1,438 220,567
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Included in the current year’s additions was an amount of approximately RMB1,150 million (2010: approximately RMB394 
million) in respect of interest capitalised in property, plant and equipment (note 9). Included also in the depreciation charge 
for the year was an amount of approximately RMB3,268 million (2010: approximately RMB1,697 million) in respect of a 
depreciation charge on dismantlement cost capitalised in oil and gas properties.

 Company
 2011 2010

Office equipment
Cost:
 At 1 January 6 6
 Additions – –
 Disposals and write-offs – –
 Exchange differences – –

 At 31 December 6 6

Accumulated depreciation:
 At 1 January (6) (6)
 Depreciation charge for the year – –
 Disposals and write-offs – –
 Exchange differences – –

 At 31 December (6) (6 )

Net book value: 
 At 1 January – –

 At 31 December – –

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Gas processing right
 under NWS Project Software Total

Cost:
 At 1 January 2010 1,253     359  1,612
 Additions  – 142 142
 Disposal – (10)  (10)
 Exchange differences   (38) –  (38)

 At 31 December 2010  1,215 491  1,706

 At 1 January 2011 1,215 491 1,706
 Additions – 132 132
 Disposal – – –
 Exchange differences  (59) –  (59)

 At 31 December 2011 1,156 623 1,779

Accumulated amortisation:
 At 1 January 2010 (224) (158) (382)
 Amortisation charge for the year   (81) (114) (195)
 Disposal  – 10 10
 Exchange differences  9 – 9

 At 31 December 2010  (296) (262) (558)

 At 1 January 2011 (296) (262) (558)
 Amortisation charge for the year  (79) (125) (204)
 Disposal – – –
 Exchange differences 16 – 16

 At 31 December 2011 (359) (387) (746)

Net book value:
 At 1 January 2011  919 229 1,148

 At 31 December 2011 797 236 1,033
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/LOANS TO AND DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES

 Company

 2011 2010

Unlisted shares, at cost 58,707 6,177

Loans to a subsidiary – 3,311

Due from subsidiaries 23,846 67,175

Due to subsidiaries (16,519) (6,520)

 66,034 70,143

The loans to a subsidiary are unsecured, bearing fixed interest at a rate of 7.084% per annum and are due within five years. The 

carrying values of the loans approximate to their fair values. The loans to a subsidiary were repaid during the year.

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries included in the Company’s current assets and liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and 

repayable on demand.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of entity

Place and date of

establishment

Nominal value

of issued and paid-up/

registered ordinary

share capital

Percentage

of equity

attributable to

the Group Principal activities

Directly held subsidiaries:

CNOOC China Limited Tianjin, PRC

15 September 1999

RMB20 billion 100% Offshore petroleum exploration,

development, production and

sales in the PRC

CNOOC International Limited** British Virgin Islands

23 August 1999

US$20,000,000,002 100% Investment holding

China Offshore

 Oil (Singapore)

 International

 Pte Ltd

Singapore

14 May 1993

SG$3 million 100% Sales and marketing of petroleum

products outside the PRC

CNOOC Finance

 (2002) Limited

British Virgin Islands

24 January 2002

US$1,000 100% Bond issuance

CNOOC Finance

 (2003) Limited

British Virgin Islands

2 April 2003

US$1,000 100% Bond issuance

CNOOC Finance

 (2011) Limited

British Virgin Islands

31 December 2010

US$1,000 100% Bond issuance

OOGC America, Inc. State of Delaware,

United States of America

28 August 1997

US$1,000 100% Investment holding
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Name of entity

Place and date of

establishment

Nominal value

of issued and paid-up/

registered ordinary

share capital

Percentage

of equity

attributable to

the Group Principal activities

Indirectly held subsidiaries*:

CNOOC Deepwater

 Development Limited

Zhuhai, PRC

1 March 2010

RMB 1 billion 100% Deepwater and  low-grade oil and 

gas fields exploration, development, 

and oil and gas production sales in 

the PRC

CNOOC Southeast Asia Limited Bermuda

16 May 1997

US$12,000 100% Investment holding

CNOOC ONWJ Ltd.*** Labuan, F.T.,

Malaysia

27 March 2002

US$1 100% Petroleum exploration, development 

and production in Indonesia

CNOOC SES Ltd. Labuan, F.T., Malaysia

27 March 2002

US$1 100% Petroleum exploration,

development and production in 

Indonesia

CNOOC NWS Private Limited Singapore

8 October 2002

SG$2 100% Offshore petroleum exploration, 

development and production in 

Australia

CNOOC Muturi Limited Isle of Man

8 February 1996

US$7,780,770 100% Petroleum exploration,

development and production

in Indonesia

CNOOC Exploration &

 Production Nigeria

 Limited

Nigeria

6 January 2006

Naira10 million 100% Petroleum exploration, development 

and production in Africa

CNOOC Iraq Limited British Virgin Islands

15 October 2010

US$1 100% Providing services of petroleum 

exploration and development in 

oilfield of the Republic of Iraq

CNOOC Canada Inc. (Note 4 (iv)) Canada

15 January 1999

281,749,526 common 

shares without a par value

100% Oil sands exploration, development 

and production in Canada

* All subsidiaries are indirectly held through CNOOC International Limited, except CNOOC Deepwater Development Limited which is indirectly held 

through CNOOC China Limited.

** CNOOC International Limited is a 100% owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company applied for the subscription of 10,000 redeemable 

shares of a par value each of US$1.00 in CNOOC International Limited at a consideration of US$20,000,000,000 and the first instalment in the 

amount of US$8,361,283,568.40, comprising US$10,000 as to par and US$8,361,273,568.40 as to share premium was paid on 15 June 2011. 

The Company became the registered holder of 10,000 Redeemable Shares in CNOOC International Limited on 8 July 2011.

*** CNOOC ONWJ Ltd. was divested on 22 December 2011, as CNOOC Southeast Asia Limited sold it to EMP International (BVI) Limited.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the 

year or formed a substantial portion of the total assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion 

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/LOANS TO AND DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Name of 

associates

Place and date of

establishment

Nominal value

of issued and

registered

share capital

Percentage

of equity

attributable

the Group Principal activities

Shanghai Petroleum

  Corporation Limited

Shanghai, PRC

7 September 1992

RMB900 million 30% Offshore petroleum

exploration,

development, production

and sales in

the PRC

CNOOC Finance

  Corporation Limited

Beijing, PRC

14 June 2002

RMB1,415 million 31.8% Provision of deposit,

transfer, settlement,

loan, discounting

and other financing

services to CNOOC

and its member entities

Northern Cross (Yukon) 

 Limited*

Yukon, Canada

19 September 1994

22,691,705 common shares 

without a par value

60% Petroleum exploration, 

development and 

production in Canada

* The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary CNOOC International Limited, acquired 60% of the shares in Northern Cross (Yukon) Limited 

in 2011.

All of the associates are not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The Group’s investments in associates represent:

 Group

 2011 2010

Share of net assets 2,822 1,781

All of the Group’s associates are not considered to be individually material. The following table illustrates the summarised 

financial information of the Group’s associates:

 Group

 2011 2010

Profit for the year  320 199

Other comprehensive income (20) 3

Total comprehensive income 300 202
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20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
Particulars of the principal joint venture are as follows:

Name of entity

Place and date of 

establishment

Nominal value of 

issued and paid-up/ 

registered ordinary 

share capital

Percentage 

of equity 

attributable 

to the Group Principal activities

Bridas Corporation British Virgin Islands

15 September 1993

US$102,325,582 50% Investment holding

Summarised financial information of the joint venture is disclosed below:

  Group 

 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 2,410 24,568

Other current assets 1,585 1,346

Total current assets 3,995 25,914

Non-current assets, excluding goodwill 51,855 54,352

Goodwill 3,566 3,748

Total assets 59,416 84,014

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (1,139) (874)

Other current liabilities (2,254) (24,476)

Total current liabilities (3,393) (25,350)

Non-current financial liabilities (3,361) (3,714)

Other non-current liabilities (12,312) (13,304)

Total non-current liabilities (15,673) (17,018)

Total liabilities (19,066) (42,368)

Net assets 40,350 41,646

Net assets, excluding goodwill 36,784 37,898

Revenue 9,882 6,034

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (2,940) (1,862)

Interest income 50 172

Finance costs  (355)  (200)

Profit before tax 1,062 492

Income tax expense (568)  (94)

Profit after tax 494 398

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income 494 398
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20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of the joint venture to the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in 

the joint venture is disclosed below:

 Group

 2011 2010

Group share of net assets of joint venture, excluding goodwill 18,392 18,949

Goodwill on acquisition less cumulative impairment 1,783 1,874

Carrying amount of investment in joint venture 20,175 20,823

No dividend received from the joint venture in 2010 and 2011 respectively.

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

 Group Company

 2011 2010 2011 2010

Current:

Non-publicly traded investments, at fair value:

 Private equity funds 15 16 15 16

 Corporate wealth management  18,500 13,000 – –

  products (1)

 Liquidity funds (2) 9,061 5,924 – –

 27,576 18,940 15 16

Non-current:

Publicly traded investments, at fair value:

 Equity investment in MEG (3) 7,365 8,616 – –

 7,365 8,616 – –

The fair values of publicly traded investments are based on quoted market prices. The fair values of non-publicly traded 

investments are based on fund managers’ quotations. The directors believe that the estimated fair values quoted by fund 

managers are reasonable, and that they are the most appropriate values at the reporting date.

(1) The corporate wealth management products matured from 17 February 2012 to 21 June 2012.

(2) The liquidity funds have no fixed maturity date and no coupon rate.

(3) The equity investment represents investment in the equity securities of MEG Energy Corporation (“MEG”). As at 31 

December 2011, the investment in MEG was stated at the quoted market price. MEG is principally engaged in the 

exploitation and production of oil sands.

During the year, the gross loss of the Group’s and the Company’s available-for-sale investments recognised directly in other 

comprehensive loss amounted to RMB800 million and nil, respectively (2010: other comprehensive income RMB5,590 million 

and nil, respectively).

In addition, there were no realised gains of the Group and the Company, respectively, transferred from other comprehensive 

income to the profit and loss for the year (2010: nil and nil, respectively) upon the disposal of the related available-for-sale 

financial assets.

None of the financial assets above is either past due or impaired.
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22. INVENTORIES AND SUPPLIES

    Group

 2011 2010

Materials and supplies 3,510 3,215

Oil in tanks 986 854

Less: Provision for inventory obsolescence (116)  (94)

 4,380 3,975

The provision for inventory obsolescence during the year was approximately RMB22 million (2010: approximately RMB27 

million).

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is 

normally required. The credit terms of the Group are generally within 30 days after the delivery of oil and gas. Trade receivables 

are non-interest-bearing.

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, substantially all the trade receivables were aged within 30 days. All customers have a good 

repayment history and no receivables are past due.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY OVER THREE MONTHS
The Group’s and the Company’s cash and cash equivalents mainly consist of current deposits and time deposits with maturity 

within seven days. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The weighted average effective interest rates of the Group’s and the Company’s bank deposits were 2.7% per annum (2010: 

2.4% per annum) and 1.1% per annum (2010: 0.22% per annum), respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2011.

CNOOC China Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, deposited RMB12.0 billion with Bank of China to secure 

loans of US$1.77 billion (note 27) granted by Bank of China. The amount was recorded as time deposits with maturity over three 

months.

25. TRADE AND ACCRUED PAYABLES
As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, substantially all the trade and accrued payables were aged within six months. The trade 

and accrued payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within six months.

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

 Group

 2011 2010

Accrued payroll and welfare payable 888 822

Provision for retirement and termination benefits 280 373

Accrued expenses 65 76

Advances from customers 96 2,017

Royalties payable 376 882

Special oil gain levy payable 14,989 5,695

Provision for dismantlement (note 28) 31 187

Other payables* 5,492 8,072

 22,217 18,124

* As disclosed in note 4 (ii), the current portion and the non-current portion of the unpaid funding of 66.7% of Chesapeake’s share of development 

costs in the Niobrara Project have been recognised in “Other payables and accrued liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities”, respectively, in the 

aggregate of US$517 million (approximately, RMB3,261 million) as at 31 December 2011.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of less than one year.
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27. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Current

 Group

 Effective interest 2011 2010

 rate and final maturity Bank loan Notes/ Bonds Total Bank loan Notes/ Bonds Total

Short-term loans 

 and borrowings 

General loans LIBOR+0.7% to 1.38% per annum 

  with maturity within one year 16,193 – 16,193 16,358 –   16,358 

  16,193 – 16,193 16,358 – 16,358

Loans and 

 borrowings due 

 within one year 

For Tangguh LNG LIBOR+0.23% to 0.38% per annum 

 Project****  with maturity within 

  one year 207 – 207 184 – 184

For Nigeria LIBOR+4% per annum with

 OML130 Project  maturity within

  one year 369 – 369 4,652 – 4,652

Finance (2002)*  – 3,150 3,150 – – –

  576 3,150 3,726 4,836 – 4,836

  16,769 3,150 19,919 21,194 – 21,194

Non-current

 Group

 Effective interest 2011 2010

 rate and final maturity Bank loan Notes/ Bonds Total Bank loan Notes/ Bonds Total

For Tangguh LNG LIBOR+0.23% to 0.38% per annum

 Project****  with maturity through 2021 2,562 – 2,562 2,911 – 2,911

For Nigeria  LIBOR+4% per annum with

 OML130 Project  maturity through 2015 – – – 387 – 387

Finance (2002)*  – – – – 3,305 3,305

Finance (2003)**  – 3,102 3,102 – 3,256 3,256

Finance (2011)***  – 12,412 12,412 – – –

  2,562 15,514 18,076 3,298 6,561 9,859

* The principal amount of US$500 million of 6.375% guaranteed notes due in 2012 was issued by CNOOC Finance (2002) Limited, a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company. The obligations of CNOOC Finance (2002) Limited in respect of the notes are unconditionally and irrevocably 

guaranteed by the Company, and was repaid in March 2012.
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27. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

** The principal amount of US$200 million of 4.125% guaranteed notes due in 2013 and the principal amount of US$300 million of 5.500% 

guaranteed notes due in 2033 were issued by CNOOC Finance (2003) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The obligations of 

CNOOC Finance (2003) Limited in respect of the notes are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Company.

*** The principal amount of US$1,500 million of 4.25% guaranteed notes due in 2021 and the principal amount of US$500 million of 5.75% guaranteed 

notes due in 2041 were issued by CNOOC Finance (2011) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The obligations of CNOOC Finance 

(2011) Limited in respect of the notes are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Company.

**** The amount represented the Group’s share of utilised bank loans in Tangguh Liquified Natural Gas Project (the “Tangguh LNG Project”).

The Company delivered a guarantee dated 29 October 2007 in favour of Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., which acts as the facility agent for and on 

behalf of various international commercial banks under a US$884 million commercial loan agreement dated 29 October 2007 in connection with the 

Tangguh LNG Project in Indonesia. The Company guarantees the payment obligations of the trustee borrower under the subject loan agreement 

and is subject to a maximum cap of approximately US$164,888,000. Together with the loan agreement dated 31 July 2006 with a maximum cap 

of approximately US$487,862,000, the total maximum guarantee cap is US$652,750,000.

An agreement in respect of the sale of a 3.05691% interest of the Company in the Tangguh LNG Project to Talisman Energy Inc. (“Talisman”) for a 

consideration of US$212.5 million became effective on 1 January 2008. The transaction was completed through the equity transfer of an indirect 

subsidiary of the Company. The Company through its subsidiary continues to hold a 13.89997% interest in the Tangguh LNG Project after the sale.

In addition, a letter of credit agreement was signed between the Company and Talisman with the execution of the aforesaid agreement. 

Accordingly, Talisman has delivered valid and unexpired standby letters of credit with the amount of US$120 million to the Company (as the 

beneficiary) as a counter-guarantee to offset the exposure of the Company’s guarantee for the aforesaid interest of 3.05691% in respect of the 

Tangguh LNG Project financing.

As at 31 December 2011, except for the general loans of US$1.77 billion secured by time deposits (note 24), all the bank loans 

of the Group were unsecured, and none of the outstanding borrowings were guaranteed by CNOOC.

The maturities of the long term bank loans are as follows:

   Group

 2011 2010

Repayable:

 Within one year 576 4,836

 After one year but within two years 221 589

 After two years but within three years 251 233

 After three years but within four years 281 266

 After four years but within five years 312 298

 After five years 1,497 1,912

 3,138 8,134

 Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (576) (4,836)

 2,562 3,298

Supplemental information with respect to the long term bank loans:

   Maximum Average Weighted

  Weighted amount amount average

  average outstanding outstanding interest rate

For the year ended Balance interest rate during the during the during the

31 December at year end at year end year year* year**

2011 3,138 1.35% 8,134 5,636 2,19%

2010 8,134 3.02% 11,967 10,037 3.25%

* The average amount outstanding is computed by averaging the outstanding principal balances as at 1 January and 31 December of each year.

** The weighted average interest rate is computed by averaging the interest rates as at 1 January and 31 December of each year.

There was no default of principal, interest or redemption terms of the loans and borrowings during the year.
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28. PROVISION FOR DISMANTLEMENT

 Group

 2011 2010

At 1 January 16,012 11,759

Capitalised in oil and gas properties* 7,718 3,812

Acquisition of a subsidiary 151 –

Utilised (156) (291)

Unwinding of discount** (note 9) 1,312 754

Exchange differences (42) (22)

At 31 December 24,995 16,012

Current portion of dismantlement included in other payables and 

 accrued liabilities (note 26) (31) (187)

At 31 December 24,964 15,825

* The amount is included in the additions of oil and gas properties in note 16.

** The discount rate used for calculating the amount of unwinding of the discount is 5% (2010: 5%).

29. SHARE CAPITAL
   Issued share

  Share  capital 

  capital equivalent of

Share Number of shares HK$ million RMB million

Authorised:

 Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each

  as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 75,000,000,000 1,500

Issued and fully paid:

 Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each as at 1 January 2010 44,669,199,984 893 949

As at 31 December 2010 44,669,199,984 893 949

Shares repurchased and cancelled* (10,019,000) – –

As at 31 December 2011 44,659,180,984 893 949

* During the year, the Company purchased 22,894,000 of its shares with an aggregate cash payment of HK$315,016,715 on the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange. 10,019,000 shares were cancelled by the Company by 31 December 2011 and the remaining 12,875,000 shares were cancelled on 10 

January 2012.

Share option schemes
The Company has adopted the following share option schemes for the grant of options to the Company’s directors, senior 

management and other eligible grantees:

1. Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme (as defined below);

2. 2001 Share Option Scheme (as defined below);

3. 2002 Share Option Scheme (as defined below); and

4. 2005 Share Option Scheme (as defined below).

Under these share option schemes, the Remuneration Committee of the Board will from time to time propose for the Board’s 

approval the grant of share options and the number of share options to be granted to the relevant grantees. The maximum 

aggregate number of shares (including those that could be subscribed for under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme, 

the 2001 Share Option Scheme, the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2005 Share Option Scheme) which may be issued 

upon exercise of all options granted shall not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 

2005, being the date on which the shareholders of the Company approved the 2005 Share Option Scheme, excluding shares 

under options which have lapsed.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share option schemes (continued)

Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme

On 4 February 2001, the Company adopted a pre-global offering share option scheme (the “Pre-Global Offering Share Option 

Scheme”). Pursuant to the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme:

1. options to subscribe for an aggregate of 23,100,000 shares have been granted; and

2. the exercise price for such options is HK$1.19 per share.

The exercise periods for the options granted under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme shall end not later than 10 

years from 12 March 2001. No further options may be granted under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme.

2001 Share Option Scheme

On 4 February 2001, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) for the purposes of 

recognizing the contribution that certain individuals had made to the Company and for attracting and retaining the best available 

personnel to the Company. Pursuant to the 2001 Share Option Scheme:

1. options to subscribe for an aggregate of 44,100,000 shares have been granted; and

2. the exercise price for such options price is HK$1.232 per share.

The exercise periods for the options granted under the 2001 Share Option Scheme shall end not later than 10 years from 27 

August 2001. No further options may be granted under the 2001 Share Option Scheme.

2002 Share Option Scheme

In June 2002, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of 

recognizing the contribution that certain individuals had made to the Company and for attracting and retaining the best available 

personnel to the Company.

Under the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant to the directors and employees of the 

Company or any of its subsidiaries options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The maximum number of shares in respect 

of which options may be granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme to any individual in any 12-month period up to the date 

of the latest grant shall not exceed 1% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

According to the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the consideration payable by a grantee for the grant of options will be HK$1.00. 

The exercise price for such options will be determined by the Board at its discretion at the date of grant, except that such price 

shall be not less than the higher of:

1. the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant;

2. the average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”) as stated in the HKSE’s 

quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

3. the closing price of the shares on the HKSE as stated in the HKSE’s quotation sheet on the date of grant.

The exercise periods for the options granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme shall end not later than 10 years from the 

date of grant.

On 31 December 2005, the Company terminated the 2002 Share Option Scheme. Upon termination of the 2002 Share Option 

Scheme, no further options may be granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme, but in all other respects the provisions of the 

2002 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force. The outstanding options under the 2002 Share Option Scheme shall continue 

to be subject to the provisions of the 2002 Share Option Scheme.

2005 Share Option Scheme

On 31 December 2005, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2005 Share Option Scheme”). Under the 

2005 Share Option Scheme, the Board has the authority to grant options to subscribe for shares to the directors, officers and 

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, and any other persons who in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed 

or will contribute to the Group. Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon 

exercise of the options granted to each individual (including exercised and unexercised options) under the 2005 Share Option 

Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by the Company, in any 12-month period, must not exceed 1% of the 

shares in issue of the Company.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share option schemes (continued)

2005 Share Option Scheme (continued)
According to the 2005 Share Option Scheme, the consideration payable by a grantee for the grant of options will be HK$1.00. 

The exercise price for such options will be determined by the Board at its discretion at the date of grant, except that such price 

shall be at least the higher of:

1. the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant;

2. the average closing price of the shares as stated in the HKSE’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately 

preceding the date of grant; and

3. the closing price of the shares as stated in the HKSE’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant.

The period within which the options must be exercised, as well as any minimum holding period or performance targets which 

apply to the options, will be specified by the Board of the Company at the time of grant. The exercise periods for options granted 

under the 2005 Share Option Scheme shall end not later than 10 years from the date of grant. No options may be granted under 

the 2005 Share Option Scheme after the date of the 10th anniversary of the adoption of the 2005 Share Option Scheme.

As no new share option was granted during the year, the fair value was nil (2010: RMB364 million) and the Group recognised 

an equity-settled share option expense of approximately RMB143 million (2010: RMB218 million) during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was estimated as at the date of grant if any, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The expected volatility 

was based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock prices over a period that is commensurate with the expected life 

of the options.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

 2010

Dividend yield 3.27%

Expected volatility 48.58%

Risk-free interest rate 1.63%

Expected life of options 5 years

Weighted average share price per share HK$12.22

Details of the share options outstanding are as follows:

 2011 2010

 Number of  Weighted average Number of Weighted average 

 share options  exercise price  share options exercise price

  HK$  HK$

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 474,054,900 9.14 420,263,901 8.05

Granted during the year – – 106,188,000 12.70

Forfeited during the year (53,094,000) 5.87 (52,397,001) 7.53

Exercised during the year – – – –

Outstanding at end of year 420,960,900 9.56 474,054,900 9.14

Exercisable at the end of the year 328,525,000 8.91 288,864,001 7.25

No share options had been cancelled or modified during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the share options outstanding under these share option schemes 

represented approximately 0.94% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date (2010: 1.06%). The weighted average 

remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 6.09 years (2010: 6.76 years). The exercise 

in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 

420,960,900 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of RMB6,825,460 and share premium of 

RMB3,254,986,451.
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30. RESERVES
According to the laws and regulations of the PRC and the articles of association of CNOOC China Limited, CNOOC China 

Limited is required to provide for certain statutory funds, namely, the general reserve fund and the staff and workers’ bonus 

and welfare fund, which are appropriated from net profit (after making good losses from previous years), but before dividend 

distribution.

CNOOC China Limited is required to allocate at least 10% of its net profit as reported in accordance with the generally accepted 

accounting principles in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”) to the general reserve fund until the balance of such fund reaches 50% of 

its registered capital. The general reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset against 

accumulated losses or to increase capital.

Appropriation to the staff and workers’ bonus and welfare fund, which is determined at the discretion of the board of directors 

of CNOOC China Limited, is expensed as incurred under IFRSs/HKFRSs. The staff and workers’ bonus and welfare fund can 

only be used for special bonuses or collective welfare of employees.

As at 31 December 2011, the general reserve fund amounted to RMB10,000 million (2010: RMB10,000 million), representing 

50% (2010: 50%) of the total registered capital of CNOOC China Limited.

In accordance with the “Temporary Regulation for Safety Expense Financial Management of Higher Risk Industry” and the 

implementation guidance issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC, the Group is required to accrue a safety fund for its oil 

and gas exploration and production activities within the PRC by appropriating a portion of its net profit to other reserves based 

on its annual production from offshore China. Such reserve is reduced for expenses incurred to improve the safety conditions 

of oil and gas production. When the safety fund is fully utilised, additional expenses incurred for safety production purpose are 

charged directly to the profit or loss for the year. As of 31 December, 2011, the Group’s safety fund reserve accrued under the 

PRC regulations amounted to nil (2010: RMB13 million).

In accordance with the relevant accounting principles required by the local authorities, as at 31 December 2011, the aggregate 

amount of the Group’s retained earnings available for distribution to the Company’s shareholders amounted to approximately 

RMB205,055 million (2010: RMB153,831 million).

 Company

 Share 

 premium 

 account and 

 capital Cumulative

 redemption translation Other Retained

 reserve reserve reserves earnings Total

At 1 January 2010 42,129 (12,371) 5,136 18,857 53,751

Total comprehensive income 

 for the year – (2,514) – 30,610 28,096

2009 final dividend – – – (7,795) (7,795)

2010 interim dividend – – – (8,100) (8,100)

Equity-settled share option 

 arrangements – – 218 – 218

At 31 December 2010 42,129 (14,885) 5,354 33,572 66,170

At 1 January 2011 42,129 (14,885) 5,354 33,572 66,170

Total comprehensive income

 for the year – (2,992) – 20,741 17,749

2010 final dividend – – – (9,287) (9,287)

2011 interim dividend – – – (9,106) (9,106)

Share repurchases – – – (256) (256)

Equity-settled share option 

 arrangements – – 143 – 143

At 31 December 2011 42,129 (17,877) 5,497 35,664 65,413

As at 31 December 2011, the distributable profits of the Company amounted to approximately RMB35,664 million (2010: 

RMB33,572 million).
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As disclosed in note 1, the Company is a subsidiary of CNOOC, which is a state-owned enterprise subject to the control of the 

State Council of the PRC Government. The State Council of the PRC Government directly and indirectly controls a significant 

number of entities through its government authorities and other state-owned entities.

As the Group is controlled by CNOOC, transactions with CNOOC, its subsidiaries and associates (the “CNOOC Group”) are 

disclosed as related party transactions. The Company entered into a comprehensive framework agreement with CNOOC on 

1 November 2010 for the provision (1) by the Group to CNOOC Group and (2) by CNOOC Group to the Group, of a range 

of products and services which may be required and requested from time to time by either party and/or its associates in 

respect of the related party/continuing connected transactions. The term of the comprehensive framework agreement is for a 

period of three years from 1 January 2011. The continuing connected transactions and relevant annual caps were approved 

by the independent shareholders of the Company on 24 November 2010. The approved related party/continuing connected 

transactions are as follows:

1. Provision of exploration, oil and gas development, oil and gas production as well as marketing, management and ancillary 

services by CNOOC Group to the Group:

a) Provision of exploration and support services

b) Provision of oil and gas development and support services

c) Provision of oil and gas production and support services

d) Provision of marketing, management and ancillary services

e) FPSO vessel leases

2. Provision of management, technical, facilities and ancillary services, including the supply of materials by the Group to 

CNOOC Group; and

3. Sales of petroleum and natural gas products by the Group to CNOOC Group:

a) Sales of petroleum and natural gas products (other than long term sales of natural gas and liquefied natural gas)

b) Long term sales of natural gas and liquefied natural gas

Pricing principles
The related party/continuing connected transactions referred to in paragraphs 1(a) to 1(d) above provided by CNOOC Group 

to the Group and paragraph 2 above provided by the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates are based on negotiations 

with CNOOC Group on normal commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than those available to the Group from 

independent third parties, under prevailing local market conditions, including considerations such as volume of sales, length of 

contracts, package of services, overall customer relationship and other market factors.

For services provided by CNOOC Group to the Group as described above, on the basis of the above pricing principle, such 

services must be charged in accordance with the following pricing mechanism and in the following sequential order:

(i) state-prescribed prices; or

(ii) where there is no state-prescribed price, market prices, including the local, national or international market prices; or

(iii) when neither (i) nor (ii) is applicable, the costs of CNOOC Group for providing the relevant service (including the cost of 

sourcing or purchasing from third parties) plus a margin of not more than 10%, before any applicable taxes.

The related party/continuing connected transactions referred to in paragraph 1(e) above provided by CNOOC Group to the 

Group are at market prices on normal commercial terms which are calculated on a daily basis.

The related party/continuing connected transactions referred to in paragraphs 3(a) above provided by the Group to CNOOC 

Group are at state-prescribed prices or local, national or international market prices and on normal commercial terms.

The related party/continuing connected transactions referred to in paragraphs 3(b) above provided by the Group to CNOOC 

Group are at state-prescribed prices or local, national or international market prices and on normal commercial terms, which are 

subject to adjustment in accordance with movements in international oil prices as well as other factors such as the term of the 

sales agreement and the length of the relevant pipeline.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business between the 

Group and its related parties during the period and the balances arising from related party transactions at the end of the year:
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i) Provision of exploration, oil and gas development, oil and gas production as well as marketing, 
management and ancillary services by CNOOC Group to the Group

 Group

 2011 2010

Provision of exploration and support services 6,625 5,462

 – Inclusive of amounts capitalised under property, plant and equipment 3,480 2,359

Provision of oil and gas development and support services 13,544 14,190

Provision of oil and gas production and support services (note a) 6,675 5,229

Provision of marketing, management and ancillary services (note b) 521 759

FPSO vessel leases (note c) 1,253 1,452

 28,618 27,092

(ii) Provision of management, technical, facilities and ancillary services, including the supply of materials 
by the Group to CNOOC Group

The Group did not enter into any transactions in this category for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

(iii) Sales of petroleum and natural gas products by the Group to CNOOC Group

 Group

 2011 2010

Sales of petroleum and natural gas products

 (other than long term sales of natural gas and 

 liquefied natural gas) (note d) 127,270 90,869

Long term sales of natural gas and liquefied natural gas (note e) 5,896 4,434

 133,166 95,303

(iv) Transactions with CNOOC Finance Corporation Limited (“CNOOC Finance”)

(a) Interest income received by the Group

 Group

 2011 2010

Interest income from deposits in CNOOC Finance (note f) 124 72

(b) Deposits made by the Group

 Group

 2011 2010

Deposits in CNOOC Finance (note f) 9,800 7,872

(v) Balances with CNOOC Group

 Group

 2011 2010

Amount due to CNOOC

 – included in other payables and accrued liabilities 456 307

Amount due to other related parties

 – included in trade and accrued payables 11,075 8,328

 11,531 8,635

Amounts due from other related parties

 – included in trade receivables 10,058 9,369

 – included in other current assets 254 179

 10,312 9,548



CNOOC LIMITED  Annual Report 2011 109

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2011

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(vi) Balances with a joint venture

 Group

 2011 2010

Amounts due from a joint venture

 – included in held-to-maturity financial assets 44 –

 – included in other current assets – 11,688

 44 11,688

(vii) Transactions and balances with other state-owned entities
The Group enters into extensive transactions covering purchases or sales of crude oil, natural gas, property, plant and 

equipment and other assets, receiving of services, and making deposits and borrowings with state-owned entities, other 

than the CNOOC Group, in the normal course of business at terms comparable to those with other non state-owned 

entities. The purchases of property, plant and equipment and other assets, and receipt of services from these state-

owned entities are individually not significant. The individually significant sales transactions with these state-owned entity 

customers are disclosed in note 36. In addition, the Group has certain of its cash and time deposits and outstanding 

short-term bank loans with certain state-owned banks in the PRC as at 31 December 2011, as summarised below:

 Group

 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 12,524 16,004

Time deposits with financial institutions 14,976 11,976

 27,500 27,980

Short-term loans 11,153 11,722

Interest rates for the above time deposits and short term loans are at prevailing market rates.

(viii) Key management personnel’s remuneration
Key management personnel’s remuneration is disclosed in note 10.

Notes:

a) These represent the services for production operations, the provision of various facilities and ancillary services, such as provision of different types 

of materials, medical and employee welfare services, maintenance and repair of major equipment and supply of water, electricity and heat to the 

Group, some of which may not be available from independent third parties or available on comparable terms.

b) These include marketing, administration and management, management of oil and gas operations and integrated research services as well as other 

ancillary services relating to exploration, development, production and research activities of the Group. In addition, CNOOC and/or its associates 

leased certain premises to the Group for use as office premises and staff quarters out of which they provided management services to certain 

properties.

c) CNOOC Energy Technology & Services Limited (formerly known as “CNOOC Oil Base Group Limited”) leased floating production, storage and 

offloading (FPSO) vessels to the Group for use in oil production operations.

d) The sales include crude oil, condensate oil, liquefied petroleum gas, natural gas and liquefied natural gas to CNOOC Group. Individual sales 

contracts were entered into from time to time between the Group and CNOOC Group.

e) It is the market practice for sales terms to be determined based on the estimated reserves and production profile of the relevant gas fields. The long 

term sales contracts usually last for 15 to 20 years.

f) CNOOC Finance is a 31.8% owned associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of CNOOC. Under the renewed financial services framework 

agreement with CNOOC Finance dated 20 August 2010, CNOOC Finance continues to provide to the Group settlement, depository, discounting, 

loans and entrustment loans services. The renewal agreement is effective from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2013. The depository services 

were exempted from independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The stated deposits in (iv) (b) above represent the maximum daily outstanding balance for deposits 

(including accrued interest) during the period.

The related party transactions in respect of items listed above also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected 

transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The amount due to the parent company and amounts due from/to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable 

on demand, unless otherwise disclosed.
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32. RETIREMENT AND TERMINATION BENEFITS
All the Group’s full-time employees in the PRC are covered by a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the 

government of the PRC, and are entitled to an annual pension. The PRC government is responsible for the pension liabilities to 

these retired employees. The Group is required to make annual contributions to the state-managed retirement benefit plan at 

rated ranging from 11% to 22% of the employees’ basic salaries.

The Company is required to make contributions to a defined contribution mandatory provident fund at a rate of 5% of the basic 

salaries of all full-time employees in Hong Kong. The related pension costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group provides retirement and termination benefits for all local employees in Indonesia in accordance with Indonesian 

labour law, and provides employee benefits to expatriate staff in accordance with the relevant employment contract.

During the year, the Group’s pension costs charged to the consolidated financial statement of comprehensive income 

amounted to RMB123 million (2010: RMB118 million).

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

 2011 2010

Profit before tax 92,565 72,603

Adjustments for:

 Interest income on bank deposits (1,196) (618)

 Finance costs 1,682 1,109

 Exchange gains, net (637) (995)

 Share of profits of associates (320) (199)

 Share of profits of a joint venture (247) (199)

 Investment income (1,828) (427)

 Provision for inventory obsolescence 22 27

 Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 30,521 26,756

 Loss on disposal and write-off of property, plant and equipment 706 1,175

 Unwinding of discount on long term guaranteed notes 25 13

 Equity-settled share option expense 143 218

 Gain from disposal of a subsidiary (372) –

 Others (13) –

 121,051 99,463

Increase in trade receivables (982) (6,689)

Increase in inventories and supplies (319) (475)

Decrease/(increase) in other current assets 9,840 (11,880)

increase in trade and accrued payables, other payables and accrued liabilities 1,404 2,252

Increase in other taxes payable 9,815 3,250

Cash generated from operations 140,809 85,921
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34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(i) Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had the following capital commitments*, principally for the construction and 

purchase of property, plant and equipment:

 2011 2010

Contracted, but not provided for** 15,219 9,030

Authorised, but not contracted for 59,584 45,973

* The capital commitments do not include investment commitments for acquisitions of equity interest or working interest, which have been 

disclosed in note 4.

** The capital commitments contracted, but not provided for, include the estimated payments to the Ministry of Land and Resources of the 

PRC for the next five years with respect to the Group’s exploration and production licenses.

*** The above table includes a commitment of approximately RMB3,221 million (2010: RMB1,619 million) contracted with the CNOOC Group.

Capital commitments of a joint venture:

 2011 2010

Contracted, but not provided for 1,384 591

Authorised, but not contracted for – 152

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had unutilised banking facilities amounting to approximately RMB160,580 million 

(2010: RMB179,029 million).

(ii) Operating lease commitments

(a) Office properties

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are 

negotiated for terms ranging from two month to nine years.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

falling due as follows:

 2011 2010

Commitments due:

 Within one year 191 90

 In the first to second years, inclusive 30 22

 After the second but before the fifth years, inclusive 20 19

 241 131

The above table includes minimum lease payments of approximately RMB145 million (2010: RMB80 million) to the 

CNOOC Group.

Office properties commitments of a joint venture:

 2011 2010

Commitments due:

 Within one year 7 31

 In the first to second years, inclusive 6 30

 After the second but before the fifth years, inclusive 11 4

 24 65
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34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(ii) Operating lease commitments (continued)

(b) Plant and equipment
The Group leases certain of its plant and equipment under operating lease arrangements for a term from seven 
months to nine years.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
falling due as follows:

 2011 2010

Commitments due:
 Within one year 783 703
 In the first to second years, inclusive 444 547
 After the second but before the fifth years, inclusive 606 746
 After five years 313 485

 2,146 2,481

The above table includes a commitment of approximately RMB1,783 million (2010: RMB2,470 million) to the 
CNOOC Group.

(iii) Contingencies
(a) On 8 January 2006, the Company signed a definitive agreement with South Atlantic Petroleum Limited 

(“SAPETRO”) to acquire a 45% working interest in the Offshore Oil Mining Lease 130 (“OML130”) in Nigeria (the 
“OML130 Transaction”) and the OML130 Transaction was completed on 20 April 2006.

In 2007, a local tax office in Nigeria (the “Nigerian Local Tax Office”) conducted a tax audit on SAPETRO. According 
to the preliminary tax audit results, the Nigerian Local Tax Office has raised a disagreement with the tax filings made 
for the OML130 Transaction.

The tax audit assessment made by the Nigerian Local Tax Office has been contested by the Company in 
accordance with Nigerian laws. The Company then filed a suit in the Nigerian Federal High Court. In March 2011, 
the Nigeria Federal High Court delivered a binding judgement in favour of the Company, agreeing that the Company 
is not subject to Value Added Tax for the OML130 Transaction. The judgement was appealed by counterparties to 
the High Court. After seeking legal advice, the Company’s management believes that the Company has reasonable 
grounds in defending for such an appeal. Consequently, no provision has been made for any expenses which might 
arise as a result of the dispute.

(b) On 26 October 2011, the Company received notice of assessment from Federal Inland Revenue Service (“FIRS”), 
confirming that the effective Petroleum Profit Tax (“PPT”) and related tax for the year of 2010 shall be calculated and 
payable on the basis of the PPT Tax Return prepared by Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation. The Company 
contested the notice of assessment. On 13 January 2012, the Company, together with South Atlantic Petroleum 
Limited, has filed an appeal in relation thereto to the local Tax Appeal Tribunal. No verdict has been issued to date, 
and the result of the appeal is still uncertain.

(c) The Company has extended interest-free intercompany loans to CNOOC International, a wholly-owned subsidiary, 
to provide onward funding to its subsidiaries domiciled outside the PRC. Upon receipt of the Chinese Resident 
Enterprise Approval, the Company may be liable to pay taxes on the deemed interest income for the intercompany 
loan to CNOOC International starting from 1 January 2008. The Company is currently applying to, and awaiting 
confirmation from its in-charge tax authority for an exemption on this possible deemed interest income. In July 
2011, the Company completed the transfer of the interest-free intercompany loans to the share capital account of 
CNOOC International, in order to reduce the future tax exposure arising from any deemed interest income for the 
intercompany loans.

(d) Two oil spill accidents occurred on 4 June and 17 June 2011 respectively at Platforms B and C of Penglai 19-3 
oilfield, which is being operated under a production sharing contract (“PSC”) among CNOOC China Limited, the 
subsidiary of the Company, and two subsidiaries of ConocoPhillips (“ConocoPhillips”), the US based oil company, 
among which ConocoPhillips China Inc. (“COPC”) is the operator and responsible for the daily operations of 
the oilfield. Under the PSC, ConocoPhillips and the Company have 49% and 51% of participating interests, 
respectively, in respect of development and production. On 11 November 2011, the State Oceanic Administration 
of the PRC announced the investigation conclusion made by the joint investigation team of the government that, 
“ConocoPhillips China Inc. violated the Overall Development Plan during the production operation on Penglai 
19-3 oilfield, had defects in its procedures and management, and did not take necessary measures after obvious 
accident signs emerged, which altogether eventually resulted in an accident involving liabilities, causing significant 
oceanic pollution by oil spill.”
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34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(iii) Contingencies (continued)

(d) (continued)

On 25 January 2012, the Company released that COPC had reached an agreement with Ministry of Agriculture 

of the PRC and China National Offshore Oil Corporation, the Company’s parent company, to resolve fishery 

indemnification and compensation issues for the oil spill accidents of Penglai 19-3 oilfield. Under this agreement, 

COPC will put up RMB1 billion to settle the indemnification and compensation for damages to the aquatic 

organisms in part of the affected areas of the Hebei Province and Liaoning Province as well as damages to the 

natural fishery resources in Bohai.

The Company is of the view that the Company’s obligations, if any, arising from the above mentioned accidents 

shall be determined in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, the PSC and related agreements, among 

others. Based on evaluations performed as of the date of these financial statements, the Company believes that it 

is not possible to determine provisions, if any, for the above mentioned accidents in these financial statements. The 

financial impact of such oil spill accidents on the Company is still uncertain, and the Company has not made any 

provision for the accidents in these financial statements.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying values of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, trade receivables, other current assets, trade and accrued 

payables and other payables approximated to their fair values at the reporting date due to the short maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of the Group’s long term bank loans with floating interest rates approximated to the carrying amount of RMB4,063 

million as at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB8,950 million).

The estimated fair value of the Group’s long term guaranteed notes based on current market interest rates was approximately 

RMB20,097 million as at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB6,989 million), which was determined by reference to the market price 

as at 31 December 2011.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurement:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 

indirectly; and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value for 

each hierarchy respectively:

 31 December

 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets measured at fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets – current

 Private equity funds* 15 – 15 –

 Corporate wealth management products* 18,500 – 18,500 –

 Liquidity funds** 9,061 9,061 – –

 27,576 9,061 18,515 –

Available-for-sale financial assets – non-current

 Equity investment in MEG** 7,365 7,365 – –

 7,365 7,365 – –

Liabilities measured at fair value

 Foreign exchange forward contracts*** 38 – 38 –
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

 31 December

 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets measured at fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets – current

 Private equity funds* 16 – 16 –

 Corporate wealth management products* 13,000 – 13,000 –

 Liquidity funds** 5,924 5,924 – –

 18,940 5,924 13,016 –

Available-for-sale financial assets – non-current

 Equity investment in MEG** 8,616 8,616 – –

 8,616 8,616 – –

Liabilities measured at fair value

 Foreign exchange forward contracts*** 80 – 80 –

* The fair values of private equity funds and corporate wealth management products are based on the fund managers’ quotations.

** The fair values of liquidity funds and equity investment in MEG are based on quoted market prices.

*** The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts was determined using forward exchange rates as at 31 December 2011 and 2010, respectively.

These contracts are entered into for a 12-month period consistent with the US dollars payment exposures, which are not 

designated as cash flows, fair value or net investment hedge. These foreign currency forward contracts are categorised as 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair value of these contracts were recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income in other finance costs (note 9).

36. CONCENTRATION OF CUSTOMERS
A substantial portion of the oil and gas sales of the Group is made to a small number of third parties on credit. Details of the 

gross sales to these top five customers are as follows:

 2011 2010

China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation* 52,026 34,384

PetroChina Company Limited* 33,591 13,218

Gunvor Singapore Pte Ltd. 4,042 2,404

Shandong Changyi Petrochemical Ltd.* 2,607 2,347

Shandong Huaxing Petrochemical Group Co., Ltd.* 2,534 1,883

* These transactions are with other state-owned entities.

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, long term guaranteed notes, available-for-sale financial assets, 

cash and short term deposits. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade 

payables, which arise directly from its operations. The Group is exposed to credit risk, oil and gas price risk, currency risk, 

interest rate risk, business risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s senior management oversees the management of these risks. The Group’s senior management is supported by 

various departments that advise on financial risks and the appropriate financial risks governance framework for the Group. 

Those departments provide assurance to the Group’s senior management that the Group’s financial risk-taking activities are 

governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance 

with group policies and group risk appetite.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk
The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and liquidity funds investments, trade 

receivables and other receivables, and other current assets except for prepayments represent the Group’s maximum 

exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

The significant portion of the Group’s trade receivables is related to the sale of oil and natural gas to third party customers. 

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of the customers’ financial condition and generally does not require 

collateral on trade receivables. The Group made an impairment allowance on doubtful receivables and actual losses have 

been within management’s expectation.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty and by geographical region. At the reporting date, 

the Group has certain concentrations of credit risk as 22% (2010: 17%) and 36% (2010: 32%) of the Group’s trade 

receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.

(ii) Oil and gas price risk
As the Group’s crude oil’s price are mainly determined by reference to the crude oil’s price in international markets, 

changes in international crude oil’s price have a large impact on the Group. Unstable and high volatility of international 

crude oil’s price will has a significant effect on the Group’s net sales and net profits.

(iii) Currency risk
Substantially all of the Group’s oil and gas sales are denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars (“US dollars”). 

In the past decade, the PRC government’s policies of maintaining a stable exchange rate and China’s ample foreign 

reserves have contributed to the stability of the Renminbi. Starting from 21 July 2005, China reformed the exchange rate 

regime by moving into a managed floating exchange rate regime based on market supply and demand with reference to a 

basket of currencies. Renminbi would no longer be pegged to the US dollars. From 1 January 2011 to 30 December 2011 

(the last working day in 2011), Renminbi has appreciated by approximately 5.11% against the US dollars. At the reporting 

date, approximately 86.0% (2010: 81.5%) of the group’s cash and cash equivalents and time deposits with maturity over 

three months were denominated in Renminbi, and the remaining amounts were denominated in US dolloars and Hong 

Kong dollars.

Management has assessed the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk by using a sensitivity analysis on the change in 

foreign exchange rate of US dollars, to which the Group is mainly exposed to as at 31 December 2010 and 2011. Based 

on management’s assessment, a 5% change in the foreign exchange rate of the US dollars at 31 December 2011 would 

have impacted the profit for the year of the Group by 0.72% and the equity of the Group by 0.58%. This analysis has 

been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had 

been applied to the foreign currency balances to which the Group has significant exposure with all other variables held 

constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

Senior management are closely monitoring the Group’s net exposure to foreign currency risk. The appreciation of 

Renminbi against the US dollars may have the following impact on the Group. On one hand, since the benchmark oil and 

gas prices are usually in US dollars against Renminbi, the Group’s oil and gas sales may decrease due to the depreciation 

of US dollars against Renminbi. On the other hand, the depreciation of US dollars against Renminbi will also decrease the 

Group’s costs for imported equipment and materials, most of which are denominated in the US dollars. In addition, the 

debt repayment by the Group will decrease since all of the Group’s debts are also denominated in the US dollars.

(iv) Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk is closely monitored by the Group’s senior management. As at the end of 2011, the interest rates 

for 49% of the Group’s debts were fixed. The term of the weighted average balance was approximately 6.45 years. The 

fixed interest rates can reduce the volatility of finance costs under uncertain environments and the Group’s exposure to 

changes in interest rates is not expected to be material.

(v) Business risk
The operations of the Group are conducted in the PRC and many other countries and accordingly are subject to special 

considerations and significant risks not typically associated with investments in equity securities of the United States of 

America and Western European companies. These include risks associated with, among others, the oil and gas industry, 

the political, economic and legal environments, influence of the national authorities over price setting and competition in 

the industry.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(vi) Liquidity risk
The Group manages its liquidity risk by regularly monitoring its liquidity requirements and its compliance with debt 

covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and readily unrealisable available-for-sale 

financial assets, and adequate time deposits to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term. In addition, bank 

facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The Group’s trade and accrued payables, other payables and accrued liabilities are all due for settlement within six 

months after the reporting date.

(vii) Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, raise new debt or issue new shares. 

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years end 31 December 

2011 and 31 December 2010.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to capital ratio, which is calculated as interest-bearing debts divided 

by total capital (equity attributable to owners of the parent plus interest-bearing debts).

 2011 2010

Interest-bearing debts 37,995 31,053

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 262,856 215,766

Total capital 300,851 246,819

Gearing ratio 12.6% 12.6%

38. CHARGE OF ASSETS
CNOOC NWS Private Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, together with the other joint venture partners and the 

operator of the NWS Project, signed a Deed of Cross Charge and an Extended Deed of Cross Charge whereby certain liabilities 

incurred or to be incurred, if any, by the Company in respect of the NWS Project are secured by its interest in the NWS Project.

39. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Group has no other subsequent events needed to be disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, except those 

disclosed in note 4(iii) and note 27.

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform to the current period’s presentation. In addition, due to the 

adoption of the new and revised IFRS/HKFRSs during the current period, certain comparative amounts were retrospectively 

adjusted accordingly (note 2.2).

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2012.
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The following disclosures are included in accordance with the FASB Accounting Standard Codification 932 “Extractive Activities-Oil 

and Gas (the “ASC 932”).

The comparative figures in 2010 are retrospectively adjusted in accordance with the accounting policy change disclosed in Note 2.2 

to the consolidated financial statements.

The regional analysis presented below is on a continent basis, with separate disclosure for countries that contain 15% or more of the 

total proved reserve, in accordance with SEC and FASB requirements.

(a) Reserve quantity information
Crude oil and natural gas reserve estimates are determined through analysis of geological and engineering data which appear, 

with reasonable certainty, to be economically producable in the future from known oil and natural gas reservoirs under existing 

economic and operating conditions. The reserve data that we disclosed were all based on the definitions and disclosure 

guidelines contained in the US Securities and Exchange Commission’s final rules on “Modernization of oil and Gas Reporting” 

(the “SEC Final Rule”).

For the years ended 31 December 2009, we engaged independent third party consulting firms to perform annual estimates for 

our proved oil and gas reserves except for reserves of investee accounted for by the equity method. For the years 2010 and 

2011, approximately 11% and 25%, respectively, of our total proved reserves were evaluated by us, and the remaining were 

evaluated by independent third party.

We implemented rigorous internal control system that monitors the entire reserves estimation procedure and certain key metrics 

in order to ensure that the process and results of reserves estimates fully comply with the relevant SEC rules.

We established the Reserve Management Group, or RMG, which is led by one of our Executive Vice Presidents and comprises 

the general managers of the relevant departments.

The RMG’s main responsibilities are to:

• review our reserves policies;

• review our proved reserves and other categories of reserves; and

• select our reserves estimators and auditors.

The RMG follows certain procedures to appoint our internal reserves estimators and reserves auditors, who are required to have 

undergraduate degrees and five years and ten years, respectively, or more of experience related to reserves estimation.

The reserves estimators and auditors are required to be members of China Petroleum Society, or CPS, and are required to take 

the professional trainings and examinations provided by CPS and us.

The RMG delegates its daily operation to our Reserves Office, which is led by our Chief Reserve Supervisor. The Reserves Office 

is mainly responsible for supervising reserves estimates and auditing. It reports to the RMG periodically and is independent from 

operating divisions such as the exploration, development and production departments. Our Chief Reserve Supervisor has 29 

years’ experience in oil and gas industry.

The Group’s net proved reserves consist of its percentage interest in reserves, comprised of a 100% interest in its independent 

oil and gas properties and its participating interest in the properties covered under the production sharing contracts in the 

PRC, less (i) an adjustment for the Group’s share of royalties payable by the Group to the PRC government and the Group’s 

participating interest in share oil payable to the PRC government under the production sharing contracts, and less (ii) an 

adjustment for production allocable to foreign partners under the PRC production sharing contracts as reimbursement for 

exploration expenses attributable to the Group’s participating interest, and plus the participating interest in the properties 

covered under the production sharing contracts in oversea countries, less adjustments, if any, of share oil attributable to the 

host government and the domestic market obligation.

Pursuant to SEC Final Rule, the Group uses the average, first-day-of-the-month oil price during the 12-month period before the 

ending date of the period covered by the consolidated financial statements to estimate its proved oil and gas reserves.

The Company determines its net entitlement oil and gas reserves under production sharing contracts using the economic 

interest method.
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(a) Reserve quantity information (continued)
Proved developed and undeveloped reserves:

  Asia

 PRC (excluding PRC) Oceania Africa North America South America Total
       

  Natural  Natural  Natural   Natural  Natural Synthetic   Natural  Natural Synthetic

 Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas oil Bitumen Oil gas Oil gas oil Bitumen

 (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (mmbls) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (mmbls)

Consolidated entities

31 December 2008 1,400 4,216 65 800 24 607 89 – – – – – – – 1,578 5,623 – –

Purchase/(Disposal) of reserves (3) – – – – – – – 2 46 – – – – (1) 46 – –

Discoveries and extensions 139 319 1 1 – 8 – – – – – – – – 140 328 – –

Production (162) (155) (8) (51) (3) (44) (13) – – – – – – – (186) (250) – –

Revisions of prior estimates 121 (214) (4) 333 5 78 15 – – – – – – – 137 197 – –

31 December 2009 1,495 4,166 54 1,083 26 649 91 – 2 46 – – – – 1,668 5,944 – –

Purchase of reserves 22 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 22 – – –

Discoveries and extensions 178 828 3 120 – – 75 – – – – – – – 256 948 – –

Production (224) (226) (8) (82) (2) (46) (23) – – – – – – – (257) (354) – –

Revisions of prior estimates 30 (381) 1 (104) (3) (105) 3 – (1) (3) – – – – 30 (593) – –

31 December 2010 1,501 4,387 50 1,017 21 498 146 – 1 43 – – – – 1,719 5,945 – –

Purchase/(Disposal) of reserves – – 43 (46) – – – – 54 141 87 9 – – 97 95 87 9

Discoveries and extensions 238 310 – 1 – – – – – – – – – – 238 311 – –

Improved Recovery 1 9 – – – – – – – – – – – – 1 9 – –

Production (219) (252) (6) (79) (2) (37) (21) – (1) (9) – – – – (249) (377) – –

Revisions of prior estimates 63 (315) (5) (44) – 7 9 – – (4) – – – – 67 (356) – –

31 December 2011 1,584 4,139 82 849 19 468 134 – 54 171 87 9 – – 1,873 5,627 87 9

Enterprise’s share of equity 

 method investees:

31 December 2009 2 17 – – – – – – – – – – – – 2 17 – –

Purchase/(Disposal) of reserves – – – – – – – – – – – – 202 546 202 546 – –

Discoveries and extensions – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

Production (1) (4) – – – – – – – – – – (6) (33) (7) (37) – –

Revisions of prior estimates – 1 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 1 – –

31 December 2010 1 14 – – – – – – – – – – 196 513 197 527 – –

Purchase/(Disposal) of reserves – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

Discoveries and extensions – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

Improved Recovery – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

Production – (3) – – – – – – – – – – (9) (47) (9) (50) – –

Revisions of prior estimates – (2) – – – – – – – – – – 8 (53) 8 (55) – –

31 December 2011 1 9 – – – – – – – – – – 195 413 196 422 – –

Total consolidated and equity 

 Interests in reserves

31 December 2009 1,497 4,183 54 1,083 26 649 91 – 2 46 – – – – 1,670 5,961 – –

31 December 2010 1,502 4,401 50 1,017 21 498 146 – 1 43 – – 196 513 1,916 6,472 – –

31 December 2011 1,585 4,148 82 849 19 468 134 – 54 171 87 9 195 413 2,069 6,049 87 9
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(a) Reserve quantity information (continued)
Proved developed reserves:

  Asia

 PRC (excluding PRC) Oceania Africa North America South America Total
       

  Natural  Natural  Natural   Natural  Natural Synthetic   Natural  Natural Synthetic

 Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas oil Bitumen Oil gas Oil gas oil Bitumen

 (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (mmbls) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (mmbls)

Consolidated entities

31 December 2009 761 1,516 51 487 11 243 77 – 2 46 – – – – 902 2,292 – –

31 December 2010  848 1,848 45 397 9 173 57 – 1 43 – – – – 960 2,461 – –

31 December 2011 806 1,675 24 264 7 143 46 – 11 56 25 1 – – 894 2,138 25 1

Enterprise’s share of equity

 method investees:

31 December 2009 2 17 – – – – – – – – – – – – 2 17 – –

31 December 2010  1 14 – – – – – – – – – – 108 268 109 282 – –

31 December 2011 1 9 – – – – – – – – – – 105 263 106 272 – –

Proved undeveloped reserves:

  Asia

 PRC (excluding PRC) Oceania Africa North America South America Total
       

  Natural  Natural  Natural   Natural  Natural Synthetic   Natural  Natural Synthetic

 Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas Oil gas oil Bitumen Oil gas Oil gas oil Bitumen

 (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (mmbls) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (bcf) (mmbls) (mmbls)

Consolidated entities

31 December 2009 734 2,650 3 596 15 406 14 – – – – – – – 766 3,652 – –

31 December 2010  653 2,539 5 620 12 325 89 – – – – – – – 759 3,484 – –

31 December 2011 779 2,464 58 585 12 325 87 – 43 115 62 8 – – 979 3,489 62 8

Enterprise’s share of equity

method investees:

31 December 2009 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

31 December 2010  – – – – – – – – – – – – 88 245 88 245 – –

31 December 2011 – – – – – – – – – – – – 90 150 90 150 – –
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(b) Results of operations

 2009

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Net sales to customers 71,337 4,513 1,737 6,194 133 – 83,914

Operating expenses (9,295) (1,941) (455) (773) (26) – (12,490)

Taxes other than income tax (3,647) – (241) – – – (3,888)

Exploration expense (2,504) (219) (444) (67) – – (3,234)

Accretion expense (443) – – (24) – – (467)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

 (including dismantlement) (11,502) (1,123) (257) (3,034) (27) – (15,943)

Special oil gain levy (6,357) – – – – – (6,357)

 37,589 1,230 340 2,296 80 – 41,535

Income tax expense (9,397) (576) (118) (1,280) (40) – (11,411)

Result of operations 28,192 654 222 1,016 40 – 30,124

 2009

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees:

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Net sales to customers 347 – – – – – 347

Operating expenses (118) – – – – – (118)

Taxes other than income tax (12) – – – – – (12)

Exploration expense (25) – – – – – (25)

Accretion expense (3) – – – – – (3)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

 (including dismantlement) (65) – – – – – (65)

Special oil gain levy – – – – – – –

 124 – – – – – 124

Income tax expense (31) – – – – – (31)

Result of operations 93 – – – – – 93

Total result of operations for producing activities 28,285 654 222 1,016 40 – 30,217
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(b) Results of operations (continued)

 2010

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Net sales to customers 125,445 6,233 2,054 12,252 150 – 146,134

Operating expenses (11,735) (2,424) (470) (983) (35) – (15,647)

Taxes other than income tax (6,513) (7) (332) (257) – – (7,109)

Exploration expense (4,450) (565) – (468) – – (5,483)

Accretion expense (719) (2) – (33) – – (754)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 

 (including dismantlement) (19,920) (1,648) (247) (4,919) (22) – (26,756)

Special oil gain levy (17,706) – – – – – (17,706)

 64,402 1,587 1,005 5,592 93 – 72,679

Income tax expense (16,100) (963) (302) (1,384) (47) – (18,796)

Result of operations 48,302 624 703 4,208 46 – 53,883

 2010

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees:

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Net sales to customers 354 – – – – 2,985 3,339

Operating expenses (107) – – – – (557) (664)

Taxes other than income tax (21) – – – – (1,095) (1,116)

Exploration expense (83) – – – – (97) (180)

Accretion expense (3) – – – – (8) (11)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

 (including dismantlement) (54) – – – – (931) (985)

Special oil gain levy – – – – – – –

 86 – – – – 297 383

Income tax expense (13) – – – – (104) (117)

Result of operations 73 – – – – 193 266

Total result of operations for producing activities 48,375 624 703 4,208 46 193 54,149
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(b) Results of operations (continued)

 2011

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Net sales to customers 163,384 7,639 2,097 14,841 1,318 – 189,279

Operating expenses (13,954) (2,460) (490) (1,036) (324) – (18,264)

Taxes other than income tax (9,584) – (418) (299) (31) – (10,332)

Exploration expense (4,204) (211) (1) (183) (621) – (5,220)

Accretion expense (1,124) (2) – (176) (10) – (1,312)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

 (including dismantlement) (23,821) (1,521) (229) (4,388) (562) – (30,521)

Special oil gain levy (31,982) – – – – – (31,982)

 78,715 3,445 959 8,759 (230) – 91,648

Income tax expense (19,679) (1,716) (288) (500) (122) – (22,305)

Result of operations 59,036 1,729 671 8,259 (352) – 69,343

 2011

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees:

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Net sales to customers 352 – – – – 4,941 5,293

Operating expenses (115) – – – – (1,031) (1,146)

Taxes other than income tax (34) – – – – (1,330) (1,364)

Exploration expense (42) – – – – (205) (247)

Accretion expense 16 – – – – (21) (5)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

 (including dismantlement) (39) – – – – (1,470) (1,509)

Special oil gain levy – – – – – – –

 138 – – – – 884 1,022

Income tax expense (21) – – – – (309) (330)

Result of operations 117 – – – – 575 692

Total result of operations for producing activities 59,153 1,729 671 8,259 (352) 575 70,035
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(c) Capitalised costs

 2009

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Proved oil and gas properties 177,357 23,643 2,541 34,674 940 – 239,155

Unproved oil and gas properties 3,204 1,273 – 1,541 386 – 6,404

Accumulated depreciation, depletion

 and amortisation (67,695) (9,614) (453) (2,795) (26) – (80,583)

Net capitalised costs 112,866 15,302 2,088 33,420 1,300 – 164,976

 2009

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Proved oil and gas properties 1,848 – – – – – 1,848

Unproved oil and gas properties – – – – – – –

Accumulated depreciation, depletion

 and amortisation (1,365) – – – – – (1,365)

Net capitalised costs 483 – – – – – 483

 2010

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Proved oil and gas properties 209,915 22,735 2,465 34,672 1,315 – 271,102

Unproved oil and gas properties 2,961 1,457 – 2,478 15,259 – 22,155

Accumulated depreciation, depletion

 and amortisation (88,039) (10,695) (601) (7,518) (47) – (106,900)

Net capitalised costs 124,837 13,497 1,864 29,632 16,527 – 186,357

 2010

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Proved oil and gas properties 1,848 – – – – 20,221 22,069

Unproved oil and gas properties – – – – – 6,355 6,355

Accumulated depreciation, depletion

 and amortisation (1,419) – – – – (923) (2,342)

Net capitalised costs 429 – – – – 25,653 26,082
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(c) Capitalised costs (continued)

 2011

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Proved oil and gas properties 242,432 14,851 2,345 34,811 8,915 – 303,354

Unproved oil and gas properties 4,375 1,271 – 2,446 36,284 – 44,376

Accumulated depreciation, depletion

 and amortisation (111,674) (4,173) (719) (11,433) (602) – (128,601)

Net capitalised costs 135,133 11,949 1,626 25,824 44,597 – 219,129

 2011

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Proved oil and gas properties 1,859 – – – – 18,912 20,771

Unproved oil and gas properties – – – – – 7,714 7,714

Accumulated depreciation, depletion

 and amortisation (1,461) – – – – (2,312) (3,773)

Net capitalised costs 398 – – – – 24,314 24,712

(d) Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration and development

 2009

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Acquisition costs:

 – Proved – – – – 866 – 866

 – Unproved – 41 – – 110 – 151

Exploration costs 5,849 520 444 193 278 – 7,284

Development costs* 32,960 1,369 – 3,601 73 – 38,003

Total costs incurred 38,809 1,930 444 3,794 1,327 – 46,304

 2009

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Acquisition costs:

 – Proved – – – – – – –

 – Unproved – – – – – – –

Exploration costs 25 – – – – – 25

Development costs* 8 – – – – – 8

Total costs incurred 33 – – – – – 33
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(d) Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration and development (continued)

 2010

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Acquisition costs:

 – Proved 3,546 – – – – – 3,546

 – Unproved – 576 – – 14,906 – 15,482

Exploration costs 6,539 217 – 327 320 – 7,403

Development costs* 25,573 994 – 2,213 414 – 29,194

Total costs incurred 35,658 1,787 – 2,540 15,640 – 55,625

 2010

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Acquisition costs:

 – Proved – – – – – 20,063 20,063

 – Unproved – – – – – 6,335 6,335

Exploration costs 83 – – – – 118 201

Development costs* – – – – – 849 849

Total costs incurred 83 – – – – 27,365 27,448

 2011

 Consolidated entities

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Acquisition costs:

 – Proved – – – – 894 – 894

 – Unproved – 97 – – 24,347 – 24,444

Exploration costs 8,011 805 – 274 273 – 9,363

Development costs* 30,379 1,511 – 1,868 5,258 – 39,016

Total costs incurred 38,390 2,413 – 2,142 30,772 – 73,717

 2011

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia (excluding   North South

 PRC  PRC) Oceania Africa America America Total

Acquisition costs:

 – Proved – – – – – – –

 – Unproved – – – – – – –

Exploration costs 42 – – – – 328 370

Development costs* 11 – – – – 1,253 1,264

Total costs incurred 53 – – – – 1,581 1,634

* The development costs include estimated future dismantlement costs of dismantling offshore oil platforms and gas properties.
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(e) Standardised measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes therein

Pursuant to FASB Topic 932, the average of first-day-of-the-month oil price during the 12-month period before the year end, 

were used to estimate annual future production form proved reserves to determine future cash inflows.

Future development costs are estimated based upon constant price assumptions and the assumption of the continuation of 

existing economic, operating and regulatory conditions. Future income taxes are calculated by applying the year-end statutory 

rate to estimate future pre-tax cash flows after provision for the tax cost of the oil and natural gas properties based upon existing 

laws and regulations. The discount was computed by the application of a 10% discount factor to the estimated future net cash 

flows.

Management believes that this information does not represent the fair market value of the oil and natural gas reserves or the 

present value of estimated cash flows since no economic value is attributed to potential reserves, the use of a 10% discount 

rate is arbitrary, and prices change constantly.

Present value of estimated future net cash flows:

 2009

 Consolidated entities

  Asia

  (excluding    North South

 Notes PRC PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Future cash inflows (1) 701,602 45,538 24,519 36,436 1,166 – 809,261

Future production costs  (207,539) (18,634) (9,621) (6,342) (348) – (242,484)

Future development costs (2) (107,068) (20,036) (4,269) (5,420) (213) – (137,006)

Future income taxes  (74,086) (1,480) (2,350) (4,339) – – (82,255)

Future net cash flows (3) 312,909 5,388 8,279 20,335 605 – 347,516

10% discount factor  (112,143) (1,854) (3,826) (3,250) (193) – (121,266)

Standardised measure of

 discounted future net cash flows  200,766 3,534 4,453 17,085 412 – 226,250

 2009

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia

  (excluding    North South

 Notes PRC PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Future cash inflows (1) 1,292 – – – – – 1,292

Future production costs  (656) – – – – – (656)

Future development costs (2) (156) – – – – – (156)

Future income taxes  (43) – – – – – (43)

Future net cash flows (3) 437 – – – – – 437

10% discount factor  (24) – – – – – (24)

Standardised measure of

 discounted future net cash flows  413 – – – – – 413

Total standardised measure of 

 discounted future net cash flow  201,179 3,534 4,453 17,085 412 – 226,663
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(e) Standardised measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes therein (continued)

Present value of estimated future net cash flows:

 2010

 Consolidated entities

  Asia

  (excluding    North South

 Notes PRC PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Future cash inflows (1) 934,724 51,455 21,427 75,599 1,074 – 1,084,279

Future production costs  (315,975) (19,399) (6,900) (25,577) (368) – (368,219)

Future development costs (2) (146,787) (14,609) (3,184) (14,084) (82) – (178,746)

Future income taxes  (91,552) (4,880) (2,499) (3,168) – – (102,099)

Future net cash flows (3) 380,410 12,567 8,844 32,770 624 – 435,215

10% discount factor  (131,876) (4,818) (3,438) (11,787) (149) – (152,068)

Standardised measure of

 discounted future net cash flows  248,534 7,749 5,406 20,983 475 – 283,147

 2010

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia

  (excluding    North South

 Notes PRC PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Future cash inflows (1) 1,339 – – – – 54,034 55,373

Future production costs  (545) – – – – (24,224) (24,769)

Future development costs (2) (167) – – – – (671) (838)

Future income taxes  (82) – – – – (7,229) (7,311)

Future net cash flows (3) 545 – – – – 21,910 22,455

10% discount factor  (38) – – – – (11,796) (11,834)

Standardised measure of

 discounted future net cash flows  507 – – – – 10,114 10,621

Total standardised measure of 

 discounted future net cash flow  249,041 7,749 5,406 20,983 475 10,114 293,768

 2011

 Consolidated entities

  Asia

  (excluding    North South

 Notes PRC PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Future cash inflows (1) 1,198,429 88,650 21,924 92,924 84,411 – 1,486,338

Future production costs  (448,720) (27,984) (10,976) (27,224) (34,567) – (549,471)

Future development costs (2) (194,869) (36,450) (2,980) (11,721) (13,214) – (259,234)

Future income taxes  (111,828) (8,651) (1,607) (24,715) (11,769) – (158,570)

Future net cash flows (3) 443,012 15,565 6,361 29,264 24,861 – 519,063

10% discount factor  (157,334) (7,182) (1,784) (10,055) (13,940) – (190,295)

Standardised measure of

 discounted future net cash flows  285,678 8,383 4,577 19,209 10,921 – 328,768
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(e) Standardised measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes therein (continued)

 2011

 Enterprise’s share of equity method investees

  Asia

  (excluding    North South

 Notes PRC PRC) Oceania Africa  America  America Total

Future cash inflows (1) 1,088 – – – – 61,698 62,786

Future production costs  (486) – – – – (29,443) (29,929)

Future development costs (2) (226) – – – – (916) (1,142)

Future income taxes  (32) – – – – (8,138) (8,170)

Future net cash flows (3) 344 – – – – 23,201 23,545

10% discount factor  7 – – – – (13,087) (13,080)

Standardised measure of

 discounted future net cash flows  351 – – – – 10,114 10,465

Total standardised measure of 

 discounted future net cash flow  286,029 8,383 4,577 19,209 10,921 10,114 339,233

(1) Future cash flows consist of the Group’s 100% interest in the independent oil and gas properties and the Group’s participating interest in the properties 

under production sharing contracts in the PRC less (i) an adjustment for the royalties payable to the PRC government and share oil payable to the PRC 

government under production sharing contracts and (ii) an adjustment for production allocable to foreign partners under the PRC production sharing contracts 

for exploration costs attributable to the Group’s participating interest, and plus the participating interest in the properties covered under the production sharing 

contracts in oversea countries, less adjustments, if any, of share oil attributable to the host government and the domestic market obligation.

(2) Future development costs include the estimated costs of drilling future development wells and building the production platforms.

(3) Future net cash flows have been prepared taking into consideration estimated future dismantlement costs of dismantling offshore oil platforms and gas 

properties.

Changes in the standardised measure of discounted future net cash flows:

2009

   Consolidated

   and equity

   share of

  Equity share of equity

 Consolidated equity method method

 Total investee investee

Standardised measure, beginning of year 111,276 697 111,973

Sales of production, net of royalties and production costs (67,777) (215) (67,992)

Net change in prices, net of royalties and production costs 142,949 (131) 142,818

Extensions discoveries and improved recovery, 

 net of related future costs 28,004 – 28,004

Change in estimated future development costs (39,191) (59) (39,250)

Development costs incurred during the year 34,951 54 35,005

Revisions in quantity estimates 20,810 (67) 20,743

Accretion of discount 13,199 82 13,281

Net change in income taxes (32,596) 79 (32,517)

Purchase of properties 268 – 268

Changes in timing and other 14,357 (27) 14,330

Standardised measure, end of year 226,250 413 226,663
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(e) Standardised measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes therein (continued)

2010

   Consolidated

   and equity

   share of

  Equity share of equity

 Consolidated equity method method

 Total investee investee

Standardised measure, beginning of year 226,250 413 226,663

Sales of production, net of royalties and production costs (123,359) (1,585) (124,944)

Net change in prices, net of royalties and production costs 115,551 410 115,961

Extensions discoveries and improved recovery, 

 net of related future costs 75,809 – 75,809

Change in estimated future development costs (45,414) (977) (46,391)

Development costs incurred during the year 25,007 830 25,837

Revisions in quantity estimates (8,599) 66 (8,533)

Accretion of discount 26,512 657 27,169

Net change in income taxes (14,572) (3,375) (17,947)

Purchase of properties 3,963 14,319 18,282

Changes in timing and other 1,999 (137) 1,862

Standardised measure, end of year 283,147 10,621 293,768

2011

   Consolidated

   and equity

   share of

  Equity share of equity

 Consolidated equity method method

 Total investee investee

Standardised measure, beginning of year 283,147 10,621 293,768

Sales of production, net of royalties and production costs (160,683) (2,817) (163,500)

Net change in prices, net of royalties and production costs 194,704 2,979 197,683

Extensions discoveries and improved recovery, 

 net of related future costs 61,990 – 61,990

Change in estimated future development costs (75,465) (711) (76,176)

Development costs incurred during the year 30,272 1,185 31,457

Revisions in quantity estimates 3,405 (115) 3,290

Accretion of discount 33,254 1,335 34,589

Net change in income taxes (36,191) (332) (36,523)

Purchase of properties 19,310 – 19,310

Changes in timing and other (24,974) (1,680) (26,654)

Standardised measure, end of year 328,769 10,465 339,234
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting 

(the “AGM”) of the shareholders of CNOOC Limited (the 

“Company”) will be held on 25 May 2012, at 4:00 p.m. at 

Conrad Hong Kong, Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong, 

for the following purposes:

A. As ordinary business, to consider and, if thought fit, 

pass with or without amendments, the following ordinary 

resolutions:

1. To receive and consider the audited Statement of 

Accounts together with the Report of the Directors 

and Independent Auditors’ Report thereon for the 

year ended 31 December 2011.

2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 

December 2011.

3. To re-elect Mr. Wu Guangqi as an executive 

director of the Company;

Wu Guangqi

Born in 1957, Mr. Wu is a geologist, professor-level 

senior economist and Certified Senior Enterprise 

Risk Manager and graduated with a B.S. degree 

from the Ocean University of China, majoring in 

Marine Geology. He also holds a master degree in 

Management from China University of Petroleum 

and a doctor degree in Management from 

Huazhong University of Science and Technology. 

Mr. Wu joined CNOOC in 1982. From 1994 to 

2001, he served as the Deputy General Manager 

of CNOOC Oil Technical Services Company, 

a subsidiary of CNOOC, the Director of the 

Administration Department of CNOOC and the 

Director of the Ideology Affairs Department of 

CNOOC successively. Mr. Wu was appointed as 

an Assistant President of CNOOC in 2003, and 

has been the Vice President of CNOOC since 

2004. Mr. Wu also served as an Independent 

Non-executive Director of China Yangtze Power 

Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock 

Exchange, from May 2003 to July 2010, and the 

Compliance Officer of the Company since 1 June 

2005. Mr. Wu also serves as a Director of CNOOC 

China Limited, CNOOC International Limited and 

CNOOC Deepwater Development Limited, all 

being the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wu 

was appointed as an Executive Director of the 

Company with effect from 1 June 2005.

Save as aforesaid, Mr. Wu does not have any 

relationship with any other Director, senior 

management ,  substant ia l  shareho lder  or 

controlling shareholder of the Company.

Apart from holding 10,808,000 share options in 

the Company, Mr. Wu has no other interest in the 

Company’s securities within the meaning of Part 

XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Under the service agreement between the 

Company and Mr. Wu, Mr. Wu’s emoluments 

comprise an annual director’s fee of HK$950,000 

(before deduction of Hong Kong tax) and he is an 

eligible person under the Company’s share option 

schemes. Mr. Wu is entitled to an annual salary 

plus performance-based bonuses and since 2011 

he has waived his annual salary and bonuses as an 

executive director of the Company. The emolument 

of Mr. Wu was determined by the Remuneration 

Committee with reference to perception of industry 

standards and prevailing market conditions. The 

Remuneration Committee will review the level 

of directors’ remuneration from time to time 

and make recommendation to the Board for 

adjustments if necessary. Mr. Wu’s appointment 

continued for a period of twelve months and would 

be renewed annually as determined by the Board 

or the shareholders of the Company, subject to 

three months’ notice of termination by either party. 

Mr. Wu is subject to the provisions of his service 

agreement and the retirement provisions in the 

Articles of the Company.

There is no other information required to be 

disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of 

Rule 13.51(2)(h) — 13.51(2)(v) of the Listing Rules, 

nor are there any other matters to be brought to the 

attention of the Shareholders.

4. To re-elect Mr. Wu Zhengfang as a non-executive 

director of the Company;

Wu Zhenfang

Born in 1952, Mr. Wu is a professor-level senior 

engineer and graduated with a bachelor degree 

from Dalian University of Technology, majoring in 

Offshore Petroleum Engineering and Construction. 

He later received an EMBA degree from Shanghai 

Jiao Tong University. Mr. Wu joined the petroleum 

industry in 1971. He joined CNOOC in 1980 when 

it was still in the pre-establishment stage. From 

1993 to 2000, he was Deputy General Manager of 

CNOOC Nanhai West Corporation, a subsidiary of 

CNOOC and the President of CNOOC Chemical 

Limited, a subsidiary of CNOOC. He was also 

the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fudao 

Fertilizer Limited and CNOOC Chemical Limited, 

both being subsidiaries of CNOOC, from 2001 

to 2003 and from 2003 to 2005 respectively. 

From 2003 to 2004, Mr. Wu was an Assistant 

President of CNOOC and then was appointed as 

Vice President of CNOOC in August 2004. Mr. 

Wu also served as the Chairman and President of 

CNOOC Gas and Power Group, and the General 

Manager of CNOOC Oil & Petrochemicals Co., 

Ltd., both being subsidiaries of CNOOC, as well 

as the Chairman of a number of subsidiaries of 

CNOOC. Mr. Wu also serves as Chairman of 

CNOOC Oil & Petrochemicals Co., Ltd., CNOOC 

and Shell Petrochemical Co. Ltd and a number of 

subsidiaries of CNOOC. Mr. Wu was appointed as 

an Executive Director of the Company with effect 

from 31 August 2005 and was re-designated from 

Executive Director to Non-executive Director with 

effect from 1 September 2006.
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Save as aforesaid, Mr. Wu does not have any 

relationship with any other Director, senior 

management ,  substant ia l  shareho lder  or 

controlling shareholder of the Company.

Apart from holding 9,884,000 share options in 

the Company, Mr. Wu has no other interest in the 

Company’s securities within the meaning of Part 

XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Under the service agreement between the 

Company and Mr. Wu, Mr. Wu’s emoluments 

comprise an annual director’s fee of HK$950,000 

(before deduction of Hong Kong tax) and he is 

an eligible person under the Company’s share 

option schemes. The emolument of Mr. Wu 

was determined by the Board with reference to 

perception of industry standards and prevailing 

market conditions. The Remuneration Committee 

will review the level of directors’ remuneration 

from time to time and make recommendation 

to the Board for adjustments if necessary. Mr. 

Wu’s appointment continued for a period of 

twelve months and would be renewed annually 

as determined by the Board or the shareholders 

of the Company, subject to three months’ notice 

of termination by either party. Mr. Wu is subject 

to the provisions of his service agreement and 

the retirement provisions in the Articles of the 

Company.

There is no other information required to be 

disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of 

Rule 13.51(2)(h) — 13.51(2)(v) of the Listing Rules, 

nor are there any other matters to be brought to the 

attention of the Shareholders.

5. To re-elect Mr. Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius as an 

independent non-executive director of the 

Company;

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

Born in 1948, Mr. Tse is a fellow of The Institute 

of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, 

and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Tse is a past 

president and the current member of the Audit 

Committee of the HKICPA. He joined KPMG 

in 1976, became a partner in 1984 and retired 

in March 2003. Mr. Tse was a non-executive 

Chairman of KPMG’s operations in the PRC and a 

member of the KPMG China advisory board from 

1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent 

non-execut ive d i rector  of  China Te lecom 

Corporation Limited, Wing Hang Bank Limited, 

Linmark Group Limited, SJM Holdings Limited and 

Sinofert Holdings Limited, companies listed on The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was 

an independent non-executive director of China 

Construction Bank Corporation, which is listed 

on the HKSE Main Board from 2004 to 2010. Mr. 

Tse is also a member of the International Advisory 

Council of the People’s Municipal Government of 

Wuhan. Mr. Tse was appointed as an Independent 

Non-executive Director of the Company with effect 

from 8 June 2005.

Mr. Tse does not have any relationship with any 

other Director, senior management, substantial 

shareholder or controlling shareholder of the 

Company.

Mr. Tse has no interest in the Company’s securities 

within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance.

There is no service agreement between the 

Company and Mr. Tse for 2011. Mr. Tse’s 

emoluments comprise an annual director’s fee 

of HK$1,100,000 (before deduction of Hong 

Kong tax) and he is an eligible person under the 

Company’s share option schemes. The emolument 

of Mr. Tse was determined by the Board with 

reference to perception of industry standards and 

prevailing market conditions. The Remuneration 

Committee will review the level of directors’ 

remunerat ion from t ime to t ime and make 

recommendation to the Board for adjustments 

if necessary. Mr. Tse is subject to the retirement 

provisions in the Articles of the Company.

There is no other information required to be 

disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of 

Rule 13.51(2)(h) — 13.51(2)(v) of the Listing Rules, 

nor are there any other matters to be brought to the 

attention of the Shareholders.

6. To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the 

remuneration of each of the Directors.

7. To re-appoint the Company’s independent 

Auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to 

fix their remuneration.

B. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass 

with or without amendments, the following resolutions as 

ordinary resolutions:

1. “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise 

by the Directors during the Relevant Period 

(as hereinafter defined) of all the powers 

of the Company to repurchase shares in 

the capital of the Company on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) or on any other exchange on 

which the shares of the Company may be 

listed and recognized by the Securities 

and Futures Commission of Hong Kong 

and the Stock Exchange for this purpose 

(“Recognized Stock Exchange”), subject to 

and in accordance with all applicable laws, 

rules and regulations and the requirements 

of The Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), or of any 

other Recognized Stock Exchange and the 

articles of association (the “Articles”) of the 

Company, be and is hereby generally and 

unconditionally approved;
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(b) the aggregate nominal amount of shares 

of the Company which the Company is 

authorised to repurchase pursuant to the 

approval in paragraph (a) above shall not 

exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal 

amount of the share capital of the Company 

in issue as at the date of the passing of this 

resolution; and

(c) for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the 

date of the passing of this resolution until 

whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual 

general meeting of the Company 

following the passing of this resolution; 

and 

(ii) the date on which the authority given 

under this resolution is revoked or 

varied by an ordinary resolution of 

the shareholders of the Company in 

general meeting.”

2. “THAT:

(a) subject to the following provisions of this 

resolution, the exercise by the Directors 

during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter 

defined) of all the powers of the Company 

to issue, allot and deal with additional 

shares in the capital of the Company and 

to make or grant offers, agreements and 

options (including bonds, notes, warrants, 

debentures and securities convertible into 

shares of the Company) which would or 

might require the exercise of such powers be 

and is hereby generally and unconditionally 

approved;

(b) the approval  in paragraph (a)  above 

shall authorise the Directors during the 

Relevant Period to make or grant offers, 

agreements and options (including bonds, 

notes, warrants, debentures and securities 

convertible into shares of the Company) 

which would or might require the exercise of 

such powers after the end of the Relevant 

Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share 

capital of the Company allotted or agreed 

conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted 

(whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) 

by the Directors pursuant to the approval 

in paragraph (a) above, otherwise than 

pursuant to:

(i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(ii) an issue of  shares pursuant to 

any specific authority granted by 

shareholders of the Company in 

general meeting, including upon the 

exercise of rights of subscription or 

conversion under the terms of any 

warrants issued by the Company 

or any bonds, notes, debentures or 

securities convertible into shares of 

the Company;

(iii) an issue of shares pursuant to the 

exercise of any option granted under 

any share option scheme or similar 

arrangement for the t ime being 

adopted by the Company and/or any 

of its subsidiaries;

(iv) a n y  s c r i p  d i v i d e n d  o r  s i m i l a r 

arrangement providing for the allotment 

of shares in lieu of the whole or part of 

a dividend on shares of the Company 

in accordance with the Articles of the 

Company; or

(v) any adjustment, after the date of 

grant or issue of any options, rights 

to subscribe or other securit ies 

referred to above, in the price at 

which shares in the Company shall 

be subscribed, and/or in the number 

of shares in the Company which shall 

be subscribed, on exercise of relevant 

rights under such options, warrants 

or other securities, such adjustment 

being made in accordance with, or as 

contemplated by, the terms of such 

options, rights to subscribe or other 

securities,

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate 

nominal amount of the share capital of the 

Company in issue as at the date of the 

passing of this resolution; and

(d) for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from 

the date of passing of this resolution until 

whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual 

general meeting of the Company 

following the passing of this resolution; 

and

(ii) the date on which the authority given 

under this resolution is revoked or 

varied by an ordinary resolution of 

the shareholders of the Company in 

general meeting.
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“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares open 

for a period fixed by the Directors made to 

holders of shares whose names appear on 

the register of members of the Company on 

a fixed record date in proportion to their then 

holdings of such shares (subject to such 

exclusions or other arrangements as the 

Directors may deem necessary or expedient 

in relation to fractional entitlements or having 

regard to any restrictions or obligations 

under the laws of, or the requirements of, 

any recognized regulatory body or any stock 

exchange in or in any territory outside Hong 

Kong).”

3. “THAT subject to the passing of the resolutions 

numbered B1 and B2 as set out in the notice 

convening this meeting, the general mandate 

granted to the Board to issue, allot and deal with 

additional shares of the Company pursuant to 

resolution numbered B2 set out in this notice be 

and is hereby extended by the addition to it of 

an amount representing the aggregate nominal 

amount of the shares in the capital of the Company 

which are repurchased by the Company pursuant 

to and since the granting to the Company of 

the general mandate to repurchase shares in 

accordance with resolution numbered B1 set out 

in this notice, provided that such extended amount 

shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal 

amount of the share capital of the Company 

in issue as at the date of the passing of this 

resolution.”

By Order of the Board

CNOOC Limited

Zhong Hua

Joint Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 12 April 2012

Registered office:

65th Floor,

Bank of China Tower,

1 Garden Road,

Hong Kong.

Notes:

1. Every member entitled to attend and vote at the above 

meeting (or at any adjournment thereof) is entitled to appoint 

one or more proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy 

need not be a shareholder of the Company.

2. In order to be valid, the form of proxy duly completed and 

signed in accordance with the instructions printed thereon, 

together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) 

under which it is signed, or a copy of such authority notarially 

certified, must be completed and returned to the Company’s 

registered office at 65th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden 

Road, Hong Kong not less than 36 hours before the time 

appointed for the holding of the meeting or any adjournment 

thereof (as the case may be).

3. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude 

a shareholder from attending and voting at the meeting or 

any adjournment thereof if the shareholder so desires and, in 

such event, the relevant form of proxy shall be deemed to be 

revoked.

4. Where there are joint registered holders of any shares, any 

one of such persons may vote at the above meeting (or at any 

adjournment of it), either personally or by proxy, in respect 

of such shares as if he/she were solely entitled thereto but 

the vote of the senior holder who tenders a vote, whether in 

person or by proxy, will be accepted to the exclusion of the 

vote(s) of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority 

shall be determined by the order in which the names stand 

in the register of members of the Company in respect of the 

relevant joint holding.

5. With respect to resolution numbered B1, approval is 

being sought from shareholders for a general mandate to 

repurchase shares to be given to the Board. The Board wish 

to state that they have no immediate plans to repurchase any 

existing shares. The Explanatory Statement containing the 

information necessary to enable the shareholders to make 

an informed decision on whether to vote for or against the 

resolution to approve the repurchase by the Company of its 

own shares, as required by the Listing Rules, is set out in a 

separate letter from the Company.

6. With respect to resolution numbered B2, approval is being 

sought from shareholders for a general mandate to issue, allot 

and deal with shares to be given to the Board. The Board wish 

to state that they have no immediate plans to issue or allot 

any new shares of the Company. Approval is being sought 

from the shareholders as a general mandate for the purpose 

of Section 57B of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong) and the Listing Rules.

7. With respect to resolution numbered B3, approval is being 

sought from shareholders for an extension of the general 

mandate granted to the Board to issue and allot shares 

by adding to it the number of shares purchased under the 

authority granted pursuant to resolution numbered B1.

8. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, voting for all the 

resolutions set out in the notice of the annual general meeting 

will be taken by poll, except where the chairman, in good 

faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a 

procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show 

of hands.

9. The register of members of the Company will be closed from 

22 May 2012 (Tuesday) to 25 May 2012 (Friday) (both days 

inclusive), during which no transfer of shares in the Company 

will be registered. In order to qualify for attending the meeting, 

members are reminded to ensure that all instrument of transfer 

of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) 

must be lodged with the Company’s registrar, Hong Kong 

Registrars Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell 

Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong 

for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 21 May 2012 

(Monday).

After AGM, if the resolution of final dividend was passed, 

the register of members of the Company will be closed 

from 1 June 2012 (Friday) to 6 June 2012 (Wednesday) 

(both days inclusive), during which no transfer of shares in 

the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the 

proposed final dividends, members are reminded to ensure 

that all instrument of transfer of shares accompanied by 

the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the 

Company’s registrar, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops 

1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. 

on 31 May 2012 (Thursday).
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API
The America Petroleum Institute’s scale for specifi c gravity 
for liquid hydrocarbons, measured in degrees.

Wildcat
A well drilled on any rock formation for the purpose of 
searching for petroleum accumulations in an area or 
rock formation that has no known reserves or previous 
discoveries

Appraisal well
An exploratory well drilled for the purpose of evaluating the 
commerciality of a geological trap in which petroleum has 
been discovered.

Upstream business
Oil and gas exploration, development, production and sales

FPSO
Floating, Production, Storage and Offl oading vessel

LNG
Liquefi ed Natural Gas

Proved Reserves
Estimates of oil, gas and NGL quantities thought to be 
recoverable from known reservoirs under existing economic 
and operating conditions.

PSC
Production sharing contract

Reserve replacement ratio
For a given year, total additions to proved reserves divided 
by production during the year

VOLUME ACRONYMS

Bbl
Barrel

Bcf
Billion cubic feet

BOE
Barrels-of-oil-equivalent

Mbbls
Thousand barrels

Mboe
Thousand barrels of equivalent

Mcf
Thousand cubic feet

Mmboe
Million barrels-of-oil equivalent

Mmbbls
Million barrels

Mmcf
Million cubic feet

Note: In calculating barrels-of-oil equivalent, or BOE, for reserves, we 

have assumed that 6,000 cubic feet of natural gas equals one 

BOE, with the exception of natural gas from South America and 

Oceania which we have assumed that 5,800 cubic feet and 

5,102 cubic feet, respectively, of natural gas equals one BOE. For 

production, we have used actual thermal unit of each oil and gas 

fi eld for such conversion purpose.
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Board of Directors:

Executive Directors

Li Fanrong CEO & President

Wu Guangqi Compliance Offi cer

Non-executive Directors

Wang Yilin Chairman

Yang Hua Vice Chairman

Zhou Shouwei

Wu Zhenfang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chiu Sung Hong

Lawrence J. Lau

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

Wang Tao

Audit Committee

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius (Chairman and Financial Expert)

Chiu Sung Hong

Lawrence J. Lau

Nomination Committee

Wang Yilin (Chairman)

Lawrence J. Lau

Wang Tao

Remuneration Committee

Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman)

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

Wu Zhenfang

Other Members of the Senior Management

Yuan Guangyu Executive Vice President

Zhu Weilin Executive Vice President

Zhao Liguo General Counsel

Chen Bi Executive Vice President

Chen Wei Senior Vice President

Zhang Guohua Senior Vice President

Zhong Hua Chief Financial Offi cer

Fang Zhi Vice President

Joint Company Secretary

Zhong Hua

Tsue Sik Yu, May
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Principal Bankers:

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Citi Bank, N.A.

Bank of China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

China CITIC Bank

China Construction Bank

Hong Kong Share Registrar:

Hong Kong Registrars Limited
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Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

ADS Depositary:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
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Tel: (852) 22132502

Fax: (852) 25259322
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